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This Annual Report is published in German

and English. The original is in German

language. In case of doubt or conflict, the

German language version will prevail.
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Key Figures

* Adapted to share split 1:3

based	on	IFRS	 	 	 2005	 2004

 

Sales (€ ‘000)	 	 1,547,973	 1,250,193	

	 Germany	(%)	 	 45.3	 42.2

	 EU	(without	Germany)	(%)	 32.7	 32.2

	 Non	EU	countries	(%)	 22.0	 25.6

	 	

	 Wire	&	Cable	(%)	 	 43.2	 45.4

	 Wiring	Systems	(%)	 56.8	 54.6

 

Earnings

	 EBITDA	(€	‘000)	 	 159,144	 107,267

	 EBIT	(€	‘000)	 	 102,829	 56,750

	 Income	(from	continuing	operations)	before	taxes	(€	‘000)		 88,830	 41,334	 	 	

	 Net	income	(€	‘000)	 56,093	 27,674	

Cash f low	

	 Depreciation	and	amortization	(€	‘000)	 56,737	 58,302	

	 Cash	provided	by	operating	activities	(€	‘000)	 111,071	 83,923	 	 	

	 Capital	expenditure	(€	‘000)	 87,016	 95,738

 

Balance Sheet

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment,	 				

	 				Intangible	assets	(€	‘000)	 396,495	 361,868	

	 Net	debt	(€	‘000)	 	 167,489	 160,566	

	 Equity	(€	‘000)	 	 427,152	 364,903	

	 Equity	ratio	in	%		 	 40.6	 41.6

 

Employees 	 	

	 Personnel	expenses	(%	of	sales)	 21.3	 23.2

	 Employees	(as	per	12/31)	 32,638	 29,957

	 employed	abroad	(%)	 88.7	 89.9	

 

Share 	 	 	

	 Market	capitalization	12/31	(€	million)	 799.8	 495.0	

	 Group	net	income	per	share	(€)		 1.89	 1.12	

	 Dividend	per	share	(€)	 0.57	 0.42	 	

		

* 

* 



	

Key	Figures

* Adapted to share split 1:3

	 based	on	US	GAAP			 2003	 2002	 2001

	

	 Sales	(€	‘000)	 1,079,856	 1,102,741	 1,096,801	 	 	

	 	 Germany	(%)	 46.8	 48.1	 52.3	

	 	 EU	(without	Germany)	(%)	 29.2	 22.3	 21.3	

	 	 Non	EU	countries	(%)	 24.0	 29.6	 26.4	

	 	

	 	 Wire	&	Cable	(%)	 48.4	 46.7	 48.8	

	 	 Wiring	Systems	(%)	 51.6	 53.3	 51.2	

	 	 	 	 	 	

	 Earnings	

	 	 EBITDA	(€	‘000)	 101,113	 121,760	 99,409	 	

	 	 EBIT	(€	‘000)	 49,626	 71,561	 47,043	

	 	 Income	(from	continuing	operations)	before	taxes	(€	‘000)	 	36,961	 58,983	 32,416

	 	 Net	income	(€	‘000)	 22,099	 47,439	 18,739

	

	 Cash	f low	

	 	 Depreciation	and	amortization	(€	‘000)	 51,487	 50,199	 52,366

	 	 Cash	provided	by	operating	activities	(€	‘000)	 35,927	 73,453	 106,819

	 	 Capital	expenditure	(€	‘000)	 98,151	 78,736	 119,323

	 Balance	Sheet	 	

	 	 Property,	plant	and	equipment,	 				

	 		 			Intangible	assets	(€	‘000)	 336,546	 330,265	 336,915

	 	 Net	debt	(€	‘000)	 271,035	 212,232	 199,984	 	 	 	

	 	 Stockholders‘	equity	(€	‘000)	 225,908	 235,555	 216,009	 	 	 	

	 	 Stockholders‘	equity	ratio	in	%	 31.1	 33.7	 30.5

	 Employees	

	 	 Personnel	expenses	(%	of	sales)	 24.4	 23.1	 23.0

	 	 Employees	(as	per	12/31)	 21,392	 18,478	 17,589

	 	 employed	abroad	(%)	 86.4	 84.6	 83.6

	 Share	

	 	 Market	capitalization	12/31	(€	million)	 323.4	 202.6	 163.4

	 	 Group	net	income	per	share	(€)	 	1.12	 2.40	 0.95

	 	 Dividend	per	share	(€)	 0.38	 0.38	 0.36	

	 	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

	 	 	 	

* 

* 
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LEONI acquires the fiber technology arm 

of Prinz Optics GmbH, based in Strom-

berg, and thereby expands its range of 

special fiber optic products and optical 

fibers made of glass, polymer and quartz.

LEONI Special Cables in Friesoythe gains 

a major order from Siemens Automa-

tion & Drives to supply assembled cable 

systems for networking components in 

motion control engineering.

A study by the Corporate Research 

Foundation confirms LEONI as one of 

the top employers in Germany in 2005.

Porsche commends LEONI for top 

performance with its “Supplier Award 

2004” – for the fourth time already.

General Motors praises LEONI for excel-

lent performance in terms of quality, 

service, technology and pricing with its 

“Supplier of the Year Award 2004”.

The annual general meeting of LEONI 

AG decides to reclassify LEONI’s share 

capital into 29,700,000 no-par-value 

shares. This involves a 3 for 1 share 

split carried out on 1 June 2005.

Highlights of 2005
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LEONI establishes the “advintec” joint ven-

ture company together with Cimlec Industrie 

S.A. of Les Mureaux, France, in which the 

partners have equal 50 percent stakes. In 

addition to single components, the joint ven-

ture company provides complete robot sys-

tems that are configured ready for operation, 

in particular for the automotive industry.

LEONI acquires all the shares in the Stolberg-based 

data and special cable manufacturer KERPEN and 

thereby becomes Germany’s leading provider of 

cables and cabling systems for data transmission.

LEONI & STUDER Transportation Systems, a joint 

venture with the Swiss cable manufacturer Studer, 

commences operations. The Company, in which 

LEONI holds a 70 percent share, covers all of the 

activities of the joint venture partners in the rolling 

stock engineering sector.

LEONI receives the BIRD Award of the Börse 

Online investor magazine for best investor 

relations work in Germany.

LEONI acquires neumatic Elektronik + 

Kabeltechnik of Ulm, a business specialising 

in tailor-made cable harnesses and dedi-

cated electronic solutions for commercial 

and special vehicles as well as cranes.
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Ernst Thoma, Nuremberg

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dr Werner Rupp, Burgthann

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Gerhard Stechhammer, Gunzenhausen*

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Gabriele Bauer, Prichsenstadt *

Frank Becker, Schwanstetten*

Dr Jürgen Behrend, Lippstadt

Paula Englhard, Ingolstadt *

Gerhard Heßlinger, Roth *

Hans-Werner Jacob, Vaterstetten

Dr Werner Marnette, Hamburg

Hans Peuschel, Nuremberg *

Horst Schmidmer, Nuremberg

*  Employee representatives
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Dr-Ing. Klaus Probst, Heroldsberg

Chairman of the Management Board

in charge of the Wire & Cable Division

Dieter Bellé, Roth

in charge of Finance, Controlling

and Labour Affairs

Uwe H. Lamann, Sinzing

in charge of the Wiring Systems Division

Me mb e r s of  the Manage me nt B o ar d
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To our Shareholders

The 2005 financial year was the most successful one in the 

long history of LEONI Group. Consolidated sales of € 1.55 

billion and net income of € 56.1 million represent all-time 

highs. In so doing, LEONI for the first time also succeeded 

in meeting its long-standing profitability targets of a 

seven percent margin before interest and taxes (EBIT) and 

an 18 percent return on capital employed (ROCE). This 

gratifying performance was based on the major projects 

involving BMW, DaimlerChrysler, General Motors and 

Land Rover in the Wiring Systems Division now running 

near their planned peak output and also on successful 

acquisition and integration activity in the Wire & Cable 

Division. 

The year 2005 thus marks the conclusion of an excep-

tionally successful decade for LEONI. A look over the past 

ten years shows LEONI having managed in this period to 

generate average sales growth of about 20 percent per 

year as well annual growth in net income of about 28 

percent. A company generating sales of about € 300 mil-

lion at 22 facilities in 1996 has, by expanding its existing 

business and acquiring other businesses, transformed into 

a group of companies with a total of about 60 produc-

tions facilities in 23 countries. LEONI’s two business divi-

sions thus now assume leading positions in the European 

market.

The Wiring Systems Division has over the past ten years 

progressed from being a pure cable harness manufacturer 

to being a potent development and systems partner to 

the automotive industry. This was achieved mainly by 

expanding existing business, and also by gaining ad-

ditional customers and supplying more model platforms. 

Acquisitions did not play any part in this, with only the 

takeover of the cable harness business of the UK manufac-

turer Lucas Rist in 1999 having had any noticeable effect. 

It enabled LEONI’s entry into the UK market and laid the 

foundation for today’s highly successful collaboration 

with BMW Group. In cooperation with technical colleges 

and universities, LEONI has consistently enhanced its de-

velopment expertise and has thereby repeatedly gained 

competitive advantage. Another step in 2001 involved 

establishing the Intedis joint venture together with Hella, 

the vehicle electronics and lighting specialist. With the 

know-how of Intedis, LEONI succeeded in considerably 

extending its systems expertise in the wiring systems 

sector.

The cable segment, originally a manufacturer purely 

of bulk cable mainly for standardised products, has trans-

formed into an in-demand developer and supplier of high 

quality cable systems. In addition to growth from within, 

the most important factor in this respect was having 

acquired and integrated a total of 14 small and me-

dium-sized businesses, especially in the Germany cable 

industry. This successful strategy of acquisition helped to 

significantly widen both the product portfolio and market 

presence. LEONI is thus now the world market leader in 

automotive cables. The most recent acquisition, made in 

the 2005 financial year, was also one of the largest in the 

past ten years, namely purchase of the Stolberg-based 

cable manufacturer Kerpen GmbH & Co. KG. Acquiring this 

rich-in-tradition family business met two objectives at 

Shareholder ‘s Letter



the same time: First, LEONI was thereby able to re-enter 

the recently recovering copper data cables business and, 

second, the Company thus gained access to the industrial 

project business, which primarily involves fitting major 

petrochemical plants around the world with control, 

measurement and regulating cables. Kerpen is regarded 

as one of the global market leaders in this specialist field. 

LEONI also expanded its product portfolio by acquiring 

the Ulm-based cable assembler neumatic GmbH & Co. KG 

and its Czech affiliate. neumatic is engaged above all in 

providing special vehicle and crane manufacturers with 

tailor-made wiring solutions. With more than 30 subsidi-

aries producing wire and cable, LEONI is now one of the 

most broadly based companies in the European cable 

industry, with the most comprehensive product range.

Equity grew to € 427 million in 2005 (from € 365 mil-

lion in the previous year). This puts the equity ratio at 40 

percent and represents a healthy base for further growth. 

Earnings per share were up from € 1.12 in the previous 

year to € 1.89 in fiscal 2005.

On the stock market, the outperformance of LEONI 

AG has been favourably acknowledged. The closing price 

of the LEONI share was up from € 16.84 on 30 December 

2004 to € 26.93 at the end of 2005, which corresponds 

to another significant increase in enterprise value. The 

LEONI share marked its high for the year at € 28.73 in early 

October 2005. 

Based on the gratifying earnings performance in fis-

cal 2005, the Management Board will propose to the an-

nual general meeting on 3 May 2006 in Nuremberg to ap-

prove raising the dividend from € 0.42 per share to € 0.57, 

which corresponds to an increase of about 37 percent.

For the first time in 2005, LEONI’s consolidated financial 

statements were prepared in accordance with the Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). In so doing, 

LEONI has readied itself for the future also in terms of 

accounting requirements and transparency. 

What will this future hold? The strategy of organic 

growth in the Wiring Systems Division and the no less 

successful twin strategy of internal growth and business 

acquisitions in the Wire & Cable Division are to be benefi-

cially pursued in the years ahead as well. There is a good 

chance that the Wiring Systems Division will in the course 

of 2006 gain additional large-scale projects in the Euro-

pean automotive industry, which would provide further, 

sustained boosts to sales and earnings growth. The Wire 

& Cable Division will continue to study and evaluate po-

tential acquisition targets that would further strengthen 

its market position and earning power.

LEONI’s targets for 2006 include sales growth to € 1.7 

billion as well as an EBIT margin of at least seven percent. 

I am very confident that we shall, with the help of our 

highly motivated and committed employees, meet these 

targets too. Also on behalf of my Management Board col-

leagues, I should like to thank particularly our personnel 

for their exemplary input in the past 2005 financial year.

Yet my thanks also go to you, our shareholders, for 

your confidence in our work. We shall continue to strive 

with full commitment to enhance the value of your 

Company.

Dr-Ing. Klaus Probst

Dr-Ing. Klaus Probst 

Chairman of the Management Board

S h a r e h o l d e r ‘s  L e t t e r �
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In the 2005 financial year, the Supervisory Board perfor-

med its duties in accordance with statutory requirements 

and the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Associa-

tion, as well as monitoring and counselling the Manage-

ment Board in its work.

The Management Board provided the Supervisory 

Board with comprehensive and up-to-date reports on 

the Company’s situation and its performance as well as 

significant business transactions on a regular basis. The 

presented monthly and interim reports, planning docu-

ments providing details of operational planning, financial 

planning, capital investment planning and personnel 

planning as well as the findings of ongoing risk monito-

ring were discussed in depth with the Management Board 

during meetings of the Supervisory Board. The Manage-

ment Board also advised the Supervisory Board outside 

the scheduled meetings of projects and transactions of 

special significance.  

Mai n topic s  of  dis c ussion by  

the Sup e r v is or y B o ar d

The Supervisory Board held a total of five meetings during 

the 2005 financial year, specifically on 21 March, 3 May, 28 

July, 29 September and 8 December 2005. The topics of 

discussion were particularly issues of strategic significan-

ce, establishment of new companies, acquisitions and 

investments, the progress of major capital investment 

projects as well as the stipulations of the Corporate Go-

vernance Code, personnel issues and the current business 

situation. 

In its meeting on 9 December 2005, the Supervisory 

Board examined in detail and unanimously approved the 

Company’s planning for the 2006 financial year and its 

medium-term planning up to the year 2010. 

The Supervisory Board once again discussed the 

recommendations of the Corporate Governance Code. A 

revised Declaration of Conformity – approved by the Su-

pervisory Board – pursuant to Article 161 of the German 

Public Companies Act records the points where LEONI 

continues to diverge from the recommendations. The 

declaration was made public on the Company’s website 

at www.leoni.com immediately after the meeting. The 

declaration of conformity and a more detailed expla-

nation of the deviations can be found in the Corporte 

Governance Report. 

Wor k of  the commit te es

The personnel committee of the Supervisory Board 

met on two occasions during the 2005 financial year. In 

accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, 

the committee is responsible for Management Board 

personnel issues and preparatory work associated with 

appointing managing directors of key LEONI AG subsidia-

ries. Among other items, the service contracts of all three 

Management Board members were adjusted to the very 

good business performance of the Company in recent 

years and extended to include an additional compen-

sation component with risk character, which conforms 

to the recommendations in Section 4.2.3 of the German 

Corporate Governance Code.

The audit committee met on 11 March 2005 to 

discuss the offers of three potential auditing firms, which 

had applied upon invitation from LEONI‘s Management 

Board to handle the work pertaining to the annual finan-

cial statements of the LEONI Group, and to compare these 

with the offer of the auditing company that had hitherto 

worked for LEONI. It was decided after thorough conside-

ration of all offers to once again propose Ernst & Young 

as auditors to the annual general meeting on 3 May 2005. 

The financial statements for the 2004 financial year were 

also discussed in depth with representatives of the audi-

ting company during the meeting on 11 March 2005, and 

subjected to a pre-audit. The audit committee met again 

on 27 April 2005 in order, in the presence of the auditor, 

once more to cover in depth the transition to International 

Financial Reporting Standards.

Super visor y Board Repor t



Convening of the arbitration committee pursuant to 

Article 27, section 3 of Germany’s Co-determination Act 

was not required.

Audit  of  20 05 cons o l idate d 

and annual  f i nanc ial  s t ate me nt s 

The financial statements and management report of 

LEONI AG as well as the consolidated financial statements 

prepared pursuant to IFRS and the Group management 

report for the year ending 31 December 2005 were au-

dited and granted an unqualified certificate by auditors 

Ernst & Young AG, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, who 

were appointed by the annual general meeting. 

In addition, the auditors found after assessing LEONI’s 

risk management system that all risks, both at the Group’s 

German and foreign companies, are reported to the 

parties responsible without delay and that therefore an 

efficient risk management system is in place worldwide.

The audit reports by the auditors were made availa-

ble to all members of the Supervisory Board in good time.

The audit committee pre-audited the financial 

statements and the audit reports on 10 March 2006 

and discussed them in depth with all members of the 

Supervisory Board at the Supervisory Board’s meeting on 

21 March 2006. Representatives of the auditing company, 

who reported on the key findings of the audit and were 

available to provide additional information, also took part 

in both of these meetings.

The independent audit of the financial statements 

and the management report of LEONI AG as well as the 

consolidated financial statements and the Group ma-

nagement report for the 2005 financial year did not give 

rise to any objections. The Supervisory Board therefore 

unanimously approved and thus duly adopted, pursuant 

to Article 172 of the German Public Companies Act, the 

consolidated financial statements as prepared by the 

Management Board and the financial statements of LEONI 

AG for the year ending 31 December 2005.

The Supervisory Board supported the Management 

Board’s proposal on the application of distributable profit.

The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the Manage-

ment Board of LEONI AG, the managing directors of all 

Group companies, the elected works council represen-

tatives as well as all employees particularly for their 

commitment, and especially against the backdrop of 

the difficult underlying economic conditions in the 2005 

financial year, successful execution of four very complex 

major projects in the Wiring Systems Division, implemen-

tation of in some cases tough restructuring measures 

and simultaneously the smooth integration of acquired 

companies and newly formed joint ventures. They thus 

made a crucial contribution to the Company‘s extraordi-

nary success and to enhancing its value.

Nuremberg, 21 March 2006

Ernst Thoma

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Ernst Thoma

S u p e r v i s o r y  B o a r d  R e p o r t �
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1.  G e ne r al

As a German market-listed company, LEONI is subject to 

a large number of different laws and stipulations. These 

include the German Public Companies Act, the German 

Commercial Code as well as the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the recommendations and 

suggestions of the German Corporate Governance Code in 

its version of 21 May 2003.

This body of rules, which LEONI AG regards as 

important, represents a valuable set of guidelines for 

the Supervisory Board and the Management Board in 

structuring their collaboration and performing their du-

ties. However, there are four points, explained in more 

detail in this report, where the Supervisory Board and 

Management Board cannot follow the recommendations 

of the German Corporate Governance Code. In their joint 

meeting on 8 December 2005, the boards again discussed 

these deviations in depth, and drafted and agreed an 

updated Declaration of Conformity pursuant to Article 161 

of the Public Companies Act (cf. page 15). This declaration 

has also, together with the no longer current conformity 

declarations, been made public on LEONI’s website. 

2 .  Shar e ho l de r s  and ge ne r al  me e ti ng

The annual general meeting of LEONI AG, invitations to 

which were issued within the requisite period, was held 

on 3 May 2005 in the CCN CongressCenter of the Nürn-

bergMesse fairs and conference facility in Nuremberg. All 

reports and documents required by law were available in 

print form well beforehand and were also made public, 

together with the agenda, on LEONI’s website.

Shareholders had the option of nominating proxies 

bound by instructions to exercise their voting right. These 

proxies were also available during the annual general 

meeting.

The speech of the Chairman of the Management 

Board was also video broadcast on the internet for the 

first time the 2005 financial year.

3.  Co l lab or ation b e t we e n the 

Manage me nt B o ar d and Sup e r v is or y B o ar d

The management and supervisory boards collaborate 

closely in the best interest of the Company. By way of 

comprehensive reporting, the Management Board kept 

the Supervisory Board informed on a regular and timely 

basis about all matters key to the Company‘s business 

performance, its risk situation and risk management as 

well as short and medium-term planning. Deviation from 

the prepared planning and targets was explained in detail 

with reasons provided.

Comprehensive documentation to support decision-

making was available to all members of the Supervisory 

Board in good time prior to the board’s five scheduled 

meetings. This documentation also included, along 

with the monthly reports on the business situation that 

have always been obligatory at LEONI, planning for the 

year and the medium term, informative descriptions of 

major capital investment plans as well as the financial 

statements, consolidated financial statements and audit 

report.

The shareholder and employee representatives held 

separate, preliminary talks, during which complex agenda 

items were discussed beforehand and in some instances 

including members of the Management Board, to improve 

the efficiency of the meeting.

Directors & Officers Insurance – excess 

In Section 3.8, paragraph 2 the Code recommends to 

agree upon an appropriate insurance excess when taking 

out Directors & Officers Insurance (abbreviated D & O 

Insurance) for members of the Management Board and 

Supervisory Board. LEONI AG and its subsidiaries have such 

D & O Insurance. This involves a group insurance policy for 

a larger number of employees in management jobs in both 

Germany and other countries, especially executive bod-

ies (e.g. members of the Management Board, managing 

directors), supervisory bodies (e.g. Supervisory Board, Ad-

ministrative Board), advisory bodies (e.g. Advisory Board) 

and executives as defined in Article 5, paragraph 3 of the 

Works Council Constitution Act (BetrVG) or comparable 

foreign legal norms. Such insurance excess is uncommon 

outside Germany. LEONI also holds the view that insurance 

Corporate Governance Repor t
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excess is not suited to improving awareness of responsi-

bility among Management Board and Supervisory Board 

members, who are in any case legally obliged to act prop-

erly and conscientiously in performing the tasks and func-

tions with which they have been charged. The Supervisory 

Board and Management Board of LEONI AG have therefore 

determined not to agree any insurance excess.  

4.  Manage me nt B o ar d

The Management Board of LEONI AG consists of three 

members:

Dr Klaus Probst

Dr-Ing., Chemical engineering

Age: 52

First appointed: 1997 (with LEONI since 1989)

Appointed until: 2010

Areas of 

responsibility: 

CEO; Chairman of the Management Board;

in charge of the Wire & Cable Division; 

Corporate Communications; Auditing

Dieter Bellé

Graduate in business administration 

(Degree: Diplom-Betriebswirt)

Age: 49

First appointed: 2000

Appointed until: 2010

Areas of 

responsibility: 

CFO; Head of Finance and Labour Affairs; 

information management; risk management

Uwe H. Lamann

Graduate engineer (Degree: Diplom-Ingenieur)

Age: 56

First appointed: 1999

Appointed until: 2009

Areas of 

responsibility: 

in charge of the Wiring Systems Division; 

Central Research & Development

They share responsibility for managing the Company‘s 

operations, and are thus duty-bound to sustained growth 

in enterprise value. Rules of procedure govern the division 

of tasks and collaboration on the Management Board.

The Management Board determines the strategic 

direction of the Company, business policy and the group 

structure. It is responsible for managing the Group and its 

financial resources, presentation of the Company to the 

capital market and the general public, development of 

personnel strategy and appointments to senior positions 

within the Group. It coordinates and monitors the two 

business divisions, Wire & Cable as well as Wiring Sys-

tems, and ensures effective risk management.

Remuneration of the Management Board 

The remuneration of the Management Board was 

adjusted in the 2005 financial year in line with the recom-

mendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, 

Section 4.2.3. The compensation system and receipts are 

explained in the Notes [ 31 ] and [ 32 ] on page 98.

Section 4.2.4 of the Code suggests that the com-

pensation of the members of the Management Board be 

reported in the Notes to the consolidated financial state-

ments not only according to fixed, performance-related 

and long-term incentive components and components 

with risk character, but also that these figures shall be 

individualised. Under German public company law, the 

whole Management Board is jointly responsible for value-

generating management of the Company. Pursuant also 

to the rules of procedure for the Management Board of 

LEONI AG, the board members are jointly in charge of 

running the Company. All key decisions are taken by the 

whole Management Board. In order to make it apparent 

to shareholders how the performance of the Management 

Board as a whole impacts on compensation, the compen-

sation for the Board Members of LEONI AG is therefore 

split up according to fixed and variable components. 

There is no communication of Board Members’ compen-

sation in individualised form because, in the view of both 

the Supervisory Board and Management Board of LEONI 

AG, this would not provide shareholders with any valu-

able, additional information.

The system for compensating LEONI’s Management 

Board was presented Company‘s annual general meeting 

on 3 May 2005 where its basic principles were explained.

There were no conflicts of interest among the mem-

bers of LEONI AG’s Management Board pursuant to Sec-

tion 4 of the German Corporate Governance Code, which 

must immediately be disclosed to the Supervisory Board 

and the other Management Board members, up to the 

time this Annual Report was completed. 
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5.  Sup e r v is or y B o ar d

The Supervisory Board LEONI AG has twelve members 

who, according to the German Co-determination Act, 

represent shareholders and employees in equal numbers. 

The shareholder representatives are elected by the an-

nual general meeting while the employee representative 

are chosen by staff at LEONI’s facilities in Germany. In 

the event that there is a tie even in a second vote on the 

Supervisory Board, the chairman of the Supervisory Board 

has the casting vote. All members of LEONI AG’s Supervi-

sory Board in office during the 2005 financial year were 

elected in the 2002 financial year. Their appointment ends 

in the 2007 financial year.

The Supervisory Board advises and monitors the 

Management Board in running of the Company. It is 

involved in decisions of fundamental significance. In ad-

dition, the Supervisory Board appoints and dismisses the 

members of the Management Board. The chairman of 

the Supervisory Board coordinates the work done on the 

Supervisory Board, chairs its meetings and represents the 

Supervisory Board’s concerns to the outside.

Committees

According the rules of procedure that the Supervisory 

Board of LEONI AG has set itself, work preparatory to 

appointing Management Board members is delegated 

to a personnel committee, which also determines the 

modalities of the contract of employment including the 

compensation. The personnel committee is chaired by 

Supervisory Board chairman Ernst Thoma.

In addition to the personnel committee, the Super-

visory Board of LEONI AG has established an arbitration 

committee pursuant to Article 27, paragraph 3 of the Co-

determination Act. This committee advises the Superviso-

ry Board on appointment of Management Board members 

in the event that the requisite two-thirds majority was not 

reached in the first round of voting. This committee did 

not need to be called upon in the 2005 financial year.

Finally, the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG has an 

audit committee that deals with questions relating to ac-

counting and risk management, the requisite independ-

ence of the auditors and the retention of their services, 

the terms of reference of the audit and the fee agreement 

with the auditors. Dr Werner Rupp chairs the audit com-

mittee.

Contrary to the recommendation in Section 5.4.7, 

paragraph 1, sentence 3 of the German Corporate Govern-

ance Code, chairmanship and membership of committees 

of LEONI AG is not taken into account in terms of compen-

sation. The Supervisory Board and Management Board 

of LEONI AG are of the opinion that compensation of the 

Supervisory Board is set in such a way that special consid-

eration for chairmanship and membership of committees 

in terms of compensation seems inappropriate. It is thus 

not intended to consider the chairmanship or member-

ship of a committee in the compensation of the members 

of the Supervisory Board in future.

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

The general meeting in the 2005 financial year agreed to 

revise the compensation for the Supervisory Board mem-

bers after the chairman of the meeting had explained 

the revision, which was accordingly adopted in Article 12 

of the Company‘s Articles of Association. Thereupon the 

members of the Supervisory Board receive fixed compen-

sation of € 35,000 per year as well as performance-related 

compensation (profit share), payable after the resolution 

of profit distribution has been passed, amounting to four 

percent of the distributable profit if this exceeds four per-

cent of the share capital, however in a maximum amount 

equivalent to three percent of the share capital.

In Section 5.4.7, paragraph 3, the Code recommends 

that the compensation for members of the Supervisory 

Board shall be presented individually and subdivided 

according to components in the Corporate Governance 

Report. The total amount of compensation paid to the Su-

pervisory Board as a whole is disclosed and made public 

according the legal requirements in the section below. 

The proportion of variable Supervisory Board compensa-

tion is also disclosed. The Supervisory Board and Man-

agement Board are of the opinion that this notification 

contains all information that is necessary for a suitable 

evaluation of the Supervisory Board’s performance and 

that publication of individualised compensation would 

not improve the information quality for shareholders. 

Furthermore, a notice of individual compensation would 
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not lead to more suitable evaluation of the Supervisory 

Board’s performance. This is especially true as the Su-

pervisory Board performs its task as a joint body, so that 

also in this respect publication of the total compensation 

as well as the individual components seems sufficient to 

evaluate the adequateness of remuneration.

Overall, the compensation for the Supervisory Board 

in the 2005 financial year breaks down as follows:

€ ’000 2005 2004

Fixed compensation  490 24

Profit share 680 961

Total 1,170 985

6.  Tr ansp ar e nc y

The Management Board of LEONI AG in 2005 published all 

information directly concerning the Company pursuant 

to the Securities Trading Act (WpHG) and the Investor 

Protection Improvement Act (AnsVG), without delay in 

the form of four ad-hoc announcements. These and other 

press releases are available on LEONI’s website. 

The Company‘s quarterly and annual reports were 

made available in printed form and despatched by post 

as well as being released in digital format as an online 

version and available for downloading from the Com-

pany‘s website. As holders of registered shares, LEONI’s 

shareholders were provided the respective printed copies 

in particularly timely fashion. At the end of the year, LEONI 

also provided additional information, especially about 

recently acquired businesses, in the form of a sharehold-

ers’ letter.

Moreover, shareholders were advised with ample 

notice about the dates for key releases and events in a fis-

cal calendar provided on the website and also published 

in national daily newspapers and mandatory bourse an-

nouncements. 

A survey by the ‘Börse Online’ investor magazine 

among more than 600 private investors found that LEONI 

AG currently in the best performer in Germany in terms 

of investor relations work. At the annual conference of 

the German Investor Relations Association held on 6 June 

2005 in Frankfurt, LEONI was commended for the Best 

Investor Relations in Germany. Investors were especially 

impressed by the quality of LEONI financial reports.

D i r e c tor s ’  D eal i ng s

Since 1 July 2002, Article 15a of the Securities Trading Act 

has stipulated reporting duties for members of execu-

tive and supervisory bodies as well as general partners of 

market-listed companies: If they buy or sell shares in their 

companies, they must immediately report to this effect 

to the issuer and to the German Federal Office for the 

supervision of financial services (BAFin) in the event that 

any such transaction exceeds € 5,000 per year (similar to 

Section 6.6 of the German Corporate Governance Code). 

Such transactions are known as directors’ dealings.

In the 2005 financial year, the following transac-

tions pursuant to Article 15a of the Securities Trading 

Act (Directors’ Dealings) were made involving registered 

no-par-value shares of LEONI AG, Marienstrasse 7, 90402 

Nürnberg, ISIN DE0005408884: 

Date of 

transaction

Notifying party, function Transaction to be 

disclosed and published

Place of 

transaction

03 May 2005 Dr Werner Rupp,  

Member of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG

Purchase of 4,000 shares  

price € 61.00 per share1)

Total volume: € 244,000.00 

Börse München

10 May 2005 Phillip Bellé,

Person in close relation to Dieter Bellé,  

Member of the Management Board of LEONI AG

Sale of 250 shares

price € 62.90 per share1)

Total volume: € 15,725.00

XETRA,  

Börse Frankfurt

12 Dec. 2005 Horst Eduard Schmidmer,  

Member of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG

Sale of 11,000 no-par-value 

LEONI ordinary shares average 

price approx. € 27.02 per share

Total volume: € 297,233.97

XETRA,  

Börse Frankfurt

15 Dec. 2005 Horst Eduard Schmidmer,

Member of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG

Disposal/transfer of 58,800 

shares in Schmidmer 

Verwaltungs-GmbH & Co. KG, 

Nuremberg

Nuremberg

15 Dec. 2005 Schmidmer Verwaltungs-GmbH & Co. KG, 

Company in close relation to Horst Eduard 

Schmidmer,  

Member of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG

Addition of 58,800 shares

from Horst Eduard Schmidmer

Nuremberg

15 Dec. 2005 Tatjana Schmidmer,

Person in close relation to Horst Eduard 

Schmidmer,

Member of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG

Disposal/transfer of 79,800 

shares in Schmidmer 

Verwaltungs-GmbH & Co. KG, 

Nuremberg

Nuremberg

15 Dec. 2005 Schmidmer Verwaltungs-GmbH & Co.KG, 

Company in close relation to Tatjana Schmid-

mer, as person with relation in the first degree 

to Horst Eduard Schmidmer, 

Member of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG

Addition of 79,800 shares

from Tatjana Schmidmer

Nuremberg

1) before share split
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Specifics of current directors’ dealings are also available 

on LEONI’s website for a period of at least 30 days after 

the date of their initial release, as well as generally via the 

so-called “Annual Document” pursuant to Article 10 of the 

Securities Prospectus Act (WpPG).

Shar e ho l di ng s 

As the members of LEONI AG’s Management and Super-

visory Boards together on 31 December 2005 held more 

than one percent of the shares issued by LEONI AG, there 

was a requirement according to Section 6.6 of the German 

Corporate Governance Code to report holdings. These 

holdings break down as follows:

Shareholdings Number of shares  

12/31/2005

Percentage of 

share capital

Supervisory Board mem-

bers and related parties 431,485 1.4528

Management Board mem-

bers and related parties 19,170 0.0645

Supervisory Board and 

Management Board, 

total 450,655 1.5173

7.  Acco unti ng and audit

LEONI Group applied the internationally accepted Inter-

national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for the first 

time to the 2005 financial year. Up to and including fiscal 

2004, the Group applied the Generally Accepted Account-

ing Principles in the United States of America (US GAAP). 

LEONI also followed the current recommendations of 

the German Accounting Standard No. 15 (DRS 15), under 

which the Group Management Report is sectioned and 

structured in fashion similar to other companies in the 

interests of better comparability. The financial statements 

of LEONI AG were prepared according to the German 

Commercial Code (HGB). More detail in this regard is pro-

vided under Note “[ 1 ] General principles”.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared 

by the Management Board and audited by both the audi-

tor and the Supervisory Board. The audit committee of 

the Supervisory Board obtained a declaration from the 

auditor expressly confirming commercial, financial and 

personal independence between the auditor as well as its 

bodies and chief auditors on the one hand and LEONI as 

well as members of its bodies on the other hand.

The auditor took part in the deliberations of the Su-

pervisory Board and of the audit committee nominated by 

the Supervisory Board, and reported on the key findings 

of the audit. The audit did not give rise to any objections.
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D e c lar ation of  Conf or mit y of  LEO NI AG’s 

Manage me nt B o ar d and Sup e r v is or y B o ar d 

i n 20 05 on the r e comme ndations of  the 

“G ove r nme nt Commission on the G e r man 

Cor p or ate G ove r nance Co de” i n the ve r s ion 

of  2  J une 20 05 p ur suant to Ar t ic l e  161 of  the 

Pub l ic  Comp anies Ac t  (Ak t G) 

(published in the Federal Gazette on 20 July 2005) 

In their meetings on 25 November and 8 December 2005, 

respectively the Management Board and the Supervisory 

Board approved the following Declaration of Conformity 

pursuant to Article 161 of the German Public Companies 

Act:

I.  The Management Board and Supervisory Board of 

LEONI AG declare that since publication of the last Dec-

laration of Conformity on 9 December 2004 1) up to 20 

July 2005 recommendations of the “Government Com-

mission on the German Corporate Governance Code” in 

its version of 22 May 2003 and 2) from 21 July 2005 on 

the recommendations of the “Government Commis-

sion on the German Corporate Governance Code” in its 

version of 2 June 2005 were complied with, except in 

the following cases:

1. In Section 3.8, paragraph 2, the Code recommends to 

agree upon an appropriate insurance excess when tak-

ing out Directors & Officers Insurance (abbreviated D & 

O Insurance). The Management Board and Supervisory 

Board declare that with the current D & O Insurance no 

excess has been agreed upon for the persons insured.

2. According to section 4.2.4, second sentence together 

with the first sentence, the compensation of members 

of the Management Board should be reported in the 

notes of the consolidated financial statements on an 

individualised basis. The Management Board and the 

Supervisory Board declare that in the notes of the 

consolidated financial statements the compensation of 

members of the Management Board was not reported 

on an individualised basis.

3. In Section 5.4.5, paragraph 3, first sentence the Code 

recommends among other things that the compen-

sation of the members of the Supervisory Board be 

reported in the notes of the consolidated financial 

statements on an individualised basis. The Manage-

ment Board and Supervisory Board declare that the 

compensation of the members of the Supervisory 

Board was not published on an individualised basis.

4. The Code recommends in Section 5.4.7, paragraph 

1, third sentence that the members of the Supervi-

sory Board receive separate compensation for the 

chairmanship and membership of Supervisory Board 

committees. The Management Board and Supervi-

sory Board declare that neither a chairmanship nor a 

membership in Supervisory Board Committees was 

considered in the compensation of the members of the 

Supervisory Board.

II.  The Management Board and Supervisory Board of 

LEONI AG further declare that also in future they intend 

to fully comply with the recommendations of the 

“Government Commission on the German Corporate 

Governance Code” in its version of 2 June 2005 with 

the following exceptions and the ones mentioned 

above in I. 

The Code recommends in Section 5.4.7, paragraph 3, 

first sentence that the compensation of the members 

of the Supervisory Board should be reported in the 

Corporate Governance Report on an individualised 

basis, subdivided into components. The Management 

Board and Supervisory Board declare that they do not 

intend to report these figures on an individualised 

basis in the Corporate Governance Report.

Nuremberg, December 2005.

LEONI AG

Dr-Ing. Klaus Probst 

Chairman of the Management Board

Ernst Thoma 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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The LEONI Share
High vo lt age c ab l e 

f or  ve hic l es  w ith hy br id 

and f ue l  ce l l  p owe r

Given the increase in fuel prices and the foresee-

able end to oil reserves, alternative forms of power 

for motor vehicles will in the future gain ever more 

significance.

LEONI has addressed this issue in good time 

and has developed, among other things, a range of 

cables specifically for motor vehicles with hybrid 

and fuel cell power, which ensure absolutely reliable 

and trouble-free operation. Moreover, LEONI has 

developed wiring systems that accommodate the 

particular currency ratios involved in these forms of 

power, which are being used more and more. The 

first wiring systems for a vehicle with hybrid power 

are already in series production for the North Ameri-

can market.
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Key LEO NI Shar e dat a – O ve r v iew

 

First listed on January 1, 1923

Ticker symbol LEO

ISIN DE0005408884

WKN DE540888

Class of shares Ordinary bearer shares   

 with no-par-value

Market segment Prime Standard

Indices MDAX, HDAX,  

 CDAX, BayX30

Share capital € 29.7 million 

Number of shares 29.7 million 
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LEONI

MDAX

DAX

Shar e p r ice p e r f or mance (Indexed December 30, 2004)

LEO NI shar e makes a  62 p e rce nt gai n

Shar e sp l i t  p r ov ides addit ional  mome ntum

20 05 high at  €  28.73

Year- e nd c l osi ng p r ice of  €  26.93

D i v ide nd r is es  to € 0. 57
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T he 20 05 s to c k mar ke t year

The international stock markets initially failed to really 

get going in the first few months of the new 2005 year of 

trading. Fear of further increases in energy prices, rising 

rates of inflation and climbing interest rates drew inves-

tors around the world onto the defensive. Yet market sen-

timent brightened significantly in the second half of the 

year. Driven by favourable economic data and corporate 

reports, the markets recovered and reached new highs by 

the end of the year. Even exceptionally bad news – terror-

ist attacks, natural disasters and record-level raw material 

prices – failed to cast any persistent gloom over investor 

confidence.

The German share index (DAX) maintained its en-

couraging trend of 2003 and 2004 in the 2005 year under 

report as well. After a listless start, this key index in April 

dropped to its low for the year at 4,157 points. In the wake 

of the upside momentum setting in on world’s stock 

markets from May the DAX then steadily gained, and at 

5,469 points in December reached its highest level since 

early 2002. The year of stock market trading finally closed 

at 5,408 points for DAX, an increase of about 27 percent 

on the level one year earlier. The MDAX also recorded an 

impressive uptrend in 2005. In September, the mid-cap 

index exceeded 7,000 points for the first time since its 

introduction, registering an overall gain of 36 percent at 

its year-end closing level of 7,311 points. 

LEO NI shar e makes a  d y namic s t ar t

 

At prices above EUR 17 (before share split: EUR 51) and 

with a high volume of trading, the LEONI share made a 

dynamic start to the 2005 year of market trading, topping 

the EUR 20 threshold for the first time in mid March. In 

April, LEONI announced a major order to supply Siemens 

with special cable systems. Investors responded to this 

news by boosting the share to a six-month high at EUR 

22.44. In the weeks thereafter, the LEONI share was to 

some extent adversely affected by the generally down-

beat sentiment in the automotive sector. The insolvency 

of LEONI customer MG Rover caused additional uncertain-

ty among investors. Yet this temporary weakness in the 

share was widely used as an opportunity to buy.

Addit ional  i mp e tus f r om shar e sp l i t

 

In May 2005, LEONI AG’s annual shareholders’ meeting 

approved reclassification of the Company‘s share capital 

into 29,700,000 no-par-value shares (up from 9,900,000) 

as well as the related 3 for 1 share split. In place of one 

share with a notional stake of three euros in the share 

capital there are now three shares with a proportional 

value of one euro per share. This achieved a breakdown in 

share capital in line with the norm for market-listed com-

panies and further raised the appeal of the LEONI share, 

especially to private investors. The split did indeed give 

the LEONI share additional momentum, while the acquisi-

tion of the special cable assembler neumatic announced 

at the end of June provided further upside appeal.
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Inves tor s  conv i nce d by g r ow th s tr ate g y

LEONI exceeded the expectations of market participants 

with the figures it presented for the 1st half and gained 

strongly against the general trend after releasing the 

results. The plans announced in mid August to acquire the 

Stolberg-based cable manufacturer Kerpen and to set up 

the “advintec” joint venture aimed at expanding business 

involving special cables for industrial robots were likewise 

very well received. This resolute implementation of the 

growth strategy convinced investors and caused the 

LEONI share to climb above EUR 25 for the first time.

In September, the uncertainty about the outcome of 

the federal elections in Germany increasingly weighed 

on the German equity market. The LEONI share also suf-

fered temporary dips. Yet the price recovered quickly, and 

gained fresh upside momentum from successful comple-

tion of the acquisition announced in August of the cable 

specialist Kerpen. It peaked in early October at a high 

for the year of EUR 28.73. In the following weeks, profit 

taking and the generally weak stock market affected the 

LEONI share. The insolvency of the American component 

supplier Delphi also made a negative impact. Weakness in 

the share price initially persisted even after the Company 

presented its third-quarter figures, which in some cases 

exceeded market expectations. Towards the end of the 

year, an upbeat outlook on 2006 and 2007 instilled an 

inclination to buy again. On the day before the last day of 

trading LEONI made a day-on-day gain of more than four 

percent and closed the year at the top of the MDAX with 

a price of EUR 26.93, equating to a 62 percent increase on 

the same day one year earlier. 

E xce l l e nt i nves tor  r e lat ions wor k

LEONI again enhanced its capital market communication 

in the 2005 financial year and in so doing placed particu-

lar emphasis on personal, open dialogue with analysts, 

investors, private shareholders and the financial media. 

Management Board members and Investor Relations 

staff presented the Company to professional audiences at 

investor conferences, such as the German Equity Forum, 

and international road shows. By participating in stock 

market days in Nuremberg and Munich, LEONI also gave 

private investors the opportunity to obtain information 

about the LEONI share personally and to gain insight into 

the wide range of the Company‘s products.

LEONI again in the 2005 financial year released infor-

mation relevant to the share on a timely and transpar-

ent basis, with members of LEONI’s Management Board 

commenting on each set of quarterly figures in telephone 

conferences. At the end of the year, LEONI advised its 

shareholders in a shareholders’ letter about the busi-

nesses acquired and joint ventures newly established in 

the 2005 financial year. 

The finding of a survey among private investors by 

the ‘Börse Online’ investor magazine on the investor rela-

tions work of German public companies underscores that 

LEONI’s open communications policy is popular among 

investors. From among 160 companies covering the blue 

chip, mid cap and small cap categories, LEONI took first 

place in the mid cap category and was also at the top of 

the overall scoring. Investors were especially impressed 

by the quality of LEONI’s financial reports as well as the 

timely and easy-to-understand nature of its publications. 
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At the annual conference of the German Investor Relations 

Association held in June 2005 in Frankfurt, LEONI was 

commended for the Best Investor Relations in Germany.

37 p e rce nt i nc r eas e i n the di v ide nd

In order that LEONI AG shareholders participate in the 

Company‘s success, the Management Board and Super-

visory Board will propose to the annual general meeting 

on 3 May 2005 to increase the dividend for the past year 

by about 37 percent to EUR 0.57 per share (from the previ-

ous year’s EUR 0.42). This corresponds to a payout ratio 

of about 30 percent of net income (EUR 56.1 million) and 

total dividend payout of EUR 16.9 million.

Unc hange d shar e ho l de r s tr uc tur e 

The ownership structure of LEONI AG remained un-

changed from the previous year. Groga Beteiligungs-

gesellschaft mbH – a company of the Nürnberger 

Versicherungsgruppe (insurance group) and Hella KGaA 

Hueck & Co. of Lippstadt – remains the largest single 

shareholder in LEONI AG. The free float of about 80 

percent of the share capital is meanwhile spread among 

22,000 or so shareholders. The majority of the free float is 

in the hands of institutional investors.

L E O N I  S h a r e  k e y  f i g u r e s

  

per share in € 2005    2004 3 

Group net income  1.89 1.12 

Dividend 0.57 1 0.42 

Equity capital  14.38 12.29 

High for the year 2 28.73 18.65 

Low for the year 2 17.03 13.87

Closing price 2 26.93 16.67

 

Market capitalization 12/31 in € million 800 495

Average sales per day (No. of shares) 113,069 97,185 

 

1   I f  a p p ro v e d  b y  t h e  a n n u a l  g e n e ra l  m e e t i n g           
�  Xe t ra - C l o s i n g  p r i ce  o f  t h e  d a y
� A d a p te d  to  s h a re  s p l i t  1: �

Shareholder structure 2005

   Groga 20 %

    Freefloat 80 %

Shar e ho l de r s e r v ice 

LEONI provides potential investors with comprehensive 

information about the company and its share on the 

internet at www.leoni.com. In addition to the latest news, 

the site also includes fiscal reports, share information as 

well as the fiscal calendar.





Group 

Management Repor t

The last thing anyone enjoying the benefits of a 

mobile phone thinks of is cable. And yet mobile 

communications would be inconceivable without 

cables. They lead from the countless mobile 

communication reception antennas on the masts 

to the base and relay stations, and from there back 

again to the transmitting antennas.

With its FlexLine® range of cables, made in 

both Germany and China, LEONI also supplies 

the fast growing Asian market in addition to the 

European and American markets. These special 

coax cables together with perfectly matched con-

necting and fixing components meet the highest 

technical requirements and thus also the transmis-

sion standards of the future.

In addition to its FlexLine® antenna cables,  

LEONI also offers a wide range of cables and 

ready-to-connect cable systems for the internal 

wiring of relay stations. 

Cable for mobile communications 

23
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Busi ness b asis

LEONI is engaged mainly in the development, production 

and distribution of

  wires and strands made of copper and copper alloys 

for cable and electrical applications,

  cables, conductors and cable systems for the auto-

motive, communications, electrical equipment and 

capital goods industries

  as well as wiring systems including related compo-

nents for the automotive industry.

Together, manufacture of these three product groups 

constitutes an ascending value chain, the links in which 

complement each other in a logical way: Wires and 

strands are processed into insulated conductors and 

cables, and cables are used to make wiring systems. This 

series of different technologies entails valuable synergies 

especially in development of new products. It is in this 

form unique within the industry and thus represents a key 

competitive advantage.

The Group’s structure is also in line with this value chain: 

LEONI AG functions as the holding company, while opera-

tions are split into the two Wire & Cable as well as Wiring 

Systems Divisions. 

Manage me nt s y s te m

The LEONI AG holding company provides the strategy 

for the entire group of companies and thus exerts key 

influence over the business policy of its divisions and the 

subsidiaries belonging to the Group. LEONI AG monitors 

adherence to the set sales and earnings targets by its two 

business divisions and their subsidiaries. The key bench-

mark figures for the Group’s operating business are sales, 

earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and return on 

capital employed (ROCE). 

B u s i n e s s  a n d  u n d e r l y i n g  c o n d i t i o n s

Tar ge t s  f or  20 05 e xce e de d 

S al es  up by ab o ut 24 p e rce nt

Cons o l idate d ne t i ncome mor e than do ub l e d to € 56.1 mil l ion

C apit al  e x p e nditur e of  €  65 mil l ion

Numb e r of  e mp l oye es comes to ab o ut 32,6 0 0

M or e s al es  and ear ni ng s g r ow th i n 20 0 6 and 20 07



Str ate g y

LEONI pursues a results-oriented growth strategy, the aim 

of which is ongoing increase in enterprise value. The Wir-

ing Systems Division is expanding its business especially 

with existing customers in the automotive industry and 

is working on gaining additional business from new cus-

tomers in Europe, yet particularly so in the United States 

and China. The ability to compete for which this calls is 

based on the strategic objective of cost leadership and 

commanding a high level of development expertise.

The Wire & Cable Division is aiming for market 

leadership in key growth markets and market niches that 

are both technologically interesting and commercially 

promising. This goal is being pursued by means of both 

organic growth and targeted acquisition of businesses, 

most of which will boast an exceptional area of spe-

cialisation. In the volume markets, LEONI is represented 

above all with products such as automotive cables 

and power cords as well as copper and fiber-optic data 

cables, while its customers for special cables tailor-made 

for specific applications in robotics as well as medical 

equipment and traffic engineering fit more into the cat-

egory of niche markets. Particularly in the special cables 

segment, LEONI is increasingly expanding its own range 

of products and manufacturing by acquiring businesses.

The Wire & Cable Division achieved its target of 

leading the market segment comprising fine wires and 

strands for the cable industry (with single wire cross 

sections of less than 0.2 mm) and copper flexibles for 

electric components years ago already. This position is to 

be further enhanced with new products.

Key mar ke t s

The automotive industry is by far the most important 

market for LEONI, with the Company’s customer base 

comprising manufacturers of passenger cars, trucks and 

other commercial vehicles (i.e. OEMs – original equip-

ment manufacturers) as well as the global component 

industry. The latter include particularly manufacturers of 

automotive components (driving safety systems such as 

ABS, ESP and ASR as well as mirrors, auxiliary heaters and 

cable harnesses) and of production equipment (painting, 

welding and assembly robots, testing equipment and 

equipment control systems as well as data networks). 

Both of LEONI’s business divisions are involved with the 

automotive industry. The sector accounts for more than 

75 percent of consolidated sales.

Other key markets for cable products include the 

electrical equipment industry (electric domestic appli-

ances and power tools), the IT and telecommunications 

industry (relay stations, data networks and mobile com-

munications) and the capital goods industry (machinery 

and plant engineering, traffic engineering and medical 

equipment, audio/video equipment as well as shipbuild-

ing and marine technology).

The components sector (carbon brushes, electric 

motors, relays, thyristors, capacitors and switches) as well 

as the cable industry itself constitute major markets for 

wires and strands.

In regional terms, the European, American and Asian 

markets are of special significance to LEONI.

Business and underlying conditions
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Unde r l y ing mac r o e conomic  

and s e c tor- sp e c i f ic  condit ions

The underlying economic conditions in Germany did not 

improve in 2005 compared with the previous year. Ac-

cording to the Federal Office of Statistics, the 2005 rate 

of growth in gross domestic product (GDP) was, at 1.1 

percent on a calendar-adjusted basis, not significantly 

higher than in the previous year. The principal factors 

underpinning this comparatively modest growth were 

the increase in exports, which were up 6.2 percent, and 

an increase in capital investment. Businesses spent four 

percent more than in the previous year on equipment 

and machinery, the biggest increase since the year 2000. 

Consumer spending, weighed down by the high prices 

of oil and energy, again proved to be a stumbling block. 

The construction business also failed to recover, with 

spending on construction dropping by 3.6 percent. On the 

whole, the Federal Republic of Germany performed rather 

poorly in international comparison. The EU Commission 

estimates that euro zone GDP came to 1.3 percent. The US 

economy grew by 3.5 percent, while in Japan the figure 

was 2.5 percent and in China in was 9.9 percent.

This is the economic context in which LEONI’s busi-

ness should be seen. It was partially affected by the 

poor state of the construction business and the sluggish 

consumer spending, but at least in the second half of 

2005 also benefited in part from increasing investment in 

machinery and equipment.

The automotive industry has the biggest influence 

on LEONI as it has most recently accounted for more than 

three quarters of the Company’s business. This industry 

made a slight year-on-year gain. According to the German 

Business and underlying conditions

Association of the Automotive Industry (VDA), vehicle 

output in Germany rose by three percent to about 5.35 

million passenger cars. However, the key to LEONI’s wiring 

systems business is how the vehicle models for which 

LEONI supplies product sell in the market. This in particu-

lar is where LEONI benefits from a balanced portfolio of 

manufacturers and models. Virtually all of the passenger 

cars for which LEONI supplies product have for years been 

very well established in the market. At a rate of eight 

percent, output in the commercial vehicle sector grew 

by substantially more than in the passenger car sector, 

which also had a beneficial effect on LEONI. The North 

American economic area (NAFTA) also benefited from a 

strong, steady commercial vehicle business, as reflected 

especially at Tucson-based LEONI Wiring Systems Inc., 

which has a development centre in Columbus, IN and a 

production facility in Hermosillo, Mexico. 

The recovery in demand for plant and machinery 

what also reflected in the figures published by the Federal 

Association of German Industry (BDI), which showed a 3.5 

percent increase in manufacturing industry output. The 

mechanical engineering sector posted a 4 percent gain, 

while the IT/communications business was up about 2.6 

percent. The relocation of production for electrical equip-

ment (household appliances and power tools) continued. 

Production of small appliances is increasingly moving 

to Asia/Pacific, while production of major equipment is 

more likely to go to eastern Europe. There were no signs 

in 2005 of any sustained recovery among manufacturers 

of electrical components. Just towards the end of the year 

demand picked up slightly.



Group key figures 2005 2004 Change

Group external sales € 1,548.0 million € 1,250.2 million 23.8 %

EBIT € 102.8 million  € 56.8 million 81.3 %

EBIT / sales 6.6 % 4.5 % —

Capital expenditure * € 65.0 million € 79.5 million (18.2) %

Net income € 56.1 million € 27.7 million 102.5 %

Employees (as at 12/31) 32,638 29,957 8.9 %

Sales  

by business division

  Wiring Systems 57 % 

  Wire & Cable 43 %

Sales by countr y

  Germany 45 % 

  EU (without Germany) 33 % 

  Non EU countries 22 %

Busi ness p e r f or mance i n 20 05 

Cons o l idate d s al es  and ear ni ng s 

LEONI’s business was up despite the difficult state of the 

market in some areas and the insolvency of a customer. 

The Company either met or exceeded all its key targets. 

For instance, consolidated external sales rose by 23.8 

percent from the previous year’s € 1,250.2 million to the 

record level of € 1,548.0 million in 2005. Changes in ex-

change rates exerted only a minor effect on consolidated 

sales in 2005, similar to the situation in the previous year. 

Translating the sales generated by LEONI’s foreign subsidi-

aries in the respective currency of the country into euros 

at the average exchange of the previous year results in a 

reduction in sales of € 4.2 million. On a currency-adjusted 

basis, 2005 sales amounted to € 1,543.8 million and thus 

nearly 23.5 percent more than in the previous year. 

In absolute terms, the Wiring Systems Division 

made the strongest contribution to this growth, with the 

proportion of consolidated sales accounted for by wiring 

systems increasing from about 55 percent to roughly 57 

percent, while the share provided by the Wire & Cable 

Division declined from 45 percent (2004) to about 43 

percent (2005).

* Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets

Business and underlying conditions

The sales generated in the Federal Republic of Germany 

in 2005 were up to € 701.6 million from the previous 

year’s € 527.9 million. The proportion of consolidated sales 

simultaneously rose from about 42 percent in 2004 to 45 

percent. The reason for this was the increase in sales to 

carmakers based in Germany. 

Consolidated net income more than doubled from 

the like-for-like figure of the previous year (€ 27.7 million) 

to € 56.1 million, making it the best result in the Compa-

ny‘s history. 

Fiscal 2005 earnings per share came to € 1.89, up 

from € 1.12 in the previous year and corresponding to an 

increase of about 69 percent.
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Re p or t s  by di v is ion

W i r ing Sy s te ms D i v is ion

Pr o duc t  r ange

The Wiring Systems Division is engaged mainly in devel-

oping and manufacturing pre-assembled, ready-to-install 

wiring systems and cable harnesses for the electrical 

wiring of passenger cars and commercial vehicles. The 

latter category comprises primarily lorries, buses and 

coaches, forklift trucks as well as construction machinery. 

The division also supplies manufacturers of automotive 

components such as engines, driving safety and exhaust 

emission systems, seats, mirrors and sunroofs. While the 

term “wiring system” comprises all the wiring of a vehicle, 

including components such as mounting and sealing 

parts, cable channels, fuse boxes, power distributors and 

electronic control systems, the term “cable harness” cov-

ers the wiring of individual vehicle components such as 

the engine, dashboard, doors and seats. 

Business p e r f or mance

The Wiring Systems Division was exceptionally successful 

in expanding its business in 2005. Particularly the major 

projects, launched in the preceding years from 2002 to 

2004, with customers DaimlerChrysler, General Motors, 

BMW and Land Rover to produce wiring systems and 

cable harnesses for new vehicle models, for which LEONI 

had previously not supplied any product or only to a 

minor extent, yielded the targeted growth in 2005. These 

vehicle models include the Opel Astra and Opel Zafira, the 

Mercedes-Benz A-Class and B-Class ranges, the BMW 1 

and 3 Series as well as the Land Rover Discovery.

Construction work had begun in 2002 on a plant in 

the Ukraine, on the outskirts of the town of Stryj, with 

production space of about 35,000 m2 to manufacture 

wiring systems for both of the Opel models. Following 

a construction period of just 17 months, the first wiring 

systems came off the line in October 2003. The so far 

highest unit-output figure was reached in mid 2005, and 

it remained at virtually the same high level during the 

second half of the year. The entire project, which made 

LEONI the biggest German investor in the Ukraine, has 

from the outset run without any noteworthy disruption. 

Even the temporarily serious political situation in the 

Ukraine towards the end of 2004, which culminated in 

a change of government in early 2005, did not have any 

adverse effect. LEONI at the same time expanded another 

production facility, also working for General Motors, in 

the Polish town of Ostrzezow and whose staff played a 

key part in setting up the facility in Stryj. Based on the 

work done, fully satisfied customer General Motors in 

April 2005 commended LEONI as its worldwide “Supplier 

of the Year” for the third time.

Business and underlying conditions

Key figures Wiring Systems 2005 2004 Change

External sales € 879.4 million € 683.1 million 28.7 %

EBIT € 61.4 million € 29.8 million 106.0 %

EBIT / sales 7.0 % 4.4 % —

Capital expenditure * € 40.5 million € 60.4 million (32.9) %

Employees (as at 12/31) 25,729 24,488 5.1 %

* Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets 



In 2003, work commenced in the Romanian city of Bistrita 

on construction of a new facility with about 25,000 m2 

of production space to make wiring systems and cable 

harnesses for the Mercedes A-Class and B-Class as well as 

for the BMW’s 1 and 3 Series. The plant was completed 

in a construction time of just 15 months. The first wiring 

systems for BMW and DaimlerChrysler were made in July 

2004, and the maximum unit-output was achieved at the 

beginning of 2005. The strong demand for these cars and 

their equipment bestowed LEONI with a substantial sales 

increase in 2005.

The third major project was launched in the Slova-

kian city of Ilava. This location, in tandem with the new 

facilities in Stryj and Bistrita, saw a third new plant with 

production space of about 18,000 m2 to make cable har-

nesses for the BMW 3 Series erected in the record time of 

just nine months. Series production commenced in No-

vember 2004, and the maximum unit output was reached 

in March 2005. Thanks to the fact that BMW’s 1 and 3 

Series are both doing very well in the market, BMW has 

advanced to being LEONI’s third-largest customer within 

just two years.

Likewise the fourth major project involving customer 

Land Rover, for which LEONI’s facilities in Egypt’s capital 

Cairo and in Arad, Romania were comprehensively ex-

panded, performed very well and resulted in a substantial 

boost to sales in 2005. The Cairo plant supplies particu-

larly wiring systems for the successful Discovery model. 

In total, the workforce grew by about 10,000 as a 

result of these four major projects.

The trend of business with sports car maker Porsche, 

one of LEONI’s long-standing customers for wiring sys-

tems, was positive in 2005. LEONI is exclusive supplier for 

the 911 and Boxster models as well as for the new Cayman 

sports coupe, which premiered at the 2005 International 

Business and underlying conditions

Motor Show (IAA) in Frankfurt. For the Cayenne, too, 

LEONI has been supplying part of the electric wiring 

system since 2005.

There was also a remarkable increase in 2005 in the 

sales to manufacturers of cars in the ultimate luxury class, 

particularly to Bentley and Aston Martin.

Compared with the previous year, sales were down 

in 2005 only with customers Audi and VW. The reason 

for this was a technical change to the wiring for the VW 

models Golf and Passat. This decline was expected and 

therefore taken adequately into account in planning for 

the 2005 financial year.

Not budgeted for, however, was the insolvency in 

April 2005 of LEONI’s customer MG Rover in England.  

As an immediate consequence, this incurred charges of  

€ 7.5 million comprising mainly write-down of receivables 

and inventories. Another € 5.0 million had to be spent on 

restructuring LEONI’s facility in Newcastle-under-Lyme, 

England.

In the past financial year, LEONI significantly ex-

panded its business with commercial vehicle manufac-

turers and automotive component suppliers, which has 

operated on an international basis since 2004. Particularly 

the Caterpillar and Cummins companies placed significant 

additional orders in 2005. In addition to North America 

and Europe, LEONI will in the future supply both of these 

customers in Asia and South America as well. Expansion 

of the facility in Hermosillo, Mexico by adding another 

building as well as expanding the plant in Arad, Romania, 

turning it into a production centre for commercial vehicle 

wiring systems, is related to these orders. Preparations 

for construction of a third building in Hermosillo, Mexico 

have meanwhile started. This facility will in the future be 

producing wiring systems for BMW vehicles that are made 

in the United States.
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In total, the Wiring Systems Division generated external 

sales of € 879.4 million in the 2005 financial year. This 

corresponds to a year-on-year gain of about 29 percent. 

It also exceeds by 3.5 percent the forecast of about € 850 

million issued in the 2004 annual report. 

As expected, earnings also reflect the increased pro- 

ductivity at the new production facilities and the sig- 

nificantly higher volume of sales. Fiscal 2005 earnings 

before interest and taxes (EBIT) came to € 61.4 million  

(€ 29.8 million in the previous year), thereby matching the 

target EBIT margin of 7.0 percent. What should be taken 

into consideration in this respect is that the insolvency of 

customer MG Rover alone meant that a write-down of  

€ 7.5 million had to be absorbed in this result. 

The division set up regional competence centres in 

Anting and Shanghai, China, in Detroit and Duncan in the 

USA as well as in France and Germany, which will look 

after LEONI customers locally, to achieve further growth 

of the wiring systems business in the years ahead.

A Design Centre for wiring system components, 

which is focused on developing plastic components, was 

set up in 2005 in Haan near Düsseldorf to further enhance 

development expertise and provide a prudent extension 

to the product range.

The number of employees stood at 25,729 on 31 

December 2005. Compared with the number on 31 De-

cember 2004 (24,488), this represents an increase by 1,241 

employees or of about five percent. There were significant 

increases in staffing especially at the facilities in Egypt, 

Romania (Bistrita), the Ukraine and China. Almost 97 

percent of the Wiring Systems Division’s workforce was 

employed outside Germany.

With expansion of the new production facilities and 

fitting existing facilities with production equipment for 

new products having been virtually completed in 2004, 

capital expenditure in Wiring Systems Division was scaled 

back as planned compared with the previous year. The 

fiscal 2005 figure was € 40.5 million, down by almost one 

third from the previous year’s € 60.4 million.

Entry into the passenger car and light truck business 

in the United States was a success with three models: one 

BMW model and two General Motors models with hybrid 

power.

In China, LEONI has strengthened its operations in 

the Shanghai region. The Wiring Systems Division was 

represented in the country with its LEONI Wiring Systems 

(Changzhou) facility. In 2005, work commenced on build-

ing an additional facility in Shanghai, where LEONI already 

had a wiring system development centre. The new facil-

ity is to supply the Chinese carmakers SAIC (Shanghai 

Automotive Industry Corporation). Starting in 2007, this 

company intends at that location to manufacture a new 

saloon car developed on the basis of the Rover 75. LEONI’s 

Changchun facility in northern China makes engine har-

nesses for FAW/VW, and in Liuzhou, southern China the 

company produces cable harnesses for General Motors.

Business and underlying conditions
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W i r e & C ab l e D i v is ion

Pr o duc t  r ange

In addition to the automotive industry and its component 

suppliers, the Wire & Cable Division supplies mainly to 

electrical equipment manufacturers (household applianc-

es and power tools), to the IT and communications market 

as well as to the capital goods industry. The latter in turn 

breaks down into numerous small but thus lucrative niche 

markets that require technologically sophisticated prod-

ucts. It is the declared aim of LEONI’s strategy to assume a 

leading role in these niche markets.

The division does not, on the other hand, supply to 

volume markets for high voltage cable used for power 

supply, telecommunications cable for landline networks 

or standard installation cables for wiring buildings.

Just as the market is multi-faceted, so is LEONI’s prod-

uct range. It comprises particularly bare, tin-plated, silver-

plated, gold-plated and nickel-plated copper wires and 

strands for the cable and components industry, automo-

tive cables for the car manufacturing, power cords and ca-

ble harnesses for electric household appliances and tools, 

as well as copper and glass fiber-based data cables for 

communications and data networks in both industrial and 

office environments. One of LEONI’s particular strengths 

lies in developing and manufacturing tailor-made special 

cables, which are made to order and ideally matched to 

their respective intended use in terms of their mechani-

cal and electrical properties. LEONI is one of the global 

market leaders in this field. This applies especially to cable 

for automation engineering and robotics, for medical 

equipment, machinery and plant engineering as well as 

professional audio/video technology. LEONI operates not 

only as a supplier of bulk cable here, but also provides 

ready-to-connect assembled cables and conductors as 

well as complete, ready-to-fit cable systems.

Business p e r f or mance

Given the large variety of products and the in some cases 

very different markets, the business of the Wire & Cable 

Division needs to be looked in a more differentiated way. 

In some of the key markets, such as electromechanical, 

electric and electronic components as well as electri-

cal equipments, demand was flat at a low level in 2005. 

Heavy pressure on prices and relatively tough conditions 

were the consequence. 

The largest market – as it is for the Wiring Systems 

Division – is the automotive industry with its component 

suppliers. The major customers for LEONI automotive 

cables include above all cable harness and wiring system 

manufacturers that operate on an international scale, and 

some of which are in direct competition with LEONI’s Wir-

ing Systems Division. With a global production combine 

and a consistently high standard of quality, LEONI is the 

ideal supplier for these companies. LEONI makes automo-

tive cables in Germany, Hungary, Poland and Turkey, as 

well as in Mexico and China. Capacity was expanded 

substantially especially at the facility in Poland in the 

2005 financial year. By its own assessment, LEONI is one of 

world’s largest providers in this market segment. Its prod-

ucts range from round, weight-optimised standard cables 

to flat automotive cables (LEONI exFC®) and through to 

high-temperature cables for engine compartment wiring. 

All in all, the trend in the automotive cables business was 

Key figures Wire & Cable 2005 2004 Change

External sales € 668.6 million € 567.1 million 17.9 %

EBIT € 42.0 million € 27.8 million 51.1 %

EBIT / sales 6.3 % 4.9 % —

Capital expenditure * € 21.7 million € 16.8 million 29.2 %

Employees (as at 12/31) 6,756 5,331 26.7 %

* Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets
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very encouraging, especially so in eastern Europe and 

in the NAFTA countries of Mexico and the United States. 

Only in China did business involving automotive cables 

prove to be unsatisfactory in the past year. Demand did 

not keep pace here with the overall trend in the country’s 

economy.

The electrical equipment market, to which LEONI 

supplies primarily ready-to-fit, assembled power cords, 

has for some years been influenced by two principal fac-

tors: Important LEONI customers who are based in Europe 

are relocating their production to foreign countries – in 

the case of small electrical appliances to Asia/Pacific and 

to eastern Europe in the case of large appliances – and are 

buying the required parts locally. Moreover, the market 

is, due to years of stagnation and overcapacity, subject to 

huge pressure on prices that fully translates through to 

the component suppliers. LEONI responded to this trend 

in good time, expanding its facilities in China accordingly 

and having started in 2005 to relocate its production from 

Belgium primarily to lower-cost Slovakia, to LEONI Slowa-

kia in Nova Dubnica. This relocation and the redundancies 

that were consequently necessary in Belgium incurrent 

non-recurring expenses of about € 4.0 million. With the 

aim of improving the earnings situation further, manu-

facturing of products that add more value, namely cable 

harnesses for clothes dryers, dishwashers and washing 

machines (= white goods) was also set up with great suc-

cess in Slovakia in 2005. Overall, the division made gains 

in the second half of 2005 and thus met its sales target 

despite the unfavourable underlying conditions.

LEONI Fiber Optics GmbH’s business involving fiber 

optic cables, which are used in networks for data trans-

mission as well as in the industrial environment, also did 

well. After a relatively weak start, sales picked up sig-

nificantly in the second half of the year, thanks to which 

expectations for the year as a whole were met. Special 

glass fibers for endoscopic, spectroscopic and illumina- 

tion applications, which are made at LEONI Prinz Fiber 

Optics GmbH in Stromberg, are likewise selling well. This 

company has been a member of the LEONI Group since  

2 February 2005, having emerged from the takeover of 

the fiber technology business segment of PRINZ Optics 

GmbH, Stromberg.

With its acquisition of Stolberg-based Kerpen GmbH 

& Co. KG, which took legal effect on 1 October 2005, 

LEONI succeeded in re-entering the copper data cables 

business in 2005. The business had been abandoned at 

the end of 2004 because the market had been flat for 

years and because LEONI’s existing production capacity 

had been too limited to operate at economically viable 

lot sizes with competitive pricing. Kerpen presented the 

opportunity in 2005 to acquire one the European market 

leaders in the field of copper data cables. This strong posi-

tion in the market and a copper date cable market that is 

increasingly recovering were key reasons for the takeover. 

Furthermore, Kerpen generated about 50 percent of its 

sales in the industrial project business, a very promising 

niche market that LEONI had previously not served. This 

involves primarily special cables for measuring, control-

ling and regulating petrochemical industrial plant. Kerpen 

generated total sales of about € 115 million in 2005. Once 

the German Federal Cartel Office had approved the takeo-

ver, LEONI was able to first consolidate the company on 31 

December 2005. It has thus been contributing to the sales 

of LEONI Group since 1 January 2006.

Special cables and complete cable systems for a 

wide variety of different applications in the industrial 

area constitute a particularly important product category 

for LEONI Group. In contrast to standard cables and 
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conductors, which are usually made in large quantities to 

pertinent national and international standards, this area 

involves tailor-made products adding a comparatively 

large amount of value, which are developed and made to 

order for a very specific purpose. LEONI considers itself 

to be one of the global market leaders in this special 

field. The output is destined mainly for the capital goods 

market. This includes machinery and plant engineering, 

automation and motion control engineering, robotics, 

medical equipment, shipbuilding and marine offshore 

engineering, rolling stock engineering, traffic engineering 

and communications technology. 

All in all, the special cables segment, underpinned by 

a slight recovery of business in the capital goods market 

and by stepped-up sales activity, performed very well in 

2005. For instance, LEONI Special Cables GmbH, based in 

Friesoythe, succeeded in March in taking an order from 

Siemens worth an overall figure of € 100 million, which 

stretches over a period of five years and covers supply of 

assembled special cables for motion control equipment. 

The facility in Friesoythe displayed a very positive trend in 

other respects as well. Its other product groups comprise 

cable systems for major medical apparatus such as x-ray 

machines, computerised tomographs and dental treat-

ment centres, high-speed data cables enabling transmis-

sion at gigahertz rates as well as special coaxial cables for 

mobile communications. The latter are also being very 

successfully produced in China. The production of aviation 

and aerospace cables in Friesoythe commenced in 2004 

was further expanded in 2005. The plant in Friesoythe has 

been certified to DIN EN 9100 as an audited supplier to 

the aviation and aerospace industry. This approval applies 

to the entire aviation and aerospace industry in Europe. 

Efforts are now concentrated on marketing of what is a 

relatively new product group at LEONI.

In order to serve the promising niche market encompass-

ing rolling stock engineering even better in the future 

with an almost complete range of special cables, LEONI 

set up a joint venture with the cable manufacturer Studer 

Draht- und Kabelwerke AG of Däniken, Switzerland. LEONI 

holds 70 percent of the equity in the company, which 

bears the name LEONI & STUDER Transportation Systems 

GmbH and is based in Röttenbach, Germany. The joint 

venture company develops, manufactures and sells ready-

to-fit and ready-to-connect cable systems for rolling stock 

manufacturing. These products include connection cables 

between the locomotive and the individual carriages, 

as well as the internal wiring of the carriages. While 

LEONI provides its special cables and assembly expertise, 

STUDER contributes its know-how in terms of cable input 

materials, an aspect that is especially important in this 

field demanding high standards of safety.

It is LEONI’s declared strategy to offer its customers 

cable systems that are as complete as possible and ready 

to install. This is the aspect from which not only having 

set up the LEONI & STUDER Transportation Systems GmbH 

joint venture should be seen. In the field of robotics, too, 

LEONI entered a partnership in order to position itself as 

a systems supplier. Together with Cimlec Industries S.A., 

the French manufacturer of robot components, LEONI has 

set up advintec GmbH, based in Laatzen, Germany, and in 

which LEONI has a 50 percent shareholding. The compa-

ny‘s task is to develop, configure, assemble and maintain 

complete, ready-to-operate robot systems. LEONI had 

previously restricted itself to original fitting of robots with 

what are known as “dresspacks” and to maintaining the 

robots on the assembly lines. These dresspacks, which 

must be replaced from time to time because of the heavy 
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demands imposed on them, comprise control and power 

supply cables as well as – depending in the applica-

tion for which they are made – hoses for welding gases, 

compressed air or paint. With production facilities in 

Germany, France and the United States, an extensive sales 

and distribution network with subsidiaries in, among 

other places, Spain, the United Kingdom and Japan, LEONI 

is one of the market leaders in this field. With advintec, 

LEONI has now also joined the providers of complete 

robot systems.

A niche market in which LEONI had previously not 

been active is crane manufacturing as well as commercial 

and special vehicle manufacturing. The latter is character-

ised especially by special superstructures, which in turn 

represent a separate system. Among others, these include 

mobile cranes, fire-fighting vehicles, construction site and 

pit vehicles, heavy-duty transport vehicles and agricul-

tural machinery such as combine harvesters and other 

crop-harvesting vehicles. What they all have in common 

is that they are made in only small numbers, but have 

elaborate and highly complex wiring. With its acquisition 

of neumatic Elektronik + Kabeltechnik GmbH & Co. KG 

in Ulm and its affiliate neumatic cz s.r.o. in Turnov, Czech 

Republic in June 2005, LEONI has now closed this gap.

The markets for LEONI’s wire business plotted 

different trends in 2005. On average, LEONI’s produc-

tion of wires and strands for other cable manufacturers 

enjoyed a good workload. This applied especially to the 

Bad Kötzting facility in Germany and to LEONI Temco 

Ltd. in England. The emphasis here lay particularly on 

special products that are not under the same tremendous 

price pressure as conventional, standard products. Less 

satisfactory was the demand for highly flexible copper 

stranded and braided conductors, which are needed 

above all for electromechanical and electric components 

such as switches, thyristors, fuses and carbon brushes. 

This affected the Company’s plant in Weissenburg and 

its US subsidiary LEONI Wire Inc. Both companies were 

compelled to adjust their staffing.

All told, the Wire & Cable Division generated encour-

aging sales growth from € 567.1 million in the previous 

year to € 668.6 million in fiscal 2005 despite difficult 

market conditions in some areas. This equates to an 

increase of almost 18 percent, of which about six percent 

is attributable to the further year-on-year rise in the price 

of copper.

The increase in capital expenditure from € 16.8 mil-

lion in the previous year to € 21.7 million in fiscal 2005 is 

due mainly to expansion of capacity. For instance, there 

was expansion of the production of automotive cables 

at the facility in Poland and of coaxial cables in Slovakia. 

The special cables assembly operation in Slovakia was 

also substantially enlarged. In Germany too, considerable 

funds were spent on capacity expansion and rationalisa-

tion. This applies particularly to the facilities in Friesoythe 

and Roth. In Roth, for instance, work commenced in 2005 

on a new, especially powerful plastics treatment line.



Business and underlying conditions

Pr o c ur e me nt

The cost of sales, which also includes the cost of materials, 

rose virtually in line with sales in 2005, i.e. by 23.6 percent 

from € 981.5 million in the previous year to € 1,212.8 mil-

lion. 

The price of copper, which is set at the London Metal 

Exchange (LME), rose by an annual average of about 30 

percent in 2005 to € 3.07 per kg (from € 2.36 per kg in the 

previous year). In fiscal 2003 the average had still stood 

at € 1.72 per kg. The driving force behind this sharp rise 

in the price is the aggravating shortage of copper on the 

world market. Particularly the booming Chinese market 

and the prospering economies in eastern Europe are 

absorbing large quantities of this nonferrous metal, which 

is required above all in the construction industry (pipes 

and plates). Thanks to corresponding supply agreements, 

however, LEONI did not experience any sourcing bot-

tlenecks. Stepped-up use of forward purchasing enabled 

the Company to minimise the impact of fluctuation in the 

price of copper on earnings. Moreover, it is in most cases 

possible to pass the price of copper on to customers by 

way of corresponding offsetting models.

Key elements in the plastics used to make insulation 

for cables and conductors (polyvinyl chloride, poly-

urethane and polyethylene) are derived from crude oil. 

Yet despite further increases in the price of crude oil in the 

course of 2005, the annual average prices for insulation 

material remained relatively constant compared with the 

previous year.

The procurement volume in the Wiring Systems  

Division increased, because of the growth in sales, by 

28.6 percent in 2005, from € 340 million to approximately 

€ 450 million. Savings targets were met despite difficult 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) were up from  

€ 27.8 million in fiscal 2004 to € 42.0 million in fiscal 2005, 

equating to an increase of more than 50 percent. Better 

capacity utilisation at most of the cable facilities played 

a key role in this respect. There was also a significant 

increase in sales of products that add more value. What 

should also be taken into consideration is that the roughly 

two-year long restructuring of the wire business was 

completed at the beginning of 2005 and that amalgamat-

ing the Wire and Cable divisions yielded the desired cost 

savings.

Compared with the previous year (5,331 employ-

ees), the workforce of the Wire & Cable Division grew to 

6,756 on 31 December 2005. This considerable increase of 

about 27 percent is attributable primarily to takeover of 

Stolberg-based Kerpen GmbH & Co. KG, which was first 

consolidated just before year-end on 31 December 2005. 

This added 638 employees to the total. Kerpen will have 

begun to contribute to sales from 1 January 2006. The 

takeover of Ulm-based neumatic Elektronik + Kabeltech-

nik GmbH & Co. KG and its Czech affiliate added another 

186 employees. There was notable enlargement of the 

workforces at the cable and assembly facilities in Slovakia, 

with combined growth by more than 500 employees. 

There was also more recruitment at the four wire and 

cable facilities in China.

G r o u p  M a n a g e m e n t  R e p o r t ��



��

Capital expenditure  

by business division

  Wiring Systems 65 % 

  Wire & Cable 35 %

conditions in the source markets. There are no signs for 

2006 either of any easing in the raw material situation (oil 

price, copper price, precious metals, etc.). The savings tar-

gets imposed by the OEMs are attainable only by way of 

constructive collaboration among all the parties involved 

in the product creation process, namely the suppliers and 

customers.

The Company enhanced its procurement on the 

international level to take account of the increasing glo-

balisation of the source markets. In addition to re-organis-

ing Global Purchasing in the Wiring Systems Division by 

centralising responsibility for strategic procurement in 

Kitzingen, purchasing activity in Asia and the NAFTA area 

was further expanded with the office in Anting, China 

and the competence centre in Detroit. In collaboration 

with the respective project teams, purchasing in these 

countries is contributing, by local sourcing and based on 

the LEONI standards, to setting up supplier management 

of equal quality to that in Europe. 

C apit al  e x p e nditur e

Total capital expenditure amounted to € 87.0 million in 

2005 and was thus about nine percent below the previous 

year’s figure of € 95.7 million. There was, with a budgeted 

€ 65.0 million, about 18 percent less spending on prop-

erty, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets in 

2005 than in fiscal 2004 (€ 79.5 million). At € 58.6 million, 

capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment 

in the year under report exceeded depreciation of prop-

erty, plant and equipment (€ 51.7 million). In the Wiring 

Systems Division, capital spending was again focused 

particularly on the plants and production facilities in 

the Ukraine, Romania and in Slovakia as well as in Arad, 

Romania and Cairo, Egypt. The Arad plant was restruc-

tured into the production centre for commercial vehicle 

wiring systems. In the Wire & Cable Division, capital 

spending on property, plant and equipment was directed 

primarily at expanding the two cable facilities in Slovakia, 

which produce coaxial cables and assembled cables, at 

the plant in Poland, which has extended its capacity for 

automotive cables, and at the German facilities in Roth 

and Friesoythe.

€ 22,0 million was spent on acquisitions and other 

investments, which is about 36 % more than in the previ-

ous year (€ 16.2 million). For the most part, this involved 

the prices paid in the 2005 financial year to acquire the 

Kerpen GmbH & Co. KG (in Stolberg) and neumatic Elek-

tronik + Kabeltechnik GmbH & Co. KG (Ulm) companies, 

as well as the investment made in the advintec GmbH 

(Laatzen) and L & S Transportation Systems GmbH (Röt-

tenbach) joint ventures.

Capital expenditure on intangible assets amounted to 

€ 6.5 million in 2005. The largest single item included in 

this is the cost of software required to run the IT systems 

in the LEONI Group.

Emp l oye es

On 31 December 2005 the Group employed 32,638 

people, i.e. 2,681 more than in the previous year (29,957). 

Facilities in eastern Europe, especially in the Ukraine, 

Romania and Poland as well as Slovakia, accounted for the 

majority of this growth. The number of employees in Ger-

many also increased by a total of 687 due to the acquired 

businesses and expansion of the facility in Friesoythe. As 

a result, the number of employees in Germany rose from 

3,011 in the previous year to 3,698 in fiscal 2005, which 

reduced slightly the proportion of employees outside Ger-

many from about 90 percent to just under 89 percent.

Business and underlying conditions



Employees 

by business division

  Wiring Systems 79 % 

  Wire & Cable 21 %

Employees by region

  Germany 12 % 

  EU (without Germany) 28 % 

  Eastern Europe 25 % 

  Africa 21 % 

  America 6 % 

  Asia 8 %

Particularly the eastern European facilities, in Stryj 

(Ukraine) and Ostrzezow (Poland) as well as in Bistrita 

(Romania), belonging to the Wiring Systems Division 

had to recruit more people with a view to the impend-

ing production start-ups for new car models. There was 

a significantly increase in personnel in line with the order 

situation at the production facilities in Egypt and China 

as well. Due to the insolvency of customer MG Rover and 

transfer of parts of the production from Romania to Egypt, 

the number employees at the facility in Arad was reduced 

by nearly 540 to 2,427. In total the Wiring Systems Divi-

sion had a workforce of 25,729 on 31 December 2005, up 

from 24,488 in the previous year and corresponding to an 

increase of about 5 percent.

The workforce of the Wire & Cable Division was up 

by 1,425 year on year as at the fiscal 2005 closing date to 

a total of 6,756 employees (5,331 in the previous year). 

The biggest increase of 638 employees was the result 

of the takeover of Kerpen GmbH & Co. KG., which was 

first consolidated on 31 December 2005. The acquisi-

tion of Ulm-based cable assembler neumatic Elektronik 

+ Kabeltechnik GmbH & Co. KG and its Czech affiliate 

added another 186 employees on 1 July 2005. Expansion 

of LEONI Special Cables in Friesoythe created 48 new jobs 

and expansion of the cable assembly facility in Slovakia 

added a further 165 jobs. In line with the overwhelmingly 

positive business performance, the capacity of the wire 

and cable facilities in China was increased further, with 

286 additional employees recruited.

The LEONI AG holding company employed 153 staff 

on 31 December 2005 (138 in the previous year).

LEONI was again among the “top employers in 

Germany” in the year under report. This reflects the 

statement in the Company‘s guiding principles that 

“LEONI offers its employees challenging, attractive jobs 

and advancement opportunities”. This is underpinned on 

the one hand by the exceptionally low staff turnover in 

Germany and, on the other hand, by a still large number 

of unsolicited job applications.

The management development system introduced 

a few years ago is now paying off more and more. The 

Company is consequently able to fill the majority of its 

management positions from among its own workforce. 

This provides staff with the prospect of advancement and 

simultaneously reduces recruitment costs. 

Based on the success of this system in Germany, 

LEONI has now stepped up its use internationally and is 

thus contributing to drawing talented people in other 

countries to the Company. Having career advancement 

courses with participants from several countries improves 

their intercultural knowledge and results in an exchange 

of ideas and cohesion within the Company beyond na-

tional boundaries.

In order to be prepared for the shortage of qualified 

staff forecast for the years ahead on the basis of demo-

graphic data, LEONI again in the year under report partici-

pated in a large number of higher education and graduate 

fairs, and trained young people in numbers well more 

than required within the Company. Moreover, to support 

the federal government’s training initiative in conjunction 

with trade and industry, the Company offered places to 

gain entry-level qualifications.

The Management Board of LEONI AG wishes at this 

point to express its gratitude to all employees for their 

commitment. Without this it would not have been possi-

ble to achieve the major success of the year under report. 

Thanks go also to the employee representatives for their 

constructive and purposeful collaboration.

Business and underlying conditions
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Subsidiar ies  and i nves tme nt s

LEONI continued to resolutely pursue its strategy of  

growing not only from within, but also through targeted 

acquisition of and investment in other businesses, in the 

2005 financial year, applying this particularly in the Wire & 

Cable Division.

On 10 January 2005, LEONI acquired all the equity in 

the Spanish sales and distribution company Representa-

ciones Europeas Manich S.L. (REM), which had already 

been working for LEONI, for € 220,000. REM sells LEONI 

products on the Iberian Peninsula. 

On 2 February 2005, LEONI acquired the fiber tech-

nology arm of PRINZ Optics GmbH in Stromberg for € 1.6 

million, first consolidating the business as LEONI Prinz 

Fiber Optics GmbH at the same time. The new company 

contributed about € 2 million to consolidated sales in 

2005. It employs twelve staff, who make special glass fib-

ers for endoscopy, spectroscopy and lighting technology.

Effective 1 July 2005, LEONI acquired, at a price of  

€ 3.6 million, all the shares in neumatic Elektronik +  

Kabeltechnik GmbH & Co. KG, based in Ulm, and in neu-

matic Verwaltungs-GmbH, likewise of Ulm, as well as 90 

percent of the shares in the Czech company neumatic cz 

s.r.o., based in Turnov. These companies employed 186 

staff at the end of 2005, developing and producing tailor-

made cable harnesses and dedicated electronic solutions 

for commercial and special vehicles like fire-fighting 

vehicles, heavy-duty transport vehicles, construction site 

and pit vehicles, agricultural harvesting machines and 

mobile cranes as well as stationary cranes. The ready-

made wiring for vehicles and pieces of equipment, which 

are usually manufactured in small numbers, is highly 

sophisticated and elaborate, requires special expertise 

and closes what was until the takeover a gap in LEONI’s 

product portfolio. The two companies together generated 

sales of € 10.1 million in 2005.

The largest takeover was the acquisition of all the 

shares in Kerpen GmbH & Co. KG, based on Stolberg, and 

in Kerpen Verwaltungs-GmbH, likewise of Stolberg, at a 

price of € 10.1 million. Kerpen develops and distributes 

copper and glass fiber-based cable and systems for data 

transmission both office and residential buildings, as well 

as in industrial environments. The takeover enabled LEONI 

to re-enter the copper data cables business, which it had 

abandoned a year or so earlier. The decision to withdraw 

was made at the time because the existing capacity was 

not enough for commercially viable production and a 

market leading position was not attainable from within at 

justifiable expense. With Kerpen, LEONI has advanced to 

being one of the market leaders in this segment. Special 

cables for large-scale projects, especially in the petro-

chemicals industry, are another of Kerpen’s mainstay 

businesses. For the most part, this involves all the cables 

required for controlling, measuring and regulating major 

industrial plant such as refineries. This business, in which 

LEONI had not previously been active, requires not only 

special cable-related expertise but also logistics know-

how. The combination of this expertise with the financial 

resources of LEONI should unleash further sales potential. 

Kerpen generated total sales of about € 115 million in 

2005. None of this is yet included in LEONI’s 2005 consoli-

dated sales because Kerpen was not consolidated until 

31 December 2005 after the German Federal Cartel Office 

had approved the takeover. Kerpen employed 638 people 

worldwide at that time. 

The French company Usine Gallia S.A., which operates 

in the textiles segment of classic Lyonese wares and was 

of minor significance to the Group as a whole, was sold.

Business and underlying conditions



Env i r onme nt al  manage me nt

Neither the materials required for making LEONI products, 

nor the manufacturing processes themselves may be 

deemed critical in environmental terms. Environmen-

tally harmful operating materials, which include drawing 

emulsions in particular, constitute the exception. Even so, 

LEONI takes environmental considerations and preserva-

tion of natural resources very seriously. As long ago as 

1995, the Management Board had laid down its thoughts 

on this issue in an environmental policy that is binding on 

all employees and is also accessible to all business part-

ners via the Company’s website. LEONI’s environmental 

management deals primarily with such issues as the con-

sumption of energy, raw materials and supplies, emission 

of fumes and noise, avoidance of waste and waste dis-

posal as well as making employees and suppliers aware of 

environmental concerns. LEONI has done pioneering work 

especially in treating environmentally critical absorb-

ents, such as emulsions and solutions, by substantially 

extending the useful life of these lubricants and coolants 

essential to the wire drawing process through filtration 

and electrolysis as well as by reducing to a minimum the 

no longer usable residual quantities by means of vacuum 

evaporation. 

The German plants in Roth, Weissenburg, Bad 

Kötzting and Friesoythe as well as the Hungarian plant in 

Hatvan, all of which belong to the Wire & Cable Division, 

have been EN ISO 14001 certified since 2003. The plant in 

Bad Kötzting is also certified pursuant to Directive (EC) Nr. 

76/2001 (EMAS II).

In the Wiring Systems Division, the plants in Arad 

Romania), Cairo (Egypt), Guimaraes (Portugal) and Her-

mosillo (Mexico) are also EN ISO 14001 certified.

Res earc h and D eve l op me nt

As innovations form the basis for growth and assuring the 

future, research and development has always had high 

priority at LEONI. In order to provide fresh sales oppor-

tunities in the future, the LEONI AG holding company in 

August 2002 set up the Corporate Research and Devel-

opment department (German abbr. ‘ZFE’) in the Nurem-

berg district of Langwasser in addition to the develop-

ment departments of the divisions and to Intedis GmbH & 

Co. KG in Würzburg. Being largely independent from the 

day-to-day operations of the divisions, this department 

focuses on searching for new technologies and problem 

solutions in order thereby also to be able to shape the 

more distant future in good time and to safeguard LEONI’s 

ability to compete over the long term.

In the 2005 financial year, ZFE continued its work on 

the three longer-term development projects embarked 

on back in 2002. Considerable progress was again made 

in 2005. The LEONI Flamecon® project involves applying 

coatings that can conduct electricity onto a wide variety 

of materials such as plastic, glass, stone and ceramic 

surfaces. These layers can be used both for bonding and 

conducting electricity as well as for heating purposes. 

This presents promising opportunities especially in the 

areas of sanitary fittings and automotive component 

manufacture, which resulted in initial trial orders from a 

well-known mirror manufacturer in 2005. In addition, a 

way was found in 2005 to produce, using a further refined 

process known as “plasma printing”, extremely fine con-

ductor channels in the area of 200 µm. In this sub-project, 

which is supported by the German Federal Ministry for 

Education and Research, ZFE will test the feasibility and 

translation for industrial use. The Association of German 

Engineers (VDI) is monitoring the project.

Business and underlying conditions

G r o u p  M a n a g e m e n t  R e p o r t ��



�0

The second major research project, involving the devel-

opment of currentless, pressure-sensitive sensors and 

switches and based on polymer optical fiber, yielded 

further promising applications in 2005. Having in 2004 

already sold a licence for optical pressure sensors to a US 

company, which intends to manufacture a highly sensitive 

obstruction sensor for car windows based on this technol-

ogy, LEONI developed this obstruction sensor further to 

function on sliding doors and tailgates. The first working 

model was displaying in September 2005 on the stand of 

a well-known German automotive component supplier at 

the International Motor Show (IAA) in Frankfurt. The prin-

ciple behind the switch, which emits neither sparks nor 

electromagnetic impulses, also makes it ideal for environ-

ments at risk of explosion or that are sensitive to EMC. 

A Japanese automotive component supplier has recog-

nised this and is using the LEONI technology to equip 

steering wheels. Here too functional models were first 

exhibited at the IAA 2005. Finally, a German domestic ap-

pliance manufacturer began in 2005 to develop a current-

less operating panel for dishwashers with LEONI’s help.

A key element in the manufacture of pressure-sensi-

tive sensors are polymer optical fibers, which are also re-

quired for production of fiber optic cables and that LEONI 

has so far had to buy in. Development work was therefore 

started in 2004 on a trial system to produce polymer opti-

cal fibers that consist of a highly flexible material, which, 

among other areas of application, can also be used in a 

temperature range of interest to the automotive industry. 

The pilot line, set up of which began the second quarter 

of 2005, provided results within a very short space of time 

that exceeded all expectations with respect to aimed-for 

quality and run length. The line will in 2006 be rebuilt in 

Business and underlying conditions

such a way that in can run under series production condi-

tions. Its relocation to a LEONI production facility is being 

looked into.

The third major research project involves fully auto-

mated fitting by a robot of a cable harness made on the 

basis of flat conductors to car doors. This feasibility study, 

which has the acronym “IMPKW” and in 2005 was again 

promoted with funding from the Bavarian Research Foun-

dation, made further progress and significantly reduced 

the installation cycle time to less than 20 seconds. Two 

other partners from the component industry are assisting 

in the project, which is scheduled to run until April 2006, 

and two carmakers based in Bavaria are watching it.

Wiring system concepts for vehicles with hybrid 

powertrains (combination of electric motor and combus-

tion engine) are another priority of LEONI’s research and 

development work. Based on the findings to date, LEONI 

will in the future also be able to offer its customers solu-

tions for this alternative form of and increasingly used type 

of powertrain. 

The Wiring Systems Division further enhanced its 

expertise in the development of wiring system compo-

nents. For instance, a development centre focusing on car 

security systems and power distributors was in 2005 set 

up in Haan near Düsseldorf. Here a team of development 

engineers is working on production concepts for such 

components, which are of great importance to wiring sys-

tems. The Wiring Systems Division’s Competence Centre at 

the Kitzingen facility is also involved in this work.

The focus of the Wiring Systems Division’s develop-

ment department is on supporting LEONI customers with 

solutions for their current series production. This involves, 

among other things, components and tools for the devel-



opment of which the Company has a modern rapid-pro-

totyping system, and also new materials and supplies, 

automated fitting of fuse and relay boxes, optical data 

transmission and pre-formed cable harnesses as well as 

foamed components.

In the 2005 financial year, bonding technology for 

battery cables with aluminium conductors was improved 

to the point that it passed without qualification the tests 

for which some LEONI customers had called. This is sig-

nificant because aluminium battery cables are on the one 

hand increasingly prevailing in vehicle manufacturing due 

to their substantially lower weight compared with copper 

and, on the other hand, because a permanent bond with 

aluminium is difficult owing to the special properties of 

the material. 

The steadily rising temperatures in the engine com-

partment, which are the result of the increasing density 

of components and encapsulation from the outside, are 

presenting carmakers with particular problems. A special 

plastic foam that can withstand temperatures up to 150 °C 

was developed in 2005 to resolve this temperature prob-

lem. This foam can be used to manufacture pre-formed 

cable harnesses for use particularly in engine compart-

ments.

With the aim of solving this temperature problem 

even better in the future, the development department 

at the Kitzingen facility studied in depth the subject of 

thermal simulation and acquired additional know-how. 

Using corresponding software and hardware, the effects 

of temperature on particular areas and components of 

a wiring system can now be simulated at an early stage, 

enabling improvements for series production to be found 

and making a major contribution to vehicle safety.

The task of Intedis GmbH & Co. KG in Würzburg, a devel-

opment company set up in 2000 together with the West-

phalia-based automotive electronics and lighting special-

ist Hella KGaA Hueck & Co., is to devise new wiring system 

concepts and solutions that will assist in mastering the 

mounting complexity owing to the steadily increasing 

proportion of electronics in cars. The “TopCad” software, 

developed by Intedis, was successfully used for several 

customers in 2005 to conduct comprehensive architec-

ture-comparing system analyses and thus to determine 

ideal solutions for the respective system architecture and 

the functional units it contains.

Having hitherto been focused primarily on the pas-

senger car segment, Intedis extended its development 

work to the commercial vehicle segment in 2005 and 

worked on devising new kinds of commercial vehicle wir-

ing system architectures that have met with great interest 

among some commercial vehicle manufacturers. This de-

velopment drive is part of a strategy aimed at significantly 

expanding LEONI’s share of the market in the commercial 

vehicle sector.

For the Wiring Systems Division, Intedis contributed, 

in addition to the Opel Astra project, to developing the 

wiring system for the new Opel Zafira. The highly success-

ful start to series production of the wiring system for this 

vehicle model took place in 2005.

Like the Wiring Systems Division, the Wire & Cable 

Division focused in the year under report on developing 

heat-resistant insulation materials for automotive cables 

that can withstand temperatures up to 150 °C. Cables of 

this kind are fitted not only in the engine compartment, 

but also near brakes and the exhaust system. ABS cables 

resistant up to 150 °C were developed for this purpose.

Business and underlying conditions
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Earnings plotted the targeted, very good uptrend on the 

previous year in fiscal 2005 thanks in both divisions to 

the significantly increased sales and the stepped-up sales 

of products that add more value. In addition to expand-

ing operating activity, the Company in 2005 realised the 

expected return from its major capital expenditure on 

four large-scale projects in the Wiring Systems Division. 

Consolidated earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 

rose from € 56.8 million to € 102.8 million, equating to an 

increase of 81 percent.

Both reductions in selling prices and increases in 

wages and salaries were more than offset by ongoing 

improvement and earnings contributions from addi-

tional sales. Furthermore, the MG Rover insolvency and 

a number of other restructuring measures have been 

absorbed.

Particularly the negative results in the UK – due to 

MG Rover’s insolvency – as well as further restructur-

ing charges incurred in the UK and Belgium resulted in a 

significant increase in the tax rate from 33 percent in the 

previous year to 36.9 percent in fiscal 2005. Net income 

more than doubled year on year, from € 27.7 million to  

€ 56.1 million.

E a r n i n g s  s i t u a t i o n

Heat-resistant cables with polypropylene insulation, suit-

able for the thermal class up to 125 °C, were developed 

specially for use in commercial vehicles. In addition, the 

existing LEONI Dacar® product line was extended with 

newly developed versions that boast outstanding electri-

cal properties despite a reduced diameter and lower 

weight.

At the Roth plant, staff moved into a completely new 

main laboratory, which has substantially improved the 

conditions for future development work. Work done in 

this lab, which has state-of-the-art analysis equipment, 

includes comprehensive materials analyses for the whole 

LEONI Group.

The wire business unit conducted successful gal-

vanisation trials with the cadmium-free copper alloy 

LEONI Histral® in 2005. It succeeded in silver-plating and 

nickel-plating this high-strength material, which provides 

additional application opportunities in cable technol-

ogy. Moreover, trials commenced in 2005 with bonding 

two metals in such a way that they produce a particularly 

lightweight conductor material ideally suited, for exam-

ple, to wiring aircraft.

As the wiring systems and associated components 

developed in previous years with respect to the major 

projects involving General Motors, DaimlerChrysler, 

BMW and Land Rover are in the meantime being mass-

produced and the related development work has been 

completed, there was a slight decline in spending on 

research & development in 2005. Group-wide, the 2005 

amount was € 41.9 million, which is five percent less than 

the previous year’s € 44.1 million. LEONI has 96 full-time 

staff in this area (55 in the previous year). Intedis GmbH & 

Co. KG employed 95 staff on 31 December 2005.

In total, LEONI Group applied for four patents and 

registered two utility models in 2005.

Business and underlying conditions
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Cash provided by operating activities was up by about 

one third from € 83.9 million in the previous year to  

€ 111.1 million in fiscal 2005. Capital spending amounted  

€ 83.7 million in 2005, which was offset by income of  

€ 1.8 million and thus works out to fiscal 2005 cash used 

for capital spending activity of € 81.9 million or about 

eight percent less than in the previous year. 

Cash outflow from financing activities amounted 

to € 8.1 million in 2005. This compares with an inflow in 

the previous year of € 88.2 million, which was directly 

related to the capital increase carried out in 2004. At that 

time, the capital increase provided the Group with funds 

amounting to € 122.1 million after accounting for issuing 

costs and the resultant tax effect. 

Net financial liabilities were up by € 6.9 million in 

2005. However, adjusting for the acquisitions produces 

a positive change in the net financial position of € 40 

million.

As in previous years, factoring was used to improve 

liquidity in 2005. On the balance sheet date, factoring 

reduced trade receivables by the amount of € 47.3 million 

(previous year: € 39.1 million). 

The Group uses interest swaps and interest caps to 

avoid the risk of changes in interest rates. These interest 

rate contracts hedge the risk of changes in interest rates 

on short and long-term borrowing requirements. The 

nominal volume of existing interest rate swaps on the bal-

ance sheet date was € 110.5 million (previous year:  

€ 107.8 million), while interest rate caps amounted to  

€ 18.0 million (previous year: € 22.0 million).

F i n a n c i a l  s i t u a t i o n

Currency hedging transactions are signed, especially in 

US dollars, sterling, Slovak crowns and Polish zloty, to 

rule out currency risks. On the balance sheet date, there 

were currency-hedging transactions amounting to € 98.1 

million (previous year: € 109.9 million), maturing within 

30 days.

LEONI did not even come close to needing to exhaust 

the credit lines available to it. To ensure liquidity, there 

exist short-term credit lines amounting to € 273.7 mil-

lion with terms up to twelve months. Of this, only € 30.3 

million was used on the balance sheet date. LEONI met 

its payment obligations in full, taking advantage of cash 

discounts.

Consolidated statement of cash flows 

(abridged version) in € ‘000

2005 2004

Cash provided by operating activities 111,071 83,923

Cash used for capital spending activities (81,923) (89,047)

Cash used for/provided by financing activities (8,069) 88,244

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 21,079 83,120

Cash and cash equivalents on December 31 114,110 91,228

Net financial position in € ‘000 2005 2004 Change

Cash and cash equivalents 114,110 91,228 22,882

Short-term financial liabilities (139,975) (42,292) (97,683)

Long-term financial liabilities (141,624) (209,502) 67,878

Net financial liabilities (167,489) (160,566) (6,923)

Financial situation
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The significant rise in the volume of business in 2005 

necessitated increases particularly in receivables and 

inventories, which drove up current assets by 55 percent 

year on year and total assets by 58 percent on the previ-

ous year’s figure in fiscal 2005. Accordingly, the propor-

tion of non-current assets declined from 45 percent of the 

total to 42 percent.

Current liabilities rose because a bond in the amount 

of € 75 million is repayable in 2006 as well as the growth 

in trade receivables related to the increase in business 

activity. 

The assets of LEONI Group in 2005 are summarised 

as follows:

Equity was up 17 percent to about € 427.2 million. The eq-

uity ratio nevertheless contracted from 42 percent in the 

previous year to 40 percent in fiscal 2005. This is due to a 

significantly larger amount of total assets (€ 1,053.4 mil-

lion) than in the previous year (€ 876.6 million), which is 

attributable mainly to expansion of business and initially 

consolidated subsidiaries. 

A s s e t  s i t u a t i o n

Asset and capital structure in € million 12/31/2005 % 12/31/2004 %

Current assets 615,727 58 478,477 55

Non-current assets 437,638 42 398,118 45

Assets 1,053,365 100 876,595 100

Current liabilities 396,499 38 237,517 27

Non-current liabilities 229,714 22 274,175 31

Equity 427,152 40 364,903 42

Total equity and liabilities 1,053,365 100 876,595 100

No events of particular significance have occurred since 

the balance sheet date that might have resulted in report-

ing assets, the financial situation or earnings differently. 

S u p p l e m e n t a r y  r e p o r t
Asset situation

Supplementar y repor t
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R isk Manage me nt Sy s te m

LEONI’s global business is inevitably associated with risks, 

which cannot entirely be ruled out despite all due dili-

gence. LEONI therefore has a systematic and efficient risk 

management system, which, in addition to the corporate 

risk managers, includes about 120 managers involved 

in the operations of all relevant business areas acting as 

risk monitors. With their help and a work flow-supported 

database, the existing risk potential is minimised as far as 

possible. 

Risk management is integrated in the existing plan-

ning, controlling and information systems of LEONI and 

covers all companies in the LEONI Group worldwide. This 

ensures that information from operative and strategic 

controlling is used to identify risks. A work flow-sup-

ported database serves the individuals responsible for risk 

management equally as a knowledgebase and as a means 

of tracing steps taken to deal with particular risks at any 

time. The data makes it possible to assess, monitor and 

manage identified risks. 

A unit that carries overall responsibility, and reports 

directly to the Management Board, is in charge of moni-

toring and coordinating the risk management process at 

head office. It also determines and describes the Group’s 

overall risk situation. To this end, a list of risks at Group 

level is updated once a year in risk management work-

shops with the people responsible for monitoring risk by 

sub-group and the likely range of fluctuation in operating 

risks is ascertained for the aggregate statement that looks 

ahead over the next five years. 

Our risk manager at head office ensures that the Man-

agement Board and the Supervisory Board are informed 

of key changes in the risk situation without delay.

R i s k  r e p o r t

Risk policy as set by the Management Board determines 

the activity of all people involved in the process of risk 

management. Dealing with risks on a regular basis and 

the obligation to report on them has sharpened the risk 

awareness of employees on all management levels. The 

overriding principle of our risk policy is to take advantage 

of existing opportunities, but only to accept the risks as-

sociated with the business activity if it can be expected to 

make an appropriate contribution to increasing enterprise 

value.

G r o u p  M a n a g e m e n t  R e p o r t ��
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Mar ke t r isk

LEONI depends to a large extent on the state of the 

market in the automotive sector. The automotive industry 

and its suppliers account for more than three quarters 

of consolidated sales. Business conditions in this sector 

therefore have a great influence on consolidated sales and 

earnings. 

Dependence on a small number of major custom-

ers constitutes a risk that the Wiring Systems Division 

is reducing by gaining new customers. The division has 

indeed succeeded in the past three years in placing its 

business on a much broader footing by extending its 

customer base. Among others, the Company gained BMW 

and some well-known commercial vehicle manufacturers 

as customers. 

Losing a customer could nevertheless have a large 

impact, even though there would be a fairly long lead-

time before the effect sets in because of the lengthy 

contract periods covering a particular model range. Even 

so, LEONI addresses this risk with extensive development 

work and the best possible service in terms of delivery, 

which results in establishing very close and stable cus-

tomer-supplier relationships. The growing trend in the 

automotive industry towards transferring development 

risks onto suppliers affects LEONI, too. LEONI and also 

Intedis GmbH & Co. KG, in which LEONI holds 50 percent 

of the shares, therefore rely, regardless of the constant 

cost pressure involved, on thorough and comprehensive 

monitoring procedures in their development projects. 

These are run under near real-life conditions and simulate 

all conceivable circumstances and conflict situations that 

may arise while operating a motor vehicle. This reduces 

the development risks to a minimum.

Pr o c ur e me nt r isk

Copper is the most important raw material for the 

products made by LEONI in all its divisions. The cost of 

materials therefore depends to a large extent in the global 

market price of copper, which is set at the London Metal 

Exchange among other places and is subject to significant 

fluctuation. Mostly, it is possible to pass on fluctuation 

in purchasing prices to LEONI’ customers, given agree-

ments to this effect, after a certain time lag. When there 

is a sharp increase in the price of copper, this time lag 

can exert a negative effect on LEONI’s earnings as at the 

closing date. Despite having hedged the price risk to a 

greater extent by way of futures contracts, there can be 

no assurance of fully levelling out fluctuation in the price 

of copper in all instances. 

The second major group of materials, which are used 

mainly in the Wiring Systems Division, comprises bonding 

systems consisting of plastic casings and metal contacts. 

These almost exclusively involve tool-specific compo-

nents, which are mostly procured from a single supplier 

because of customer specifications or for commercial 

reasons. The sharp increase in raw material prices could 

result in suppliers demanding higher prices and thus in 

higher prices to procure these particular input products. 

Short-term supply bottlenecks could likewise arise. 

Insulation materials such as PVC, polyurethane and 

polyethylene, which are used in the Wire & Cable Division, 

are another important group of raw materials. Their mar-

ket price depends very heavily on the price of crude oil as 

key agents are oil-derived. Existing supply agreements 

dampened the impact of the further sharp increase in the 

Risk repor t



price of crude oil in 2005. The price fluctuation described 

above could diminish earnings if LEONI were not in a posi-

tion to pass the resulting cost increases on to customers, 

or to offset them in other ways. 

Lo c ation r isk

LEONI has about 60 facilities in 23 countries. Policy on 

choice of location is based on the one hand on customers’ 

wishes and, on the other hand, on the constant pressure 

on prices and costs compelling LEONI to relocate produc-

tion to low-wage countries. This transfer means that 

buyers and customers now have to be supplied across 

several national boundaries. Moreover, LEONI is exposed 

to greater political risks in these producing countries. 

It would no longer be possible to immediately replace 

the production capacity of large facilities with up to 4,000 

employees in the event of force majeure. Just-in-time 

delivery, the single-source principle and customised cable 

harnesses aggravate this risk. The likelihood of such an 

occurrence can be rated as being very small. Owing to the 

size that it has attained, LEONI operates a large number of 

production facilities worldwide, which have spare capac-

ity as is prudent and also called for by the carmakers. In 

addition, preventative measures have been applied at all 

production facilities to reduce the likelihood of such an 

occurrence. These range from a round-the-clock guard 

service to extensive fire protection measures and largely 

earthquake-proof construction. Moreover, no LEONI facil-

ity is located in an area subject to above-average threat of 

earthquakes, flooding or other natural disasters.

Pe r s onne l  r isk

LEONI uses all the tools of modern recruitment marketing 

to enlist new employees. These include maintaining close 

contact with universities and attending specialist college 

forums, targeted job advertising concepts, a particularly 

meaningful recruitment page for applicants on LEONI’s 

website as well as promotional and information-providing 

events at our new facilities. In addition there are internal 

programmes to provide employees with further qualifica-

tions and aimed at integration, attractive remuneration 

schemes as well as benefits such as operating our own 

bus service for staff in the Ukraine.

IT  r isk

Running a company that operates on a global scale is 

only possible with the help of sophisticated IT systems. 

Furthermore, constant readiness to supply goods and 

services – especially to the automotive industry that 

frequently calls for either just-in-time or just-in-sequence 

delivery – depends on the IT systems and their data being 

available at all times. Serious disruption such as system 

outages or loss of data could threaten LEONI’s ability to 

supply, temporarily paralyse customers’ production and 

hence result in LEONI facing far-reaching claims for com-

pensation. LEONI therefore constantly works, in some in-

stances with the support of outside specialists, at optimis-

ing its IT set-up, both in terms of concept and operation. 

One example of this is a second, spare computer centre 

for emergency use completed in 2005, which has a direct 

fiber optic connection to LEONI’s group headquarters.

Risk repor t
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An IT security officer ensures, on the basis of a security 

policy that is binding throughout the Group, that IT 

security is given high priority in our Company, that the 

corresponding rules and regulations are adhered to and 

that our security systems are constantly improved.

Fi nanc ial  r isk

To back the plans for growth and the capital expenditure 

it entails, LEONI has received ample long-term loan com-

mitments from banks, mainly in the form of conventional 

lines of credit. LEONI has made provision to the extent 

that these loan commitments carry the risk of changes 

in interest rates by signing long-term interest swap and 

interest cap agreements.

LEONI currently sees no need to take action with 

respect to interest rate risk arising from short-term bor-

rowing requirements because it is expected, along with 

continuing to use only a small proportion of the credit 

lines, that interest rates will remain low in the short term.

Currency risks can never be dismissed in a group 

operating on an international scale. Based on constantly 

reviewed projections of exchange rates, LEONI hedge 

risks by means of suitable financing instruments where 

required. A currency committee that meets twice a 

month or ad hoc and which, in addition to the specialist 

department and operating-unit managers from the divi-

sions, also includes the risk management unit, identifies 

changes and decides on suitable hedging strategies. 

Along with the aforementioned hedging transac-

tions, LEONI takes advantage primarily of the option 

of netting foreign currency items within the Group. All 

measures together minimised substantially the effect of 

currency risk in 2005. The risk of bad debt loss also rises 

as a result of the economy’s subdued performance. LEONI 

addresses this risk of bad debt, which has further in-

creased, with its corporate receivables management and 

involving world’s largest credit insurer, which also ensures 

timely adjustment of credit limits. Despite these meas-

ures, the insolvency of a customer will incur unavoidable 

costs. Such costs will pertain mainly to non-recoverable 

receivables, customer-specific inventories that can no 

longer be used and possible expenses incurred by adjust-

ing capacity. 

LEONI applies a high degree of commercial diligence 

when acquiring businesses or committing to joint ven-

tures, and acquires holdings in other companies only after 

thorough examination. The purchase of equity interests 

nevertheless entails considerable business risk. 

Liabi l i t y  r isk

LEONI’s output is used primarily for technically sophisti-

cated products and equipment with high safety stand-

ards. LEONI is therefore exposed to product liability risks. 

These risks are minimised by taking effective measures 

as part of process safety and quality assurance. All plants 

are certified, depending on the customer group they 

supply, to either ISO 9001:2000 or to ISO/TS 16949:2002, 

and in some cases additionally to ISO 14001.  There is also 

insurance cover for warranty and product liability, which 

includes product recalls as well. A ban on heavy metal 

also came into effect with the EU End-of-Life Vehicle 

Directive, which is in force now and prescribes increased 

Risk repor t



proportions of passenger cars that are to be recycled 

and properly disposed of. Compliance with this directive 

depends on the correctness of the material data provided 

by suppliers and flawless functioning of the International 

Material Data System (IMDS). LEONI minimises the risk of 

receiving incorrect data from suppliers with its own mate-

rials data systems, a corporate parts management depart-

ment and by participating in the suppliers’ committee of 

the IMDS as a permanent member. 

 Environmental risks can virtually be ruled out 

because of the production methods used. As environ-

mentally harmful production materials constitute the 

exception, it is comparatively simple to take targeted, 

preventative measures and to take the corresponding care 

from the outset. 

O ve r al l  r isk e x p osur e

Business performance largely as forecast, apart from the 

insolvency of LEONI’s customer MG Rover, and assured 

long-term financing have further raised the capability of 

the Company to cope well even with larger-scale risks.

From today’s perspective, the risks described above 

are manageable and are not of a nature likely to threaten 

the Company’s continued existence. This is reflected in 

the result of risk aggregation, in which LEONI’s overall risk 

exposure is determined by using statistical methods. 

Risks that are not yet known to LEONI, or risks that 

are currently still deemed to be less significant, might also 

have a detrimental effect on LEONI.

Economic condit ions; 

p r osp e c t s  f or  the s e c tor

About two thirds of all German companies expect the 

pace of economic growth to pick up significantly in 

2006. Roughly 28 percent of companies even expect the 

upswing to continue in 2007. 47 percent of companies 

intend to spend more capital. These are the findings of a 

representative survey by the Ifo Institute. Most fore-

casts have been revised upwards in recent weeks. For 

instance, the Kiel-based Institute for World Economics 

(IfW) projects 1.5 percent economic growth. The Federal 

Association of German Industry (BDI) forecasts growth 

of between 1.5 and 1.8 percent, while Deutsche Bank 

expects GDP to grow by between 1.5 and 2.0 percent. 

Exports continue to be the growth driver, whereas 

consumer spending, which accounts for no less than 60 

percent of gross domestic product, is not showing any 

signs of growing in 2006 either. Significantly more growth 

in 2006 is forecast for the countries that are important 

to LEONI. According to a projection by the International 

Monetary Fund (IMF), gross domestic product will grow 

by 3.3 percent in the United States and, in China, probably 

again by more than nine percent.

LEONI also shares the assessment of economists 

for 2006. It is reasonable to expect the uptrend in the 

IT/communications sector and in the capital goods market 

(machinery and plant engineering, traffic engineering and 

medical equipment) to continue. The car industry should 

also continue to grow in 2006. According to figures of the 

German Association of the Automotive Industry (VDA), 

Fo r e c a s t Forecast
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the number of passenger cars produced in Germany 

in January 2006 was, at 425,400 vehicles, already five 

percent up on the same month one year earlier. The cable 

industry as a whole should also benefit from this favour-

able trend.

Pe r f or mance f or e c as t  by di v is ion

Given the strong growth in fiscal 2005, the Wiring Sys-

tems Division will post only slight sales growth in 2006. 

In return, the preconditions for further growth in 2007 

and thereafter will be met. The vehicle models for which 

LEONI supplies complete wiring systems or also just some 

of the components thereof continue to sell either well 

or very well in the market. LEONI has at its disposal the 

specific planning of the carmakers for the unit output to 

be expected in 2006, which enables LEONI to forecast 

relatively precisely and safely. Based on these figures, the 

sales of the Wiring Systems Division will rise to about 

€ 900 million in 2006. Growth of a similar size should also 

be possible in 2007. Beyond 2007, the Wiring Systems Di-

vision has set its sights on gaining more projects from its 

existing customers in Germany, taking more share of the 

US and Chinese passenger car markets and, at the same 

time, on further expanding its commercial vehicle and 

automotive component supplier businesses.

Now that series production for the cars pertaining to 

the major projects with DaimlerChrysler, BMW, General 

Motors and Land Rover has begun, efforts in 2006 will be 

focused on further optimising production and logistics 

processes, and on boosting productivity. This is absolutely 

necessary in order to be able to offset the price reduc-

tions agreed with the customers. Based on experience, it 

should also be possible in 2006 and 2007 to at least hold 

the seven percent EBIT margin (ratio of earnings before 

interest and taxes to sales) generated in 2005.

The Wire & Cable Division is poised for significant 

growth in the year ahead. The January 2006 sales figures 

are already pointing in this direction. Key impetus will 

come from the automotive component supply indus-

try, which LEONI provides with automotive cables on a 

worldwide scale. The capacity to handle this was further 

extended in 2005, especially so in eastern Europe. A sig-

nificant boost to sales will as of January 2006 come from 

Kerpen GmbH & Co. KG, the subsidiary consolidated on 

31 December 2005 that provides glass and copper-based 

data cables and complete cabling systems, and which is 

also active in the industrial project business. For LEONI 

the key in 2006 will above all be to smoothly integrate this 

company in the LEONI Group and to tap the synergies that 

arise from belonging to the group. At the same time, the 

trend in the communications technology and large plant 

construction markets, for which Kerpen provides products 

and services, should offer potential for further growth. 

In the special cables business, LEONI met the precondi-

tions for tapping further promising markets of the future, 

in both technological and commercial terms, with the 

Forecast



acquisitions made and joint ventures entered into in 2005. 

These markets include especially robotics, special vehicle 

and crane manufacture, rolling stock engineering as well 

as aviation and aerospace. The wire business unit will con-

tinue to step up its marketing activity to gain new custom-

ers in the cable industry and to develop new markets with 

copper flexibles. Overall, the Wire & Cable Division projects 

sales growth to about € 800 million for 2006. Another 

significant increase in sales from operating business is 

expected in 2007. It is quite possible that more businesses 

can be acquired to give growth an additional boost.

With resolute cost management and focusing on 

promising niche markets, earnings before interest and 

taxes (EBIT) in 2006 and 2007 should match the targeted 

margin of seven percent on a sustained basis.

Pe r f or mance f or e c as t  f or  LEO NI G r o up

Based on knowledge at the time these annual financial 

statements were prepared, the target for 2006 is to gen-

erate consolidated sales of more than € 1.7 billion. Sales of 

about € 1.8 billion should be attainable in 2007. Earnings 

before interest and taxes (EBIT) are expected to equate to 

a margin of about seven percent on consolidated external 

sales in both fiscal 2006 and 2007.

The sales targeted for the next two years do not 

include any business acquisitions or new major projects. 

LEONI is in discussions with companies that, like the 

acquisitions made hitherto, would represent a prudent 

enhancement of the existing product and customer port-

folio. Either large projects or acquisitions would certainly 

entail additional growth.

Nuremberg, 28 February 2006

The Management Board

Forecast

Dr Klaus Probst   Dieter Bellé Uwe H. Lamann
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This LEONI invention has meanwhile become a 

classic – the pre-formed cable harness.

Covered by a strong jacket made of special 

plastic foam, the electrical wiring of a vehicle is 

accommodated in the tightest of spaces and in 

such a way that it is protected against outside 

influences like humidity, petrol, oil, heat, cold 

and chipping. The foam, which is stable but can 

bend to certain degree, is adapted perfectly to the 

installation conditions and facilitates a quick and 

easy fitting.

Many well-known carmakers have taken 

advantage of the benefits of the pre-formed cable 

harness. In all the places where installation in vehi-

cles is difficult they rely on this type of pre-formed 

cabling. The pre-formed cable harness is especially 

ideal for commercial vehicles, where particularly 

high mechanical and thermal demands prevail.

Cable harnesses 

to meet special requirementsn

Consolidated Financial 

Statements
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L EO N I  AG    Co n s o l i d a t e d  i n c o m e  s t a t e m e n t

I FR S  €  ‘000 01/01 to 12/31     Notes 2005 2004

Sales 1,547,973 1,250,193

Cost of sales (1,212,790) (981,540)

Gross profit on sales 335,183 268,653 

Selling expenses (83,119) (70,896)

General and administration expenses (98,273) (93,791)

Research and development expenses (41,864) (44,064)

Other operating income 15,774 13,748

Other operating expenses (25,534) (17,932)

Operating income 102,167 55,718 

Interest income  795 871

Interest expenses (15,559) (16,697)

Foreign currency exchange gains and losses 726 442

Income/expenses from associated companies 662 1,032

Other income from share investments [ 7 ] 39 (32)

Income before taxes 88,830 41,334 

Income taxes [ 8 ] (32,737) (13,660)

Net income 56,093 27,674 

attributable to Equity holders of the parent 

 Minority interest

56,261 

(168)

27,530 

144

Earnings per share (basic) [ 28 ] 1.89 1.12

Earnings per share (diluted) [ 28 ] 1.89 1.12

Weighted average shares outstanding (basic) [ 28 ] 29,700,000 24,502,500

Weighted average shares outstanding (diluted) [ 28 ] 29,700,000 24,502,500

The following notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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L EO N I  AG    Co n s o l i d a t e d  s t a t e m e n t  o f  c a s h  f l o w s

€ ‘000 01/01 to 12/31 2005 2004 

Net income 56,093 27,674

 

Adjustments to reconcile cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 56,315 50,517

Impairment charges/reversals 422 7,785

Deferred taxes 8,045 4,556

Other non-cash expenses and income (897) (1,032)

Negative goodwill (2,834) 0

(Gain)/loss on disposal of assets (597) (1,571)

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

 

Change in receivables (16,911) (33,253)

Change in inventories (38,634) (19,792)

Change in other assets (13,808) 15,150

Change in provisions and accruals 21,010 (4,147)

Change in liabilities 42,867 38,036

Cash provided by operating activities 111,071 83,923

Capital expenditures for intangible assets (6,293) (7,417)

Capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment (55,534) (73,686)

Acquisitions of subsidiaries (15,761) (11,956)

Acquisitions of associated companies (1,888) 0

Other capital expenditures for financial assets (4,223) (4,213)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,776 8,225

Cash used for capital spending activities (81,923) (89,047)

Cash receipts from acceptance of financial liabilities 52,094 27,337

Cash repayments of financial liabilities (48,118) (53,378)

Cash receipts from minority shareholders 420 0

Capital increase 0 122,135

Dividend payment (12,375) (7,590)

Dividend paid to minority shareholders (90) (260)

Cash used for/provided by financing activities (8,069) 88,244

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 21,079 83,120

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to acquisitions 1,015 568

Currency adjustment 788 292

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 91,228 7,248

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 114,110 91,228

I FR S 

 

See Note [ 27 ] for explanations of the Cash Flow Statement.

The following notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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The following notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

L EO N I  AG    Co n s o l i d a t e d  b a l a n c e  s h e e t

Assets  € ‘000 Notes 12/31/2005 12/31/2004

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 114,110 91,228

Accounts receivable and other assets [ 9 ] 257,047 203,093

Assets held for sale [ 10 ] 486 2,731

Inventories [ 11 ] 244,084 181,425

Total current assets 615,727 478,477

Property, plant and equipment [ 12 ] 336,498 307,685

Intangible assets [ 13 ] 20,016 17,418

Goodwill [ 14 ] 39,981 36,765

Shares in associated companies [ 15 ] 3,343 1,310

Other financial assets [ 16 ] 10,944 4,390

Deferred taxes [ 8 ] 14,525 17,707

Other assets [ 17 ] 12,331 12,843

Total assets 1,053,365 876,595

Equity and liabilities  € ‘000 Notes 12/31/2005 12/31/2004

Current liabilities

Current financial liabilities [ 18 ] 139,975 42,292

Other current liabilities [ 19 ] 197,003 148,976

Provisions and accruals [ 20 ] 59,521 46,249

Total current liabilities 396,499 237,517

Long-term loans [ 18 ] 141,624 209,502

Deferred taxes [ 8 ] 20,887 16,464

Pension provisions [ 21 ] 33,660 25,398

Other provisions and accruals [ 22 ] 33,543 22,811

Equity

Share capital [ 23 ] 29,700 29,700

Additional paid-in capital [ 23 ] 170,381 170,381

Retained earnings [ 23 ] 212,621 168,735

Accumulated other comprehensive income [ 23 ] 12,047 (4,002)

Minority interests [ 23 ] 2,403 89

Total equity 427,152 364,903

Total equity and liabilities 1,053,365 876,595

I FR S
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L EO N I  AG    Co n s o l i d a t e d  s t a t e m e n t  o f  c h a n g e s  i n  e q u i t y  

Accumulated other 

comprehensive income

€ ‘000

Share

capital

Additional 

paid-in capital

Retained 

earnings

Cumulative 

translation 

adjustments

Available-

for-sale 

investments

Cash flow

hedges

Group 

interests

Minority 

interests Total equity

January 1, 2004 19,800 58,146 148,795 0 0 (1,642) 225,099 559 225,658

Net income    27,530 27,530 144 27,674

Other comprehensive income       288 (123) (2,525) (2,360) 62 (2,298)

Total comprehensive income 25,170 206  25,376

Capital increase 9,900 112,235 122,135 0 122,135

Dividend payment (7,590)  (7,590) (260) (7,850)

Decrease 

in minority interests

 

0 (416) (416)

December 31, 2004 29,700 170,381 168,735 288 (123) (4,167) 364,814 89 364,903

Net income   56,261   56,261 (168) 56,093

Other comprehensive income     15,684 432 (67) 16,049 65 16,114

Total comprehensive income      72,310 (103)  72,207

Dividend payment (12,375)  (12,375) 0 (12,375)

Increase 

in minority interests

 

0 2,417 2,417

December 31, 2005 29,700 170,381 212,621 15,972 309 (4,234) 424,749 2,403 427,152
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See Note [ 23 ] for explanations of the equity.

The following notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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[  1  ]    G e ne r al  p r i nc i p l es

LEONI AG (“LEONI”, the “Group” or the “Company”) was 

founded in Germany under the name of Leonische Werke 

Roth-Nürnberg, Aktiengesellschaft in 1917 and is regis-

tered with the Nuremberg local court, number HRB 202. 

The Company is based in Nuremberg. 

LEONI is, pursuant to Article 4 of Directive (EU) no. 

1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council 

of 19 July 2002 concerning the adoption of international 

accounting standards, obliged to prepare its consolidated 

financial statements on 31 December 2005 in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

and the associated interpretations (SIC/IFRIC interpreta-

tions) so far as these have been endorsed in the European 

Union (EU). The term IFRS also covers the still valid Inter-

national Accounting Standards (IAS). The consolidated 

financial statements of LEONI and its subsidiaries have 

been prepared in euros with the IFRS endorsed in the EU. 

The figures for the comparative period were computed 

according to the same principles. The date for the open-

ing balance was 1 January 2004 (date of initial adoption). 

Except where stated otherwise, all amounts are presented 

in thousands of euros (€ ‘000). The balance sheet is struc-

tured by term, while the income statement is prepared 

using the function of expense method. Where the balance 

sheet and income statement are summarised to improve 

clarity of presentation, they are shown separately in the 

Notes. 

Up to and including the 2004 financial year, LEONI pre-

pared its consolidated financial statements in accord-

ance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in 

the United States of America (“US GAAP”). The transition 

from US GAAP to IFRS was made based on observing the 

requirements of IFRS 1, which governs first-time adoption 

of IFRS. As a matter of principle the procedure was to 

apply all standards valid on the reporting date retro-

spectively, i.e. all standards were adopted is such a way 

assuming that IFRS had always already been applied in 

the past. Together with four obligating exceptions, IFRS 1, 

Paragraph 13 provides exemptions from this principle for 

particular circumstances, two of which LEONI used. First, 

business combinations recorded prior to adoption of IFRS, 

i.e. before 1 January 2004, were not retroactively adapted 

to IFRS 3. Second, cumulative currency differences exist-

ing at the time of transition on 1 January 2004, and that 

were to be shown as a separate component of “accumu-

lated other comprehensive income,” were set to zero. 

These were included in retained earnings at the time of 

transition and will in the future therefore no longer have 

an effect on income in the event of disposal of a foreign 

subsidiary. The effects of transition from US GAAP to IFRS 

are presented in Note [ 3 ].

The Management Board authorised the presented 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 

December 2005 for issue on 28 February 2006. 

The complete consolidated financial statements 

including the list of shareholdings pursuant to § 287 and 

§ 313 Section 3 of the German Commercial Code, have 

been entered in the commercial register under number 

HRB 202.

G e n e r a l  a n d  a c c o u n t i n g  p r i n c i p l e s
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[  2  ]    Cons o l idation, 

valuation and acco unting me tho ds

The consolidated financial statements have been pre-

pared on a historical cost basis, except for derivative 

financial statements and available-for-sale financial assets 

that have been measured at fair value. 

Pr i nc ip l es  of  cons o l idation

The consolidated financial statements include the ac-

counts of LEONI AG and, as a matter of principle, of all 

associated companies in which LEONI directly or indirectly 

holds the majority of voting rights (subsidiaries). Equity 

investments are accounted for using the equity method 

wherever significant influence over the operating and 

financial policies can be exerted; this is principally in 

instances where LEONI holds between 20 and 50 percent 

of the voting rights (associates). Joint venture compa-

nies are also measured under the equity method. A joint 

venture involves the establishment of a separate company 

in which each venturer has an interest. A joint venture is 

a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties 

undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint 

control. 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries as well as 

the associates and the joint ventures are prepared using 

uniform accounting policies on the same balance sheet 

date as the financial statements of the parent company. 

 Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the time of 

acquisition, i.e. from the time when the Group has acquired 

control over the subsidiary. Inclusion in the consolidated 

financial statements ends as soon as LEONI no longer has 

control. 

All business combinations are accounted for under 

the purchase method. According to this method, the 

purchase price has been allocated to the fair value of the 

interest held in the net assets of the consolidated subsidi-

aries at the time of acquisition. In doing so, all identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are adopted 

at fair value and recognised accordingly in the consoli-

dated balance sheet. After adjustments to the fair values 

of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are made, any 

resulting positive difference is capitalised in the balance 

sheet as goodwill. Situations in which the fair value of net 

assets is greater than the purchase price paid result in a 

negative difference. In the event that such a difference 

remains following reassessment of the allocation of the 

purchase price or determining the fair value of acquired 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, this must be 

recognised as income immediately. The proportion of as-

sets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary 

applicable to minority interest are also adopted at fair 

value. Yet goodwill is reported only to the extent that it 

applies to the Group and is not extrapolated to minority 

interest.

According to IFRS 3, Business Combinations, goodwill 

is no longer amortised over its useful life, but is according 

to IAS 36 subjected to an impairment test at least once a 

year, which may lead to an impairment loss (impairment-

only approach). 

Receivables and liabilities between the consolidated 

companies as well as intercompany results, expenses and 

income have been eliminated.

Intercompany gains on assets and inventories have 

likewise been eliminated.

The companies accounted for under the equity meth-

od are valued with their purchase price on the acquisition 

date, which is increased or reduced respectively in the 

subsequent periods for any changes in net assets of the 

company such as the proportionate share of net income 

or loss and by received dividends. The proportionate net 

income or loss is determined using the accounting poli-

cies described in this Note. In line with the treatment of 

fully consolidated subsidiaries, the goodwill of companies 

accounted for under the equity method has no longer 

been amortised either. Instead of a test for impairment of 

equity method goodwill, the whole investment has to be 

reviewed for impairment according to IAS 36.
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For eig n c ur r e nc y tr anslat ion

These consolidated financial statements are prepared 

in the presentation currency, the euro, which is the 

functional currency of the group parent company, LEONI 

AG. The financial statements of the foreign subsidiaries 

included in the consolidated financial statements with a 

functional currency other than the euro, are, under IAS 21, 

translated into the Group currency, the euro, according to 

the functional currency concept. The financial statements 

prepared in the respective functional currency of the sub-

sidiary are translated using the closing rate method, i.e. 

the assets and liabilities are translated from the functional 

currency to the reporting currency using at the closing 

exchange rate on the balance sheet date, while the state-

ments of income are translated using annual average ex-

change rates. Any differences arising from the translation 

of assets and liabilities compared with the previous year’s 

translation as well as translation differences between the 

income statement and the balance sheet are recorded 

separately under the item “accumulated other compre-

hensive income” within equity and accordingly have no 

effect on net income.

Transactions denominated in currencies other than 

the functional currency in the individual financial state-

ments are translated at the current exchange rate at the 

time of the transaction and adjusted to the closing ex-

change rate at each balance sheet date. Any resulting cur-

rency fluctuation is recognised in the income statement. 

Exchange rate at balance sheet date (1 euro in foreign currency units)

Country Currency ISO Code 12/31/2005 12/31/2004

China renminbi yuan CNY 9.5515 11.2891

United Kingdom pound GBP 0.6870 0.7071

Mexico peso MXN 12.6100 15.2400

Poland zloty PLN 3.8686 4.0877

Slovakia crown SKK 37.8700 38.7300

South Africa rand ZAR 7.4890 7.6793

USA dollar USD 1.1834 1.3640

Annual average exchange rate (1 euro in foreign currency units)

Country Currency ISO Code 2005 2004

China renminbi yuan CNY 10.2232 10.3253

United Kingdom pound GBP 0.6850 0.6819

Mexico peso MXN 13.4775 14.1200

Poland zloty PLN 4.0371 4.5436

Slovakia crown SKK 38.5862 40.1131

South Africa rand ZAR 7.8687 7.9666

USA dollar USD 1.2477 1.2474

Reve nue r e co g nit ion

Revenues are generated mainly from the sale of pro-

ducts. Pursuant to IAS 18, sales revenues are generally 

recognised net of value added tax (VAT) upon delivery of 

products to the customer or upon fulfilment of service 

contracts. Delivery has occurred when the risks and 

rewards associated with ownership have been trans-

ferred to the buyer. Provisions for customer rebates and 

discounts as well as for returns and other adjustments are 

The exchange rates of the companies material to the con-

solidated financial statements have changed as follows:



Pr i n c i p l e s N o t e s 63

Re cei vab l es 

Receivables are recorded at their amortised cost. Valuati-

on allowances are made when receivables are uncollec-

tible or probably uncollectible and a reliable estimate of 

the valuation allowance can be made. Trade receivables 

with usual payment terms, which normally do not exceed 

twelve months, are therefore recognised at the nominal 

amount, less appropriate allowances. Receivables that 

do not bear interest or bear below market interest rates 

and have an expected term of more than one year are 

discounted with the discount subsequently amortised 

to interest income over the term of the receivable. The 

Group sells trade accounts receivable within a factoring 

agreement. The receivables are derecognised when the 

Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive the 

cash flows from the financial assets and substantially all 

the risks and rewards incident to ownership have been 

transferred, or alternatively when control of the asset has 

been transferred. 

Inve ntor ies

Inventories encompass raw materials, production sup-

plies and goods purchased as well as work in progress 

and finished goods. They are stated at the lower of cost 

and the net realisable value. Raw materials, production 

supplies as well as goods purchased are evaluated at cost 

using the weighted average cost formula or at the lower 

net realisable value. The net realisable value is computed 

based on the estimated selling price in the normal course 

of business less the estimated costs of completion and the  

estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost of con-

version of work in progress and finished products compri-

se, alongside the direct costs of production material and 

production wages, proportionate material and production 

overhead costs based on standard capacity. 

 

generally provided for in the same period the related sales 

are recorded. Fulfilment of service contracts occurs when 

substantially all performance obligations have been met. 

Res earc h and deve l op me nt cos t s

Research costs are expensed as incurred.

Development costs are expensed as incurred unless 

they relate to costumer-specific development contracts 

accounted pursuant to IAS 11, or they meet the crite-

ria of IAS 38 for capitalisation. Pursuant to IAS 11 for 

customer-specific development contracts that meet the 

corresponding conditions the percentage-of-completion 

method is applied. The capitalized amount is disclosed 

under accounts receivable. The percentage of completion 

is determined according to the ratio of total costs to costs 

incurred (cost-to-cost method). The income from deve-

lopment contracts is reported under sales in the income 

statement.

E ar ni ng s p e r  Shar e

Earnings per share are computed in accordance with IAS 

33, Earnings per Share. The basic earnings per share are 

computed by dividing consolidated net income attribu-

table to the LEONI shareholders by the weighted average 

of the number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

relevant period. The diluted earnings per share are com-

puted by dividing consolidated net income attributable 

to the LEONI shareholders by the total of the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding, plus the 

weighted average number of securities that can be con-

verted into ordinary shares. There was no dilution in the 

reporting periods presented.

 

C ash and c ash e qui val e nt s

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, 

cheques and immediately disposable bank deposits with 

an original maturity of three months or less. Cash is re-

cognised at par value. 
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Non - c ur r e nt ass e t s  he l d f or  s al e

If non-current assets are classified as held for sale, depre-

ciation is ceased and the Company determines the fair 

value of such assets. If the fair value of the assets held for 

sale, less the selling costs, is less than the net carrying 

amount of the assets, a writedown is made on the fair 

value, less the selling costs. 

Pr op e r t y,  p lant and e qui p me nt

Property, plant and equipment is valued at costs less 

accumulated depreciation. Attributable borrowing costs 

are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset 

pursuant to IAS 23. A qualifying asset is an asset that 

necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready 

for its intended use. Immovable assets are mostly depre-

ciated on a straight-line basis and movable assets are, 

depending on their type of use, depreciated using either 

the straight-line method or, if so required by their actual 

use, the declining method. When carrying out larger-scale 

maintenance, the costs are recognised in the carrying 

amount of the item of property, plant or equipment, pro-

vided that recognition criteria are met.

The following useful lives are assumed for deprecia-

tion:

Buildings and facilities max. 40 years

Machinery and equipment max. 12 years

Factory and office equipment 2 – 10 years

Computer hardware 3 – 5 years

Leased installations are depreciated on a straight-line 

basis over the respective shorter period of the term of the 

lease or the estimated ordinary useful life.

The residual values of the assets, useful lives and 

depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of the 

financial year, and if necessary adjusted.

Leas es

Leases are classified as either finance or operating. Leas-

ing transactions whereby LEONI is the lessee and bears 

all substantial risks and rewards from use of the leased 

asset are accounted for as finance leases. Accordingly, the 

Group capitalises the leased asset and records the corre-

sponding lease obligation on the balance sheet. All other 

leasing agreements entered into by LEONI, as a lessee, are 

accounted for as operating leases. The lease payments are 

expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Int angib l e ass e t s  ( i nc ludi ng go o d w il l )

Intangible assets consist of goodwill, patents, software, 

licences and similar rights. An intangible asset that results 

from development expenditure is capitalised if a newly 

developed product or process can be clearly defined, is 

technically feasible and is intended for either own use or 

for sale. Capitalisation also assumes that the development 

expenses can with a sufficient degree of likelihood be 

covered with future inflow of cash and cash equivalents 

and the other IAS 38.57 criteria are met.

According to IAS 38, intangible assets with a finite 

useful life must be amortised over useful life. The Compa-

ny therefore, in accordance with these requirements, am-

ortises delivery rights and development costs capitalised 

as assets in line with expected sales and other intangible 

assets with a finite useful life have been amortised on a 

straight-line basis over their useful lifes to their estimated 

residual values. Other intangible assets with a finite useful 

life are mainly software licenses with an estimated use-

ful life of three years. The amortisation method and the 

amortisation period for an intangible asset with a finite 

useful life are reviewed at the end of each financial year.

According to IAS 38, intangible assets with an indefi-

nite useful life have no longer been amortised; instead 

such intangible assets have to be reviewed for impair-

ment at least annually and written down to their lower 
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recoverable amount. On the balance sheet date at all peri-

ods presented LEONI did not record any intangible assets 

other than goodwill with an indefinite useful life. 

Goodwill is also not amortised; instead it is in line 

with the requirements of IAS 36 reviewed for impairment 

at least annually under a one-step test approach. This 

involves testing the goodwill at the level of the cash-

generating unit to which it is allocated by comparing the 

carrying amount of the cash-generating unit with the 

recoverable amount. Impairment has occurred if the car-

rying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, requiring 

a write-down to the recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount corresponds to the higher of the two amounts 

from the fair value less cost to sell and value in use. The 

value in use of a cash-generating unit is defined as the 

present value of projected cash flows to the Company 

from the cash-generating unit. Later reversal based on 

disappearance of the reason for the impairment is not 

permitted. 

Imp air me nt tes t i ng of  i nt angi b l e ass e t s 

w ith f inite l i f e  and p r op e r t y,  p lant and 

e qui p me nt

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date wheth-

er there are any indications that an impairment loss may 

have occurred. If there are such indications, the recover-

able amounted of the asset is determined and compared 

with its carrying amount. If the recoverable amount is 

lower than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 

recognised on the lower recoverable amount. The recov-

erable amount is the higher of the two amounts from the 

fair value less cost to sell and value in use. The latter is 

the present value of future cash flows that can probably 

be derived from the asset. If the reasons for applying the 

impairment charge have disappeared, the write-down 

on the asset is reversed. Such reversal is limited to the 

amount that would have resulted without impairment.

 

Inves tme nt s i n ass o c iate d comp anies

and othe r inves tme nt s

Shares in associated companies and in joint venture com-

panies are accounted for under the equity method. All 

other reported financial assets are subject to the require-

ments of IAS 39. Equity securities reported under this item 

are classified as available for sale. They must therefore be 

reported at their fair value. The gains or losses resulting 

from valuation at fair value are recorded separately as ac-

cumulated other comprehensive income within equity. If 

there is impairment other than temporary, this will result 

in a write-down in the statement of income with effect 

on earnings. Later reversal cannot be included in earn-

ings, but is recorded as accumulated other comprehensive 

income. Provided that there is no quoted market price in 

an active market for investments in equity instruments 

and that their fair value cannot be reliably measured, they 

are carried at acquisitions cost. A write-down to present 

value is made in the case of a decline in value other than 

temporary.

Pe nsion and othe r 

p os t- e mp l oy me nt b e ne f it s

The valuation of pension obligations is based upon 

actuarial computations using the projected-unit-credit 

method in accordance with IAS 19. Changes in the ac-

tuarial assumptions or differences between the actual 

development and the original assumptions as well as 

gains or losses on plan assets as a difference between the 

actual and expected return on plan assets are amortised 

over the average remaining service period of active 

employees expected to receive benefits under the plan, 

if a corridor of 10 percent of the present value of defined 

benefit obligation (DBO) or the fair value of plan assets is 

exceeded. Past service cost is expensed on a straight-line 

basis over the average period until the benefits become 

vested. To the extent that the benefits are already vested 

immediately following the introduction of, or changes 

to, a pension plan, an enterprise should recognise past 

service cost immediately.
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O the r p r ov is ions

Other provisions are recorded when a present legal or 

constructive obligation to a third party has been incurred 

from past events, the payment is probable and the 

amount can be reasonably estimated. The provisions 

are valued according to IAS 37 with the best estimate of 

the amount of the obligation. Where provisions do not 

become due until after one year and a reliable estimate of 

the payment amounts and dates is possible, the present 

value for the non-current proportion is determined on a 

discounted basis.

Obligations to dispose of an asset and to re-cultivate 

its site or similar obligations must first be recognised 

as a component of acquisition and production costs 

and simultaneously recognised as a provision. In the 

subsequent periods this amount added to the asset is to 

be depreciated over its residual useful life. The payment 

obligation or provision is accreted to its present value at 

the end of each period.

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the 

constructive obligation has arisen according to the criteria 

under IAS 37, paragraph 72.

Liabi l i t ies

Current liabilities are recorded at either their repayment 

or settlement value. Non-current liabilities are recorded at 

their amortised cost.

D e f e r r e d t a xes

The Company applies IAS 12, Income Taxes. According 

to the balance sheet liability method of IAS 12, deferred 

tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary 

differences, apart from the exceptions under IAS 12.15 

and IAS 12.25, between the financial statement’s carry-

ing amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 

respective tax bases as well as for loss carryforwards 

(“temporary concept”). Deferred taxes are measured 

using the currently enacted tax rates in effect during the 

periods in which the temporary differences are expected 

to reverse. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities 

of a change in tax law is recognised in the period that the 

law is enacted. Deferred tax assets are applied only to the 

extent that it is more likely than not that the tax benefit 

will be realised. 

Income taxes referring to items that are recognised 

directly in equity are also recognised in equity and not in 

the income statement.

D e r i vati ve f i nanc ial  i ns tr ume nt s

According to IAS 39, all derivative financial instruments 

entered into by the LEONI Group are recorded at fair value 

as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet date. In 

general, the Group recognises the changes in fair value of 

derivative financial instruments as earnings. However, the 

Group records changes in fair value of foreign currency 

derivatives used to hedge anticipated foreign currency 

denominated cash flows on firm commitments and fore-

cast transactions in accumulated other comprehensive in-

come on the balance sheet without impact on net income 

until the hedged item is recognised in earnings when the 

requirements of the standard to apply cash flow hedge 

accounting are met. The reclassification from accumu-

lated other comprehensive income into earnings occurs in 

the same period as the underlying transaction takes place 

and has effect on net income. The ineffective portions of 

the fair value changes of those derivatives are recognised 

in earnings immediately. The fair value changes of interest 
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rate derivatives designated to hedge non-current liabili-

ties subject to interest rate fluctuation are also recognised 

in accumulated other comprehensive income without 

affecting earnings if they meet the requirements to apply 

cash flow hedge accounting. The amounts recorded in 

this account subsequently lead to the interest expenditure 

from the relevant underlying transaction recorded in the 

income statement being balanced.

Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 

recognised and derecognised at settlement date.

C ash Fl ow St ate me nt

The cash flow statement is classified by operating, 

investing and financing activities in accordance with IAS 

7. The line item “other non-cash expenses and income” 

comprises undistributed income from companies valued 

under the equity method. Effects of changes in the scope 

of consolidation have been eliminated from the items in 

the three classification areas. This also applies to valuation 

changes due to exchange rate fluctuation, whose impact 

on cash and cash equivalents is separately disclosed.

S e g me nt Re p or t i ng

The Company’s segment reporting is prepared in accord-

ance with International Accounting Standard 14. Within 

LEONI Group, output determines the primary basis of seg-

ment reporting. Segmentation by business and region is 

based on internal financial reporting. The segment result 

is earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and is based 

on operating earnings plus income from associated com-

panies less expenses from associated companies. 

Key judg me nt s and es t i mates

Estimates and assumptions or judgments must be made 

in some cases in order to prepare the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with IFRS. These have 

an influence on the amounts of assets, liabilities and con-

tingent liabilities stated on the balance sheet date as well 

as when reporting expenses and income. Actual results 

could differ from such estimates.

Key assumptions concerning the future as well as 

other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance 

sheet date, which present a risk that material adjustment 

to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities will 

be necessary within the next financial year, are made 

during the annual impairment test of goodwill as well as, 

in the case of testing non-current assets for impairment, 

based on their value in use. To estimate the value in use 

the Group must estimate the probable future cash flows 

of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill or non-

current asset relates, and moreover choose a reasonable 

interest rate to compute the present value of these cash 

flows. 
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[  3  ]    E x p lanation of  s ig ni f ic ant cons o l ida -

t ion,  valuation and acco unti ng p r inc i p l es 

di f f e r i ng f r om US G A AP

The following table provides an overview of changes in 

balance sheet items between US GAAP and IFRS in the 

opening balance on 1 January 2004, which resulted in a 

€ ‘000 US GAAP

12/31/2003

IFRS 

adjustments

IFRS

01/01/2004

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents/accounts receivable/inventories 305,493 0 305,493

Deferred taxes 12,749 (12,749) [ h ] 0

Deferred income and other current assets 44,365 (130) 44,235

Total current assets 362,607 (12,879) 349,728

Property, plant and equipment 287,283 3,390 [ a ] 290,673

Intangible assets 12,775 137 [ c,e ] 12,912

Financial assets 4,503 0 4,503

Goodwill 36,488 (2,370) [ b ] 34,118

Deferred taxes 6,674 12,383 [ h ] 19,057

Other assets 16,180 (2,219) 13,961

Total assets 726,510 (1,558) 724,952

Current liabilities

Current liabilities 173,234 1,398 [ e ] 174,632

Provisions and accruals 46,909 622 [ f ] 47,531

Deferred taxes 2,166 (2,166) [ h ] 0

Total current liabilities 222,309 (146) 222,163

Long-term loans 215,105 (509) 214,596

Deferred taxes 11,303 2,910 [ h ] 14,213

Pension provisions 30,056 (5,085) [ e ] 24,971

Other provisions and accruals 21,259 2,092 [ f ] 23,351

Minority interests 570 (570) [ i ] 0

Equity

Share capital/Additional paid-in capital 77,946 0  77,946

Retained earnings 188,960 (40,165) *) 148,795

Accumulated other comprehensive income (40,998) 39,356 *) (1,642)

 

Minority interests

225,908 (809)

559 [ i ]

225,099

559

Total equity 225,908 (250) 225,658

Total equity and liabilities 726,510 (1,558) 724,952

Assets

Equity and 

liabilities

*) Reclassification in the amount of € 38,384k within equity due to exercise of the elective disclosure for first-time adopters to reclassify

exchange differences to retained earnings; cf. Note [ 1 ].

negative difference in equity of € 250k. The letters quoted 

in this table refer to the explanations of the differences 

set out below the tables in this Note. 
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On 31 December 2004 there was a negative difference in 

equity between US GAAP and IFRS of € 6,437k resulting 

from the differences in balance sheet items shown in the 

€ ‘000 US GAAP

12/31/2004

IFRS 

adjustments

IFRS

12/31/2004

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents/accounts receivable/inventories 273,083 0 273,083

Trade accounts receivable 172,201 2,944 [ g ] 175,145

Deferred taxes 10,911 (10,911) [ h ] 0

Deferred income and other current assets 30,379 (130) 30,249

Total current assets 486,574 (8,097) 478,477

Property, plant and equipment 307,792 (107) [ a,d ] 307,685

Intangible assets 17,232 186 [ c,e ] 17,418

Financial assets 5,700 0 5,700

Goodwill 44,277 (7,512) [ b ] 36,765

Deferred taxes 7,318 10,389 [ h ] 17,707

Other assets 17,150 (4,307) 12,843

Total assets 886,043 (9,448) 876,595

Current liabilities

Current liabilities 189,939 1,329 [ e ] 191,268

Provisions and accruals 46,335 (86) 46,249

Deferred taxes 3,594 (3,594) [ h ] 0

Total current liabilities 239,868 (2,351) 237,517

Long-term loans 209,882 (380) 209,502

Deferred taxes 11,989 4,475 [ h ] 16,464

Pension provisions 32,022 (6,624) [ e ] 25,398

Other provisions and accruals 20,839 1,972 [ f ] 22,811

Minority interests 103 (103) [ i ] 0

Equity

Share capital/Additional paid-in capital 200,081 0  200,081

Retained earnings 214,595 (45,860) *) 168,735

Accumulated other comprehensive income (43,336) 39,334 *) (4,002)

 

Minority interests

371,340

0

(6,526)

89 [ i ]

364,814

89

Total equity 371,340 (6,437) 364,903

Total equity and liabilities 886,043 (9,448) 876,595

table below. The letters quoted in this table in turn refer 

to the explanations of the differences set out below the 

tables in this Note. 

*) Reclassification in the amount of € 38,384k within equity due to exercise of the elective disclosure for first-time adopters to reclassify

exchange differences to retained earnings; cf. Note [ 1 ].

Assets

Equity and 

liabilities
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Fiscal-2004 net income based on IFRS differs as follows 

from the US GAAP-based figure:

The transition from US GAAP to IFRS did not result in any 

materials changes in the cash flow statement. 

The accounting, valuation and consolidation principles 

applied in accordance with IFRS differ from US GAAP 

mainly in the following points:

[  a  ]   E xcess  of  acqui r e d ne t ass e t  ove r  the 

cos t  of  the i nves tme nt and measur e me nt  

of  p r op e r t y,  p lant and e qui p me nt

Under US GAAP, an excess of acquired net asset measured 

at fair value over the cost of the investment in purchase 

accounting is allocated as a pro rata reduction to zero to 

certain acquired assets. Any remaining excess must im-

mediately be recognised as an extra-ordinary gain.

 Under IFRS 3, there is no allocation of the excess 

to the acquired assets, but immediate recording as 

operating income. Due to use of the option not to adjust 

business combinations retrospectively, this difference 

itself did not, upon the purchase price allocation, result 

in any adjustment during transition to IFRS. In the case of 

one company however, assets that were, under US GAAP, 

reduced to zero, had to be measured at their amortised 

cost because of the required retrospective application of 

the requirements under IAS 16 for measuring of property, 

plant and equipment.

[  b  ]   G o o d w il l  i mp ai r me nt tes t

According to both US GAAP and IFRS goodwill is no longer 

amortised; instead it is tested for impairment at least once 

a year. Whereas US GAAP requires goodwill to be tested 

at the segment level or, under certain conditions, at one 

level below, IFRS 3 requires testing at the level of cash-

generating units to which the goodwill was allocated. 

Moreover, US GAAP requires a two-stage impairment test, 

while a one-stage method is applied in accordance with 

IFRS 3. 

[  c  ]   C apit al is at ion of  deve l op me nt cos t s  as 

i nte r nal l y  ge ne r ate d i nt angi b l e ass e t s

In general, US GAAP prohibits capitalisation of develop-

ment costs. However, there are exceptions for specified 

cases, such as for software developed for internal use 

(SOP 98-1). According to IAS 38, development costs are 

recognised as intangible assets when the intention, ability 

and technical feasibility exist to complete the intangible 

asset as well as to use or sell it. Furthermore, it must be 

possible to reliably measure and allocate the development 

costs incurred, and they must with a sufficient degree of 

likelihood be covered by future cash inflow.

[  d  ]   Imp ai r me nt tes t  f or  i nt angi b l e 

(othe r than go o d w il l )  and t angi b l e ass e t s

The testing for impairment also differs for both intangible 

assets with a finite useful life and property, plant and 

equipment. Under both US GAAP and IFRS, an asset must 

be tested for impairment when there are indications that 

impairment may have occurred. Under US GAAP, however, 

€ ‘000 12/31/2004

Net income according to US GAAP 33,225

[ i ] Minority interests 147

[ g ] Sales from development contracts 2,944

[ a ] Depreciation (1,039)

[ d ] Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment (2,495)

[ b ] Impairment loss of goodwill (5,142)

[ e ] Pension cost (456)

[ f ] Use of restructuring provision 800

[ f ] Adjustment of provisions for partial retirement agreements 563

[ f ] Interest expenses due to measurement of provisions (483)

Others (12)

[ h ] Deferred taxes (378)

Net income according to IFRS 27,674
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the carrying amount of the asset concerned is, in a first 

step, compared with the sum of undiscounted cash 

flows that the asset is expected to generate. Only if the 

carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted future cash 

flows, is an impairment loss recognised to the extent that 

the carrying amount exceeds the asset’s fair value. The 

estimated fair value is generally based on either appraised 

value or measured by discounted estimated future cash 

flows. This first step of testing for impairment based on 

undiscounted future cash flows does not apply under IAS 

36. If there are indications of impairment, the recover-

able amount is computed and compared with the asset’s 

carrying amount and, if the carrying amount is greater, an 

impairment loss is recognised to the recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of the two amounts 

from the fair value less cost to sell and value in use. The 

latter is the present value of future cash flows that can 

probably be derived from the asset. 

[  e  ]   Re ti r e me nt b e ne f it  ob l igation

The IFRS-based financial statements differ from the US 

GAAP with respect to retirement benefit obligations 

because the mandatory date for measuring plan assets 

is the balance sheet date, whereas US GAAP permitted 

measurement on an earlier date. 

Moreover, IFRS does not require recognition without 

effect on profit or loss of an additional minimum liability. 

If an excess of the accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) 

over the fair value of plan assets (unfunded accumulated 

benefit obligation) exceeded the accrued pension provi-

sion, US GAAP required an additional minimum liability 

to be recognised as an increase of the pension provision 

without effect on profit or loss. The counter item in the 

balance sheet to this additional minimum liability was 

either an intangible asset or other comprehensive income.

Contrary to the regulations of US GAAP, the assets 

of the German pension trust meet the definition of plan 

assets under IFRS and are therefore set off the pension 

liability, which is why the pension provision was reduced 

by this amount. In return, a liability from the loan granted 

by the pension trust is recorded. According to IFRS, quali-

fying insurance policies must also be recognised as plan 

assets and thus be offset with the pension liability.

[  f  ]   O the r p r ov is ions

IAS 37 requires provisions to be discounted, with the ef-

fect of the time value of money thus being material. US 

GAAP in general do not require discounting, instead pre-

scribing discounting of provisions in individual cases, such 

as under SFAS 143 for asset retirement obligations.

Furthermore, provisions for partial retirement agree-

ments are recognised in a different manner under IFRS 

and US GAAP. Whereas, according to IFRS, the provision 

for partial retirement obligations for amounts above the 

current salary (increases) is already recognised in the full 

amount at present value when the obligation arises, the 

method under US GAAP was, from the time the obligation 

arose, pro-rata accumulation of these increases over the 

remaining service period. 

Differences between US GAAP and IFRS also exist 

when accounting for restructuring provisions. Whereas 

under US GAAP the explicit requirement for measuring 

a provision among other things for personnel-related 

restructuring is that the affected employees be informed 

in such a way that every individual is able to determine 

a settlement claim, IFRS with respect to this criterion 

requires only that the amount of the costs arising on the 

reporting date can be reliably measured by the reporting 

enterprise. Although IFRS also require that employees 

affected by restructuring are advised of key elements of 

the plan, enabling them to raise a valid expectation with 

respect to exercise of the plan, the ability to measure the 

settlement claim by every affected employee is not an 

explicit condition.
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[  g  ]   Customer-specif ic development 

contrac ts 

In general, US GAAP prohibit capitalisation of develop-

ment costs. However, there are exceptions for specified 

cases. For instance, based on the requirements of EITF 

99-5, Accounting for Pre-Production Costs Related to 

Long-Term Supply Arrangements, of the Emergency Is-

sues Task Force (EITF), certain development costs were 

capitalised as pre-production costs. The capitalised 

amount was disclosed under accounts receivable.

Under IFRS, customer-specific development contracts 

are, in accordance with IAS 11, accounted for using the 

percentage-of-completion method, meaning that sales 

and trade receivables are accounted for according to the 

progress of the development work carried out. 

The criteria to be met under the special US GAAP 

provisions, especially the requirement of legally en-

forceable, contractually guaranteed compensation or 

reimbursement for the reliably measurable development 

costs, meant that the amount of development costs to 

be capitalised under US GAAP was less than according to 

the principles of the percentage-of-completion method 

applied under IFRS.

[  h  ]   D e f e r r e d t a xes

IFRS and US GAAP differ with respect to accounting 

for the deferred taxes of subsidiaries that are based in 

countries with hyperinflation. Whereas, under US GAAP, 

the currency of the parent company should be assumed 

to be the functional currency of such a subsidiary, IAS 29 

requires price-adjusted financial statements in local cur-

rency. Taxes on the price adjustments should be deferred, 

whereas this does not apply under US GAAP with financial 

statements in the functional currency of the parent com-

pany. Furthermore, IFRS require that the deferred taxes 

are always presented as non-current items. 

[  i  ]   M inor it y  i nte r es t

IFRS follow the entity theory, which requires that minority 

interests be classified as a part of equity. Under US GAAP, 

in accordance with the parent company theory, minority 

interest is not considered part of equity but is classified 

separately between equity and liabilities. The income 

or loss attributable to minority interest is recorded as 

income or expenses and is therefore excluded from the 

consolidated entity’s net income or loss.
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[  4  ]    New acco unti ng r e qui r e me nt s

The following accounting requirements were not applied 

because application will only become obligatory in future 

periods: 

The changes to IAS 19, Employee Benefits, which the 

IASB published on 16 December 2004, must be applied at 

the latest to financial years beginning on or after 1 Janu-

ary 2006. In general, the changes provide another option 

for recognising actuarial gains and losses in the context 

of defined benefit pension plans. In addition to the exist-

ing options, there is now also the option of recognising 

them outside the income statement directly in equity. The 

changes to IAS 19 also include additional requirements 

with respect to accounting for multi-employer plans as 

well as additional disclosure requirements. The impact 

of applying the changes to IAS 19 is currently still being 

assessed. However, some of the additional disclosure 

requirements have already been applied in the 2005 con-

solidated financial statements.

The changes to IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recog-

nition and Measurement, and to IFRS 4, Insurance Con-

tracts – Financial Guarantees, principally prescribe that 

guarantors present the liabilities arising from financial 

guarantees in their balance sheet. These changes are to 

be applied to financial years beginning on or after 1 Janu-

ary 2006. The impact on the financial position, perform-

ance and changes in financial position of the LEONI Group 

are currently still being assessed.

The other changes to IAS 39 with respect to the Fair 

Value Option and Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Fore-

cast Intragroup Transactions must also be applied at the 

latest to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 

2006. How application of these changes will impact on 

the financial position, performance and changes in finan-

cial position of the Group is also currently being assessed.

IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Re-

sources, must be applied to financial years beginning on 

or after 1 January 2006. This standard is not expected to 

apply to the business activity of the Group.

IFRS 7, Financial Instrument: Disclosures, summa-

rises the existing disclosure requirements under IAS 32 

(Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation) and 

replaces the disclosure requirements of IAS 32 as well 

as all the rules under the previous IAS 30 (Disclosures in 

the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial 

Institutions). The existing requirements have also been 

revised. This standard must be applied to financial years 

beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

IFRIC 4, Determining whether an Arrangement 

contains a Lease, is to be applied to financial years begin-

ning on or after 1 January 2006. This interpretation is 

not expected to have any effect on LEONI’s consolidated 

financial statements.

IFRIC 5, Rights to Interests arising from Decommis-

sioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation 

Funds, is to be applied to financial years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2006. This interpretation is not expected 

to apply to the business activity of the Group.

IFRIC 6, Liabilities arising from Participating in a Spe-

cific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment, 

governs recognition of liabilities arising from the costs of 

waste management. These requirements must be applied 

to financial years beginning on or after 1 December 2005. 

These requirements are not expected to have any material 

effect on the Group’s financial position, performance and 

changes in financial position.
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[  5  ]    S cop e of  Cons o l idate d 

Fi nanc ial  St ate me nt s 

Along with LEONI AG, the consolidated finan-

cial statements account for 21 companies in 

Germany and 49 companies outside Germany 

in which LEONI AG is entitled, either directly 

or indirectly, to a majority of the voting rights.

LEONI (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd., based in 

Uitenhage and whose operating activities were already 

discontinued in the final quarter of last year, has been 

deconsolidated. In Wire & Cable Division, two companies 

were deconsolidated. First, LEONI High Speed Cables 

GmbH of Friesoythe was merged into LEONI Special 

Cables GmbH of Friesoythe and, second, LEONI Czechia 

s.r.o. (v. likvidaci) of Frydlant, Czech Republic, which had 

not operated since mid 2003, was wound up and finally 

deleted from the commercial register. Deconsolidation 

of these foreign subsidiaries has so far resulted in foreign 

exchange differences recognised in accumulated other 

comprehensive income of € 210k, which has been recog-

nised in the income statement. 

LEONI Tailor-Made Cable U.K. Limited based in Ches-

terfield and LEONI Spezialkabelvertrieb Süd GmbH based 

in Georgensgmünd, Germany, were newly consolidated 

from the beginning of the financial year. No goodwill has 

arisen with respect to these two companies of the Wire & 

Cable Division. 

Acquisitions and disposals are explained under Note 

[ 6 ] of the text.

The associates include two newly formed joint 

ventures of the Wire & Cable Division. In the rolling 

stock engineering sector, L & S Transportation Systems 

GmbH based in Röttenbach has been set up together 

with Switzerland-based Studer Draht- und Kabelwerk AG 

and advintec GmbH with its base in Laatzen was formed 

together with the French company Cimlec Industries S.A. 

to further expand the robotics business. 

A complete list of the fully consolidated companies 

and of the associates on 31 December 2005 is shown at 

the end of these notes. 

 

[  6  ]    Acquis it ions and disp os als

Four acquisitions were closed in the Wire & Cable Division 

in the 2005 financial year.

On 10 January 2005, the Group acquired all the shares 

in the Spanish company Representaciones Europeas 

Manich S.L. at a price of € 220k. Goodwill in the amount of 

€ 99k arose from initial consolidation at the time of acqui-

sition. The company contributed € 587k to consolidated 

sales and incurred a loss of € 40k in the net result.

On 2 February 2005, LEONI Prinz Fiber Optics GmbH, 

based in Stromberg (formerly LEONI Draht Verwaltungs-

GmbH based in Nuremberg) acquired the fiber technol-

ogy arm from PRINZ Optics GmbH, based in Stromberg, 

for € 1.6 million. LEONI Prinz Fiber Optics GmbH was first 

consolidated at the time of acquisition, with goodwill in 

the amount of € 168k arising as a result. The company 

contributed € 2,028k to consolidated sales and € 25k to 

consolidated net income.

At the end of June, and with effect from 1 July 2005, 

the Group acquired all the shares in neumatic Elektronik +  

Kabeltechnik GmbH & Co. KG, based in Ulm, and 90 per-

cent of the shares in its affiliate neumatic cz s.r.o., based 

in Turnov, Czech Republic, at a price of € 3.6 million. The 

companies focus mainly on developing and manufactur-

ing tailor-made cable harnesses as well as dedicated elec-

tronics solutions for wiring and controlling commercial 

and special vehicles as well as cranes. Both subsidiaries 

were first consolidated at the time of acquisition, resulting 

in recognised goodwill of € 2.6 million as there were no 

Number of fully con-

solidated companies 12/31/2005 12/31/2004

Germany 22 18

Outside 49 45

Total 71 63
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€ ‘000 Recognised at acquisition Carrying amount

Intangible assets 733 5

Property, plant and equipment 160 160

Inventories 1,048 1,048

Trade receivables 1,540 1,540

Cash and cash equivalents 350 350

Other assets 222 222

4,053 3,325

Liabilities to banks 683 683

Trade liabilities 832 832

Accrued liabilities 275 275

Other liabilities 1,251 1,251

3,041 3,041

Fair value of net assets 1,012 284

Goodwill arising on acquisition 2,609

Acquisition costs 3,621

The two companies contributed € 5,224k to consolidated 

sales and € 265k to consolidated net income. Had the 

merger taken place at the beginning of the financial year, 

consolidated sales would have amounted to € 1,558,058k 

with consolidated net income amounting to € 56,456k.

Taking legal effect on 1 October 2005, LEONI Kabel 

Holding GmbH & Co. KG acquired all the shares in Kerpen 

GmbH & Co. KG of Stolberg and in Kerpen Verwaltungs-

GmbH, likewise of Stolberg, at a price of € 10.1 million. 

The acquired businesses develop, produce and distribute 

copper and glass fiber cable-based systems for data trans-

mission in both office and residential buildings as well as 

in industrial environments. Another mainstay comprises 

special cable solutions for measuring, controlling and 

regulating in industry as well as for large international 

plant engineering projects in the oil exploration, refinery 

and major chemical business sectors. The two companies 

and their subsidiaries, Kerpen (S.E.A.) Pte. Ltd., Singapur, 

Kerpen (Thailand) Company Ltd., Bangkok, and Kerpen 

(M) Sdn. Bhd., Subang Jaya, Malaysia, were first consoli-

dated upon gaining control on 31 December 2005. Initial 

consolidation resulted in negative goodwill amounting 

to € 4.2 million before tax, which was recognised in the 

income statement as other operating income.  

other identifiable assets and liabilities than those applied 

from the date of acquisition. The fair value of which at the 

time of acquisition was as follows: 
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The related tax expense amounted to € 1.4 million, 

putting the effect on consolidated net income at  

€ 2.8 million. The fair values of identifiable assets and 

liabilities were as follows on the date of acquisition:

€ ‘000 Recognised at acquisition Carrying amount

Intangible assets 1,335 110

Property, plant and equipment 13,635 12,635

Shares in associated companies and investments 1,570 1,570

Inventories 22,366 22,366

Deferred taxes 0 645

Trade receivables 13,630 13,630

Cash and cash equivalents 555 555

Other assets 3,530 3,530

56,621 55,041

Financial liabilities 25,146 25,146

Deferred taxes 1,406 169

Trade liabilities 3,118 3,118

Accrued liabilities 10,619 10,619

Other liabilities 2,707 2,707

Minority interests 813 813

43,809 42,572

Fair value of net assets 12,812 12,469

Income from reversal of negative goodwill (2,834)

Acquisition costs 9,978

Owing to their initial consolidation at the end of the finan-

cial year, the two companies and their subsidiaries did 

not contribute to consolidated sales. The income from the 

reversal of the negative goodwill added € 2.8 million to 

consolidated net income. Had the acquisition taken place 

at the beginning of the financial year, consolidated sales 

would have come to € 1,663 million with consolidated net 

income amounting to € 57.9 million. 

The associated French company Usine Gallia S.A. 

based in Saint Jean de Bournay was sold in the 2005 

financial year. The gain on disposal was € 70k.
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N o t e s  t o  t h e  c o n s o l i d a t e d  i n c o m e  s t a t e m e n t

[ 8 ]    Income t a xes

Taxes on income including deferred taxes break down as 

follows for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004:

 

For German companies, the deferred taxes at 31 December 

2005 are, as in the previous year, calculated using a cor-

porate tax rate of 25 percent for all temporary differences. 

Again included was a solidarity surcharge of 5.5 percent 

(previous year: 5.5 percent) on the corporate tax payable 

plus an average trade tax rate of 14.4 percent (previous 

year: 14.4 percent). Including the impact of the solidarity 

surcharge and the trade tax, the tax rate applied to calculate 

deferred taxes for German companies thus amounts to 

37.0 percent (previous year: 37.0 percent). For non-German 

companies the country-specific, respective tax rates have 

been used.

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Income from associated companies 982 1,130

Expenses from 

associated companies (320) (98)

662 1,032

[  7  ]    Income /e x p e ns es f r om ass o c iates 

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Current taxes 24,692 9,104

Deferred taxes 8,045 4,556

Income taxes 32,737 13,660

Changes in foreign tax rates in the financial year are also 

recorded with an effect on earnings and taken into ac-

count in the tax reconciliation.

The following table reconciles the statutory income 

tax expense to the effective income taxes presented 

in the financial statements for the respective financial 

year. For calculating the statutory income tax expense 

we multiplied the amount of pre-tax earnings by the 

combined income tax rate of 26.4 percent (previous year: 

26.4 percent) applicable to the financial year. The com-

bined income tax rate includes the corporate tax rate of 

25 percent (previous year: 25 percent) and the solidarity 

surcharge of 5.5 percent in each case.

2005 2004
€ ‘000 in % € ‘000 in %

Expected corporate tax expense 

incl. solidarity surcharge (2005: 26.4 %; 2004: 26.4 %)

 

23,429

 

26.4

 

10,902

 

26.4

German trade income taxes net of corporate tax benefit 7,070 8.0 685 1.7

Foreign tax rate differentials (2,457) (2.8) (3,122) (7.6)

Changes in tax rate/tax law 3,451 3.9 0 0

Change in valuation allowances (1,737) (2.0) 258 0.6

Non-deductible goodwill amortisation 0 0 1,356 3.3

Tax effects on: 

- Results from companies accounted for under

 the equity method 

- Changes in taxable income without impact on con- 

 solidated net income and non-deductible operating  

 expenses

(171)

3,254

(0.2)

3.7

(272)

3,493

(0.7)

8.5

Other (102) (0.1) 360 0.9

Effective income taxes/tax rate 32,737 36.9 13,660 33.0

In fiscal 2005, the Group recorded income tax benefit 

of € 245k (previous year: income tax expense of  

€ 1,771k) within accumulated other comprehensive 

income.
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The deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 

derived from the different amounts recorded under the fol-

lowing balance sheet items:

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Inventories 1,530 1,190

Accounts receivable and other assets 531 5,066

Property, plant and equipment 5,247 2,698

Intangible assets 2,733 3,265

Financial assets 240 11

Tax loss carryforwards 29,873 36,448

Other accrued liabilities 9,177 5,887

Pension provisions 1,842 1,597

Total 51,173 56,162

Valuation allowance (22,672) (24,479)

Deferred tax assets 28,501 31,683

Inventories 7,298 3,898

Accounts receivable and other assets 903 3,208

Property, plant and equipment 12,036 11,138

Intangible assets 8,417 8,506

Financial assets 2,970 430

Other accrued liabilities 2,950 3,204

Pension provisions 289 56

Deferred tax liabilities 34,863 30,440

Net deferred tax assets/tax liabilities (6,362) 1,243

The net amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities is 

derived as follows:

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Deferred tax assets 37,197 42,186

Valuation allowance (22,672) (24,479)

Net deferred tax assets 14,525 17,707

Deferred tax liabilities 20,887 16,464

Balance of  

deferred tax assets and liabilities (6,362) 1,243

Deferred taxes on outside basis differences were not 

recognised because reversal of differences arising for 

example from dividend payments can be managed and 

no material tax effects are to be expected in the foresee-

able future.

On the balance sheet date, the Group had German 

corporate tax and foreign income tax loss carryforwards 

amounting to € 90 million, of which € 68 million may, 

based on legislation applicable on 31 December 2005, be 

carried forward indefinitely and in unlimited amounts. In 

Germany, however, losses carried forward from the 2004 

tax-assessment year may be deducted from income up to 

€ 1 million, and any remaining amount of income may be 

offset by loss carryforwards by up to 60 percent.

 The remaining tax loss carryforwards will expire by 

2024 at the latest if not utilised. The Group’s German trade 

tax loss carryforwards and foreign loss carryforwards for 

allowable income taxes amounted to € 32 million on the 

balance sheet date, of which, based on legislation appli-

cable on 31 December 2005, € 27 million may be carried 

forward indefinitely and in unlimited amounts and € 5 

million will expire by 2023 at the latest if not utilised.

The change in valuation allowance on deferred  

tax assets amounted to negative € 1,737k in the past 

financial year (previous year: € 258k) including € 4,438k 

(previous year: € 9,698k) in writedowns on deferred on 

tax assets relating mainly to tax loss carryforwards. In 

general, deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it 

is considered more likely than not that such benefits will 

be realised in future years. In determining the valuation 

allowance all factors including legal factors and informa-

tion available were taken into account. On the other hand, 

the figure included a negative amount of € 6,175k (previ-

ous year: negative € 9,440k) relating to the tax benefit 

from the tax loss carryforwards utilised in the financial 

year under report and write-ups on deferred tax assets 

written down in previous years. In the financial year, 

corporate tax loss carryforwards amounting to € 28,471k 

(previous year: € 1,729k) and trade tax loss carryforwards 

amounting to € 19,463k (previous year: € 1,632k) were uti-

lised. Foreign income tax loss carryforwards amounting to 

€ 10,228k (previous year: € 8,871k) and foreign trade tax 

loss carryforwards for allowable income taxes amounting 

to € 869k (previous year: € 6,278k) were utilised. 
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N o t e s  t o  t h e  b a l a n c e  s h e e t

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. On the balance 

sheet date, trade receivables were reduced by factoring 

amounting to € 47,280k (previous year: € 39,132k). Expen-

ses still to be incurred in connection with factoring are of 

minor significance. 

 

The trade receivables include receivables amounting to 

€ 6,176k (previous year: € 4,314k) arising from develop-

ment orders accounted for in accordance with IAS 11. The 

sales for the financial year include revenue amounting to 

€ 2,652k from such development orders. The expenses 

recognised correspond to the sales.

 Other assets include value added tax receivables 

amounting to € 20,738k (previous year: € 10,395k). In ad-

dition, this item includes mainly supplier rebates receiv-

able and other tax receivables. 

[  9  ]    Acco unt s r e cei vab l e and othe r ass e t s

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Trade receivables 218,136 181,508

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (9,064) (6,363)

209,072 175,145

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Trade receivables 209,072 175,145

Advance payments 3,276 960

Accounts receivable  

from associated companies 61 54

Receivables from income taxes 4,193 4,583

Other assets 35,700 19,428

Prepaid expenses 4,745 2,923

257,047 203,093

The amount of impairment of inventories, recognised 

as expense, is € 6,056k (previous year: € 3,569k). This 

expense is included in the cost of sales. 

The inventory recognised as expense in the cost of 

sales (inventory used) in the financial year amounted to  

€ 848,710k (previous year: € 661,098k).

[  11 ]    Inve ntor ies

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Raw materials and 

manufacturing supplies 101,934 85,494

Work in progress 50,324 36,738

Finished products and merchandise 91,826 59,193

244,084 181,425

[  10 ]    A ss e t s  he l d f or  s al e

The assets held for sale involve land and buildings in the 

Wire & Cable Division. Classification in the previous year of 

the building at the Italian facility of the Wire & Cable Divi-

sion as held for sale was reversed because it was not pos-

sible, despite active effort to sell, to dispose of the building 

in more than a year. It is therefore included under the asset 

item of land, leasehold rights and buildings. 
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Under property, plant and equipment, classification in 

the previous year of a building at the Italian facility of the 

Wire & Cable Division as held for sale in the amount of 

€ 2,731k was reversed, with the building having in the 

past financial year been classified for continued use again. 

The write-downs on property, plant and equipment in-

clude accumulated depreciation in the amount of € 490k 

for the period in which the building was classified as held 

for sale. Furthermore, a write-up was made in the same 

amount on the net sales value less cost to sell, which 

reverses an earlier write-down for impairment. In the Wir-

ing Systems Division, a write-up in the amount of

€ 685k was made on plant and machinery. The amount 

of the write-up was based on the value in use, which has 

risen because of better prospects for earnings.

The write-downs also include impairment charges 

amounting to € 1,597k, applying in equal halves to the 

Wire & Cable Division and the Wiring Systems Division, 

and both cases concerning plant and machinery as well 

as buildings. The depreciation requirement was in both 

instances based on value in use, which was down in the 

case of the Wire & Cable Division’s assets because of their 

planned retirement and scrapping, and in the case of the 

Wiring Systems Division because of a fall in income.

All write-downs and write-ups are included in the 

cost of sales.

The land and building classified as held for sale dur-

ing the financial year are included in disposals at a net 

carrying amount of € 486k. They are recognised under 

other current assets. Classification as held for sale did not 

result in any impairment loss.

Interest amounting to € 53k (previous year: € 148k) 

was capitalised in the financial year. The underlying 

interest rates conform to the local circumstances of the 

respective country.

[  12 ]    Pr op e r t y,  p lant and e qui p me nt



N o te s  to  t h e  b a l a n ce  sh e e t N o te s 81

Property, plant and equipment

€ ‘000

Land,

leasehold rights

and buildings

Technical equipment, 

plant and machinery

Other equipment, 

factory and 

other equipment

Advance payments 

and assets under

construction Total

Net book value on January 1, 2004 102,938 119,247 29,711 38,777 290,673

Acquisition costs on January 1, 2004 171,880 334,094 103,789 38,870 648,633

Currency differences 1,215 (1,384) 590 231 652

Additions 9,823 33,611 12,879 16,283 72,596

Additions due to changes in scope of consolidation 429 706 566 0 1,701

Disposals 2,413 23,907 11,174 1,534 39,028

Transfers 18,858 19,497 2,348 (40,703) 0

December 31, 2004 199,792 362,617 108,998 13,147 684,554

Accumulated depreciation on January 1, 2004 68,942 214,847 74,078 93 357,960

Currency differences (178) (1,138) 542 0 (774)

Additions 6,049 30,842 11,684 63 48,638

Additions due to changes in scope of consolidation 298 461 289 0 1,048

Reversal 59 0 59 0 118

Disposals 964 19,890 9,031 0 29,885

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

December 31, 2004 74,088 225,122 77,503 156 376,869

Net book value on December 31, 2004 125,704 137,495 31,495 12,991 307,685

Acquisition costs on January 1, 2005 199,792 362,617 108,998 13,147 684,554

Currency differences 4,696 12,778 1,616 367 19,457

Additions 4,664 24,408 12,334 17,159 58,565

Additions due to changes in scope of consolidation 7,312 5,372 1,630 72 14,386

Re-classification of assets held for sale 3,860 2,020 70 0 5,950

Disposals 3,301 8,808 4,389 1,323 17,821

Transfers 6,002 6,726 3,781 (16,509) 0

December 31, 2005 223,025 405,113 124,040 12,913 765,091

Accumulated depreciation on January 1, 2005 74,088 225,122 77,503 156 376,869

Currency differences 894 5,951 1,022 16 7,883

Additions 7,278 32,603 11,807 53 51,741

Additions due to changes in scope of consolidation 0 0 0 0 0

Re-classification of assets held for sale 1,619 2,020 70 0 3,709

Reversal 192 978 5 0 1,175

Disposals 2,251 4,528 3,563 92 10,434

Transfers 0 0 0 0 0

December 31, 2005 81,436 260,190 86,834 133 428,593

Net book value on December 31, 2005 141,589 144,923 37,206 12,780 336,498
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€ ‘000

Concessions,

trademarks and 

similar rights Development costs

Advance

payments Total

Net book value on January 1, 2004 10,915 1,581 416 12,912

Acquisition costs on January 1, 2004 22,543 1,680 416 24,639

Currency differences 71 (180) 2 (107)

Additions 3,078 4,099 310 7,487

Additions due to changes in scope of consolidation 1,981 0 0 1,981

Disposals 1,374 0 0 1,374

Transfers 595 0 (595) 0

December 31, 2004 26,894 5,599 133 32,626

Accumulated amortization on January 1, 2004 11,628 99 0 11,727

Currency differences 30 (16) 0 14

Additions 4,369 171 0 4,540

Additions due to changes in scope of consolidation 275 0 0 275

Disposals 1,348 0 0 1,348

Transfers 0 0 0 0

December 31, 2004 14,954 254 0 15,208

Net book value on December 31, 2004 11,940 5,345 133 17,418

Acquisition costs on January 1, 2005 26,894 5,599 133 32,626

Currency differences 404 185 1 590

Additions 3,349 2,730 400 6,479

Additions due to changes in scope of consolidation 2,473 0 0 2,473

Disposals 483 496 0 979

Transfers 483 0 (483) 0

December 31, 2005 33,120 8,018 51 41,189

Accumulated amortization on January 1, 2005 14,954 254 0 15,208

Currency differences 193 14 0 207

Additions 5,349 822 0 6,171

Reversal 0 0 0 0

Disposals 247 166 0 413

Transfers 0 0 0 0

December 31, 2005 20,249 924 0 21,173

Net book value on December 31, 2005 12,871 7,094 51 20,016

[  13 ]    Int angi b l e A ss e t s

Amortisation of intangible assets is included in the cost 

of sales in the amount of € 2,457k, in selling costs in the 

amount of € 465k, in general administrative costs in the 

amount of € 3,152k as well as in research and develop-

ment costs in the amount of € 97k.
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[  14 ]    G o o d w il l

Goodwill in the financial year is summarised as follows:

The additions pertain to the subsidiaries acquired during 

the financial year in the amount of € 2,875k and to adjust-

ment by € 341k to the purchase price for Klink+Oechsle 

GmbH acquired in the previous year in the Wire & Cable 

Division (cf. Note [ 6 ]).

 The goodwill shown on 31 December 2005 breaks 

down to € 38,131k for the Wire & Cable Division and  

€ 1,850k for the Wiring Systems Division. 

The annual test for impairment of goodwill found no 

need for write-down. For the purpose of the impairment 

test, goodwill was allocated in the amounts of € 13.2 mil-

lion, € 6.2 million and € 6.9 million to three cash-generat-

ing units in the Special Cables business as well as in the 

amount of € 4.1 million to a cash-generating unit in the 

Automotive and Standard Cables business. 

In all the goodwill impairment tests the recoverable 

amount was based on the value in use. The underlying 

cash flow forecasts are in each based on the five-year 

business planning as approved by the Management 

Board. The cash flow planning takes into account price 

agreements based on experience and anticipated ef-

ficiency enhancements as well as sales growth based on 

the strategic outlook. Cash flows after the five-year period 

were in each case extrapolated by applying a zero growth 

rate. The pre-tax discount rates applied ranged from 9.2 % 

to 15.7 %.

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Acquisition costs on January 1 41,907 34,119

Accumulated allowance 5,142 0

Carrying amount January 1 36,765 34,119

Additions 3,216 7,788

Impairment 0 (5,142)

Acquisition costs on December 31 45,123 41,907

Accumulated impairment December 31 5,142 5,142

Carrying amount 12/31/2005 39,981 36,765

[  15 ]    Inves tme nt s in ass o c iates

There was a year-on-year increase in the carrying  

amount of investments in associates from € 1,310k  

to € 3,343k, due on the one hand to the positive result  

of valuation under the equity method amounting to  

€ 662k and, on the other hand, to the newly formed 

joint ventures, L & S Transportation Systems GmbH and 

advintec GmbH, as well as Netoptic GmbH received via 

acquisition of Kerpen GmbH & Co. KG.

The Group holds 70 percent of the share capital in  

L & S Transportation Systems GmbH. Given that it was 

contractually agreed to jointly manage the company, it 

has not been fully consolidated but is instead accounted 

for under the equity method. There was on the bal-

ance sheet date a commitment to pay share capital still 

outstanding in the amount of € 700k, which was paid in 

January 2006. 

The following overview shows the assets and liabili-

ties of the associates:

The sales of the associates amount to a total of € 18,339k 

(previous year: € 10,485k) with net income totalling  

€ 1,533k (previous year: € 979k).

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Current assets 9,792 3,893

Non-current assets 3,357 1,112

Current liabilities 2,631 2,032

Non-current liabilities 3,541 215

Equity 6,977 2,758

Total assets 13,149 5,005
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[  16 ]    O the r i nves tme nt s

The other investments amounting to € 10,028k (previ-

ous year: € 4,390k) cover those securities that were to 

be classified as “available for sale investments” and were 

recorded at their fair value on the balance sheet date. 

The fair value was derived from the market value of the 

shares. The unrealised gains in the financial year of € 432k 

were recognised under accumulated other comprehensive 

income within equity. The residual amount of € 916k (pre-

vious year: zero) concerns a loan granted to one associate.

[  17 ]    Other (non-current) assets

This item comprises mainly the prepaid pension cost 

amounting to € 11,179k (previous year: € 11,468k).

 

[  18 ]    F i nanc ial  l iabi l i t ies

New non-current bank loans amounting to € 29.0 mil-

lion were taken on in fiscal 2005; € 21.0 million was refi-

nanced. Scheduled repayment of non-current loans  

to banks amounted to € 21.8 million. The short-term  

proportion of long-term loans was up by € 167k on the 

previous year. In total, short-term financial liabilities to 

banks are up by € 12.5 million, due mainly to initial con-

solidation of the Kerpen companies. The banks had secu-

rities for the financial liabilities of the Kerpen companies 

on the balance sheet date. The security agreements were 

annulled in January 2006 following repayment of the 

underlying liabilities. Scheduled repayments were made 

on loans still secured by mortgages during the year. They 

were valued at € 1.9 million at the end of the year (down 

from € 4.5 million in the previous year).

To ensure liquidity, there exist short-term credit lines 

amounting to € 273.7 million with terms up to 12 months. 

Short-term credit lines in the amount of € 30.3 million 

were used on the balance sheet date. Together with the 

short-term proportion of long-term loans, short-term  

liabilities to banks amounted to € 52.2 million.

In addition, the current financial liabilities include 

the bearer bond (Inhabersammelschuldverschreibung) 

amounting to € 75 million issued in November 1999 with 

a term of seven years because it is due to be repaid in 

November 2006. This bearer bond is traded on the bond 

market. The nominal interest rate is 6.125 percent.
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€ ‘000 2005 2005 2004 2004

Current financial liabilities

Bonds 74,947 0

Liabilities to banks 52,276 39,750

Liabilities of bills on exchange 3,264 2,542

Other financial liabilities 9,488 0

139,975 42,292

Long-term loans

Bonds 0 74,885

Liabilities to banks 141,624 134,617

141,624 209,502

Total financial liabilities

of which secured 

by mortgages

of which secured 

by mortgages

Bonds 74,947 74,885

Liabilities to banks 193,900 1,941 174,367 4,469

Liabilities of bills on exchange 3,264 2,542

Other financial liabilities 9,488 0

281,599 1,941 251,794 4,469

The table below explains details of the financial liabilities 

outstanding on the balance sheet date. The weighted in-

terest rate reflects the situation on the balance sheet date.

Currency Interest-rate 

agreement

Weighted 

interest rate

Nominal 

volume 

€ ‘000

Maturity Carrying

amount 

€ ‘000
< 1 year 

€ ‘000

1 – 5 years 

€ ‘000

> 5 years 

€ ‘000

EUR Variabel 4.19 % 3,743 3,743 3,743

EUR Variabel 0.00 % 9,488 9,488 9,488

CNY Variabel 5.22 % 15,651 15,651 15,651

USD Variabel 5.14 % 81 81 81

GBP Variabel 5.41 % 12 12 12

EUR Fix 5.56 % 155,699 100,475 46,264 8,646 155,385

EUR Fix

(derivative 

contracts)

4.86 % 95,571 8,857 51,714 35,000 95,571

Other 1,668 1,668 1,668

281,913 139,975 97,978 43,646 281,599
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The effective interest rates differ only marginally from 

the nominal interest rates because of the agreed interest 

computation rates. The financial liabilities shown in the 

table under the line item “EUR –Fix (derivative contracts)” 

were transformed into fixed-interest liabilities by signing 

interest swaps and interest caps. These derivative con-

tracts have maturities of up to 7 years.

The long-term fixed-rate loans (“EUR Fix” table) were 

taken out at rates between 3.5 percent p.a. and 6.22 

percent p.a. The repayment agreements pertaining to the 

long-term liabilities to banks provide for repayment in up 

to 7 years.

[  19 ]    O the r c ur r e nt l iabi l i t ies

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. Other liabili-

ties include liabilities amounting to € 31,203k (previous 

year: € 25,205k) from the receipt of payment on receiva-

bles that were sold within factoring agreements. In addi-

tion, this item includes tax liabilities in the amount of  

€ 11,311k (previous year: € 5,911k) and liabilities con-

nected with social security amounting to € 9,114k (previ-

ous year: € 8,326k). 

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Trade liabilities 109,458 86,147

Advance payments received 359 141

Liabilities to associated companies 2,370 663

Income taxes payable 13,393 5,307

Other liabilities 71,374 56,654

Deferred income 49 64

197,003 148,976

[  20 ]    Pr ov is ions and acc r uals  (c ur r e nt)

The personnel-related accrued liabilities include mainly 

bonus payments and compensated absences as well as 

mandatory provisions for temporary retention of pay-

scale components not paid out pursuant to master remu-

neration agreements (Entgeltrahmentarifverträge).

The product warranties are determined on the basis 

of past experience, with goodwill concessions also taken 

into account. 

The accrued liabilities for purchasing and distribution 

consist mainly of deposits as well as outstanding commis-

sions and sales incentives. 

The other accrued liabilities comprise mainly provi-

sions for outstanding invoices. 

The restructuring provisions amounting to € 4,629k 

(previous year: € 3,032k) in the Wire & Cable Division 

involve mainly termination payments at the facility in 

Belgium and, in the Wiring Systems Division, termination 

payments at the facility in South Africa and the facility in 

Lilienthal, Germany as well as a lease no longer required 

in England.

Use of provisions comprises the amounts set aside in 

the previous year for termination payments at the Belgian 

facility of the Wire & Cable Division and at the facility in 

Lilienthal, Germany of both the Wire & Cable Division and 

the Wiring Systems Division.

The additions cover further termination payments 

at the Wire & Cable Division’s facility in Belgium and the 

Wiring Systems Division’s facility in South Africa as well 

as provision for contingent loss pertaining to the lease on 

the facility in England of the Wiring Systems Division.
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The changes in provisions are summarised as follows: 

Provisions

€ ‘000 01/01/2005

Addition 

to scope of 

consolidated 

financial 

statements Usage Dissolution Allocation

Allocation 

of interest

Currency 

differences 12/31/2005

Current  

provisions 

2005

Non-

current 

provisions 

2005

Current  

provisions 

2004

Non-

current 

provisions 

2004

Personnel-related 

provisions 32,759 4,720 19,856 2,060 26,265 340 322 42,490 26,985 15,505 21,487 11,271

Provisions for 

product warranties 3,930 610 1,888 406 2,033 0 47 4,326 4,326 0 3,930 0

Other provisions 

for purchasing and 

distribution 6,598 514 6,286 929 4,813 0 104 4,814 4,489 325 6,019 580

Restructuring provisions 3,032 0 1,888 463 3,898 0 50 4,629 2,313 2,316 3,032 0

Other provisions 22,741 1,773 8,586 1,978 22,050 432 373 36,805 21,408 15,397 11,781 10,960

Total 69,060 7,617 38,504 5,836 59,059 772 896 93,064 59,521 33,543 46,249 22,811

[  21 ]    Pe nsion p r ov is ions

A number of different pension plans exist in Germany. The 

former pension trust of Leonische Drahtwerke AG, which 

covered all employees, was closed to people joining the 

Company after 31 December 1981. The benefits of the 

pension trust were also divided. The pension trust is only 

used to pay current pension benefits to former beneficia-

ries whereas future beneficiaries are subject to a defined 

benefit plan. The pension benefit payments are based 

upon years of service and the salary of the last year of 

employment.

Restructuring expenses for the 2005 financial year 

amounted to € 12,404k (previous year: € 6,471k) and are 

included under other operating expenses. Apart from 

the provision for contingent loss pertaining to the lease 

in England, the additions to provisions cover mainly cur-

rent expenses for employee termination payments. The 

expenses break down to € 4,200k for the Wire & Cable 

Division and € 8,204k for the Wiring Systems Division.

Pension obligations of acquired German companies are 

generally based on eligible compensation levels and/or 

ranking within the Company hierarchy and years of ser-

vice, or on a fixed amount per year of service. All defined 

pension plans of acquired companies are closed. 

In Germany, LEONI grants defined benefits to most 

employees for the deferral of compensation. Amounts of 

deferred compensation earn interest at a rate of approx.  

6 percent per year. These benefits are covered by capital 

insurance. The reinsurance policies are qualifying insu-

rance policies and must therefore be recognised as plan 

assets.

In the United Kingdom, there exists a funded defined 

benefit plan for all employees of the company. Pension 

benefit payments are based upon the salary of the last 

year of employment as well as years of service and contri-

butions of the employees to the plan. 
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The development of the pension obligations and related 

plan assets are summarised as follows: 

 
Change in defined benefit obligations  in € ‘000 2005 2004

Defined benefit obligations at the beginning of the fiscal year 131,551 119,893

Service cost 2,550 2,657

Interest cost 7,220 6,715

Contributions by plan participants 1,743 1,675

Actuarial (gains) losses 15,345 5,642

Currency differences 2,859 (293)

Plan amendments/past service cost 5,245 0

Business combinations 3,568 0

Benefits paid (6,311) (4,738)

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the fiscal year 163,770 131,551

Change in plan assets  in € ‘000 2005 2004

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of fiscal year 84,307 76,132

Expected return on plan assets 6,586 6,129

Actuarial gains/(losses) 9,508 2,832

Currency differences 2,272 (250)

Contributions by the employer 3,487 1,384

Contributions by plan participants 1,743 1,675

Benefits paid (5,060) (3,595)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the fiscal year 102,843 84,307

Actual return on plan assets amounted to € 16,094k in the 

financial year (previous year: € 8,961k).

The tables below show the funded status that is the 

difference between the defined benefit obliagation and 

the plan assets at the end of the year, and the recorded 

amounts in the balance sheet:

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Funded status 

at the end of the fiscal year

(60,927) (47,244)

Unrecognized prior service cost 0 120

Unrecognized actuarial 

(gains)/losses 38,446 33,194

Net amount recognized (22,481) (13,930)

The prepaid benefit costs refer to the pensions as-

sets surplus to the obligations in England, whereas the 

amount shown as pension provision refers to obligations 

in Germany.

The defined benefit obligation at the end of the 

financial year breaks down into € 118,530k in funded obli-

gations and € 45,240k in unfunded obligations.

The assumptions for interest rates, rates of compen-

sation increase and the expected return on plan assets 

on which the calculation for defined benefit obligations is 

based were established for each country as a function of 

their respective economic conditions. The Group applied 

the following weighted average assumptions:

Weighted average assumptions 2005 2004

Discount rate 4.78 % 5.56 %

Rate of wage and salary increase 3.45 % 3.55 %

Rate of compensation increase 2.37 % 2.46 %

The (weighted average) assumptions made for calculating 

net periodic pension cost are shown in the table below.

Weighted average assumptions 2006 2005

Discount rate 4.78 % 5.56 %

Expected return on plan assets 7.30 % 7.78 %

Rate of wage and salary increase 3.45 % 3.55 %

Rate of compensation increase 2.37 % 2.46 %

The assumptions relating to the expected return on plan 

assets are based on detailed analyses taking into account 

both the actual past returns on long-term investment and 

the projected long-term returns on the target portfolio.

The valuation of pension obligation in Germany was 

based on the “Heubeck-Richttafeln 2005 G” mortality 

tables.

Breakdown of the amount car-

ried in the balance sheet     € ‘000 2005 2004

Prepaid benefit cost 11,179 11,468

Pension provision (33,660) (25,398)

Net amount recognized (22,481) (13,930)
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2005 2004

Service cost 2,550 2,657

Interest cost 7,220 6,715

Expected return on plan assets (6,586) (6,129)

Amortization of prior service cost 5,365 39

Amortization of actuarial 

(gains)/losses 1,513 1,419

Total expense from 

defined benefit obligations 10,062 4,701

The total expense is recognised in the income statement 

in the following items:

2005 2004

Cost of sales 1,162 1,315

General and administration expenses 8,182 2,671

Selling expenses 351 241

Research and development expenses 367 474

Total expense from 

defined benefit obligations 10,062 4,701

The plan assets comprise the assets of the defined con-

tribution plan in England and the qualifying insurance 

policies as well as the pension trust in Germany. The 

portfolio structure for the measurement dates of the past 

two financial year and the target portfolio structure are 

summarised in the following overview: 

Target 

asset 

allocation

Portfolio structure, actual

2005 2004

Equity securities 73.1 % 72.1 % 72.3 %

Debt securities 20.6 % 20.6 % 20.7 %

Other 6.3 % 7.3 % 7.0 %

100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %

The funding policy of the defined contribution plan in 

England is determined by the trustee in agreement with 

LEONI and based on adherence to set investment guide-

lines. The objective is to generate long-term income that 

exceeds the rate of inflation and compensation increases. 

The categories of fund investments comprise mainly na-

tional (in this case British) and international equities and, 

to a lesser extent, fixed-income securities. Potential risks 

are regularly identified for each category of investment, 

with necessary steps taken in terms of composition of the 

portfolio.

The plan assets do not include any shares or debt 

securities of LEONI Group companies or parties related to 

them.

The plan is funded on the basis of actuarial calcula-

tions taking the statutory minimum funding amounts 

into consideration. In addition, the Group made further 

discretionary contributions that amounted to € 3,302k 

in fiscal 2005 (previous year: € 1,222k). The contribution 

estimated for the next financial year is € 1,475k.

The plan assets in Germany include an amount of  

€ 1,312k that the pension trust provided LEONI AG as 

a loan, as well as qualifying insurance policies in the 

amount of € 5,169k.

Some non-German companies provide defined con-

tribution plans. Total expenditure on such contributions 

amounted to € 249k in the financial year (previous year:  

€ 538k).

The total expense for the defined benefit plans were as 

follows:

[  22 ]    O ther accrued l iabil it ies 

(non- current) 

  

This item includes mainly provision for partial retirement 

agreements, anniversary bonuses and litigation. Cf. also 

Note [ 20 ] in this regard.
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[  23 ]    Equit y

Shar e c apit al

The share capital in the amount of € 29,700,000, which 

corresponds to the share capital of LEONI AG, is divided 

into 29,700,000 no-par-value shares.

The annual general meeting of LEONI AG on 3 May 

2005 adopted the reclassification of the share capital by 

converting 9,900,000 registered shares with a notional 

stake in the share capital of € 3.00 each into 29,700,000 

registered shares with a notional stake in the share capital 

of € 1.00 each. The corresponding change to the Articles 

of Association was entered in the commercial register of 

the District Court of Nuremberg on 13 May 2005. The list-

ings for LEONI shares on the official markets of Frankfurt 

am Main (Prime Standard) and Munich were converted 

from the previous unit of 1 share = EUR 3.00 to 1 share = 

EUR 1.00 effective 1 June 2005.

Other Comprehensive Income   

€ ‘000 

2005 2004

Pre-tax amount Tax effect Net amount Pre-tax amount Tax effect Net amount

Foreign currency translation adjustments 16,065 (381) 15,684 121 167 288

Unrealized holding losses/gains on 

available-for-sale investments 432 0 432 (123) 0 (123)

Unrealized losses on 

derivatives hedging variability of cash flows (203) 136 (67) (4,129) 1,604 (2,525)

Other Comprehensive Income 16,294 (245) 16,049 (4,131) 1,771 (2,360)

D i v ide nds p ay me nt

A dividend of EUR 1.25 per share was declared and paid in 

the 2005 financial year. The total payout was € 12,375k. 

D i v ide nd p r op os al

The Management Board will propose to the annual share-

holders’ meeting to pay out from the fiscal 2005 distribut-

able profit of LEONI AG amounting to € 19,147,692.28 as 

determined under the German Commercial Code, a divi-

dend of € 16,929,000.00 and to carry the remainder of  

€ 2,218,692.28 forward. This corresponds to a dividend of 

€ 0.57 per share entitled to dividend. 

Author is e d c apit al

Based on a resolution passed at the annual sharehold-

ers’ meeting of 27 May 2003, the authorised capital of 

€ 9,900,000.00 was utilised in full in the previous year, 

meaning that no further authorised capital is available.

Addit ional  p aid - i n c apit al

The additional paid-in capital amounts to € 170,380,694.

St atutor y r es e r ve

The retained earnings include the statutory reserve of 

LEONI AG in the amount of € 1,091,608.17, which is not 

available for distribution. 

O the r comp r e he nsi ve income

The following table shows the changes in the compo-

nents of accumulated other comprehensive income net  

of tax effects: 
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[  24 ]   Conti nge nc ies and othe r ob l igations

Conti nge nt l iabi l i t ies

There were no material contingent liabilities on the bal-

ance sheet date.

Leas e ob l igations

The Group leases property, plant and equipment that do 

not qualify as finance leases under IFRS, and are therefore 

classified as operating leases. Leasing expenses amounted 

to € 7,877k in the financial year (previous year: € 6,760k). 

The future (undiscounted) minimum rental payments on 

non-cancellable operating leases are:

Fiscal years € ‘000

2006 8,864

2007 7,296

2008 5,196

2009 4,199

2010 3,904

as of 2011 4,125

Total 33,584

Lit igation and c lai ms

There are pending claims for damages in minor amounts, 

some of which are covered by insurance. The insurer is 

currently examining the cases. Appropriate amounts 

have been recognised with respect to these claims for da-

mages. Possible future liability for damages may arise in 

an amount usual for the field of business the Company is 

dealing in. There have not been any and there are current-

ly no pending lawsuits or court proceedings that might 

have a major impact on LEONI’s business situation.

[  25 ]    F i nanc ial  ins tr ume nt s and 

de r i vati ves

Inte r es t  r ate r isk s

The Group uses interest swaps and interest caps to avoid 

the risk of changes in interest rates. Derivative contracts 

(interest rate) are handled exclusively by LEONI AG. De-

rivative contracts (interest rate) hedge the risk of changes 

in interest rates on current and non-current borrowing 

requirements.

Apart from two interest swaps amounting to € 6.5 

million, the preconditions for hedge accounting are met 

on all derivative-hedging instruments. The resulting 

changes in market value, which amounted to negative 

€ 442k (previous year: negative € 4,341k) in the financial 

year, are reported in accumulated other comprehensive 

income. The positive amounts recognised in equity came 

to € 4.3 million in the financial year, and the negative 

amounts to € 4.7 million. No contract needed to be derec-

ognised with effect on income. 

The nominal volume of existing interest rate swaps 

on the balance sheet date is € 110.5 million (previous year: 

€ 107.8 million), while interest rate caps amount to € 18.0 

million (previous year: € 22.0 million). 

Weighted 

interest 

rate

Maturity  

up to

Nominal 

amount

in € ‘000 

Maturity

< 1 year 1 – 5 

years

> 5 years Total

EUR Interest 

rate swap

4.54 7 years 102,071 7,857 39,214 55,000 102,071

USD Interest 

rate swap

4.95 7 years 8,450 0 0 8,450 8,450

EUR Interest 

cap 4.94 3 years 18,000 4,000 14,000 0 18,000

Where the derivatives hedge the risk of changes in inter-

est rates on the long-term financial liabilities, the term 

is identical to that of the underlying loan. Furthermore, 

some of the derivatives also hedge variable debt. The 

agreed reference interest rates are the EURIBOR for 2 

months, 3 months and 6 months as well as the USD-Libor 

for 3 months. These derivative contracts (interest rate) 

have maturities of up to 7 years. We regard the counter-

party risk as being very small because derivative contracts 

were signed with first-rate national and international 

commercial banks.
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Cur r e nc y r isk s

In general business is conducted either in euros or in the 

local currency of the respective market. Furthermore, 

existing currency risks are attended centrally at the hold-

ing company LEONI AG. Hedging transactions are signed 

in line with the existing underlying transactions as well as 

the planned transactions. Selection of the hedging instru-

ment to be used is based on regular, in-depth analysis 

of the underlying transaction to be hedged. Most of the 

hedging transactions are in the US dollar, the pound 

sterling, Slovakian crown and Polish zloty. The objec-

tive is to limit the impact of exchange rate variation on 

net income. Apart from the actual hedging transactions, 

which are used to hedge against key risks, we primarily 

take advantage of the option of netting foreign currency 

items within the Group. As a further currency-hedging 

measure, we finance some of our foreign subsidiaries in 

their respective local currencies by way of refinancing in 

the corresponding currency.

On the balance sheet date, there were currency-

hedging transactions amounting to € 98.1 million (previ-

ous year: € 109.9 million), maturing within 30 days. The 

changes in market value of the foreign exchange transac-

tions as of the balance sheet date to be recorded in the 

income statement with an effect on earnings amounted 

to € 225.1k in the fiscal year (previous year: € 732.9k).

 All currency hedging transaction for which the condi-

tions for hedge accounting were met, were settled by the 

reporting date. The fair value changes arising from these 

transactions amounted to € 193k in the previous year. 

The positive amounts recognised in other comprehensive 

income came to € 1.1 million in the financial year, and  

the negative amounts to € 1.8 million. An amount of  

€ 708.2k was derecognised via the income statement.

In total, expenses of € 4,691.6k (previous year: ex-

penses of € 1,171.2k) from currency hedging transactions 

were recorded for the financial year affecting net income, 

offset by the corresponding effect on earnings from un-

derlying transactions.

The currency hedging transactions, as well as our 

interest transactions, were signed with first-rate com-

mercial banks. 

R isk s r e late d to r aw mate r ial  p r ices

Business within the Wire & Cable Division is sensitive to 

changes in raw materials prices, especially of copper, but 

also gold and silver. For this reason, purchase prices for 

gold, silver and especially copper are hedged by way of 

future transactions to cover the usual future procurement 

volume. Such commodity future transactions are signed 

within ordinary business activity and as part of purchas-

ing activity for required raw materials and therefore need 

not, in line with IAS 39, be accounted for as financial 

derivatives.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the financial 

instruments were as follows:

Non-derivative financial instruments

€ ‘000

12/31/2005  

Carrying amount

12/31/2005  

Fair value

12/31/2004  

Carrying amount

12/31/2004 

Fair value

Assets

 Cash and cash equivalents 114,110 114,110 91,228 91,228

Total equity and liabilities

 Bond 74,947 76,500 74,885 78,375

 Liabilities to banks 193,900 206,363 174,367 189,235

 Liabilities on bills of exchange 3,264 3,264 2,542 2,542
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Derivative financial instruments 

€ ‘000

12/31/2005  

Nominal 

amount

12/31/2005  

Carrying value

12/31/2005  

Fair value

12/31/2004  

Nominal 

amount

12/31/2004  

Carrying value

12/31/2004  

Fair value

Assets

 Currency contracts 46,629 429 429 55,814 879 879

 Forward exchange transactions USD 0 0 0 3,990 32 32

  GBP 35,641 415 415 48,830 836 836

  SKK 9,830 7 7 0 0 0

  PLN 0 0 0 2,994 11 11

  Other 1,158 7 7 0 0 0

 

 Derivative contracts (interest rate) 18,000 2 2 22,000 30 30

 Interest caps 18,000 2 2 22,000 30 30

Total equity and liabilities

 Currency contracts 51,491 204 204 54,084 150 150

 Forward exchange transactions SKK 35,187 118 118 46,432 44 44

  USD 5,290 37 37 0 0 0

  PLN 4,672 7 7 5,150 85 85

  GBP 5,823 8 8 2,301 21 21

  Other 519 34 34 201 0 0

 

 Derivative contracts (interest rate) 110,522 6,719 6,719 107,760 6,162 6,162

 Interest caps 110,522 6,719 6,719 107,760 6,162 6,162

The fair value of the bond corresponds to the market 

value at the respective yearend on the bond market. The 

carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents and of the 

short-term liabilities corresponds to the market values 

due to their maturities.

The fair value of the other financial instruments was 

determined on the basis of the market conditions at the 

balance sheet date. For the existing interest rate swaps 

this means that fair value was determined by discounting 

expected future cash flows. 



[  26 ]    S e g me nt r e p or t i ng

The segment reporting follows the internal organisational 

and reporting structure of the Group. Intersegment sales 

and revenues are generally recorded at values that ap-

proximate sales to third parties. 

W i r e & C ab l e

The segment covers development, manufacture and sale 

of cable, wires and tapes for cable production and electric 

as well as electronic components, of Lyonese wares for 

textiles, decorative goods and artistic works as well as 

cables and conductors especially for the automotive and 

electrical appliance industries, data and communications 

technology, the professional audio and video segment, 

medical equipment, automation technology as well as 

machinery and plant engineering. The products meet 

both German and international standards as well as cus-

tomer specifications. The conductive material most com-

monly used is copper, but the division also produces fiber 

optic cable based on both glass and polymer fiber.

W i r ing Sy s te ms

The activity of this segment is focused on the develop-

ment, production and sale of complete wiring systems 

and ready-to-install cable harnesses for passenger cars 

and commercial vehicles. In addition to conventional 

cable harnesses, the division also manufactures pre-

formed cable harnesses, plastic moulded components as 

well as ready-to-fit cable assemblies with connectors and 

fittings.

LEONI’s business operations are heavily dependent on 

the automotive industry, which accounts for more than 75 

percent of total sales. The details by segment for the 2005 

and 2004 financial years are as follows: 
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Segment information 

€ ‘000

Wire & Cable      Wiring Systems Consolidation/LEONI AG LEONI Group

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Sales 744,901 608,798 879,807 683,646 (76,735) (42,251) 1,547,973 1,250,193

./. Intersegment sales 76,333 41,718 402 533 (76,735) (42,251) – –

 

External Sales 668,568 567,080 879,405 683,113 – – 1,547,973 1,250,193

 domestic 219,031 186,924 482,538 340,942 0 0 701,569 527,866

 abroad 449,537 380,156 396,867 342,171 0 0 846,404 722,327

 abroad in % 67.2 67.0 45.1 50.1 54.7 57.8

Operating income 42,266 27,868 60,406 28,728 (505) (878) 102,167 55,718

Income/expenses 

from associated companies (306) (39) 968 1,071 0 0 662 1,032

EBIT 41,960 27,829 61,374 29,799 (505) (878) 102,829 56,750

 as a percentage of sales 5.6 4.6 7.0 4.4

 as a percentage of external sales 6.3 4.9 7.0 4.4 6.6 4.5

 Financial result and  

 other investment income (13,999) (15,416)

 Income before tax 88,830 41,334

 Income taxes (32,737) (13,660)

 Net income 56,093 27,674

Depreciation and amortisation 23,348 23,092 29,375 24,042 3,592 3,383 56,315 50,517

EBITDA 65,308 50,921 90,749 53,841 3,087 2,505 159,144 107,267

 as a percentage of sales 8.8 8.4 10.3 7.9

 as a percentage of external sales 9.8 9.0 10.3 7.9 10.3 8.6

Other non-cash segment expenses: 

Impairment losses 787 5,290 810 2,495 0 0 1,597 7,785

Segment assets 505,391 408,850 441,763 403,001 76,548 38,064 1,023,702 849,915

 Investments in associated compa- 

 nies (equity method) 1,173 108 2,170 1,202 0 0 3,343 1,310

Investment in property, plant and 

equipment as well as intangible assets 21,731 16,775 40,493 60,449 2,820 2,275 65,044 79,499

 

Segment provisions and accruals 211,827 158,459 172,181 165,134 (107,334) (110,864) 276,674 212,729

Average number of employees 5,920 5,193 25,980 21,044 145 139 32,045 26,376
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The segment EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) 

comprises operating earnings plus income from associ-

ated companies. The companies that were measured un-

der the equity method are mainly joint ventures in which 

LEONI exercises joint control; this is why the income from 

associated companies is included in EBIT and EBITDA.

Segment information by geographical 

regions € ‘000

Federal Republic 

of Germany EU excl. Germany Outside EU LEONI Group

2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

External sales

 Wire & Cable 219,031 186,924 214,270 144,792 235,267 235,364 668,568 567,080

 Wiring Systems 482,538 340,942 292,385 258,181 104,482 83,990 879,405 683,113

701,569 527,866 506,655 402,973 339,749 319,354 1,547,973 1,250,193

Segment assets 433,868 335,880 278,271 272,611 311,563 241,424 1,023,702 849,915

Investment in property, plant and 

equipment as well as intangible assets 16,256 9,095 20,555 29,231 28,233 41,173 65,044 79,499
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[  27 ]    St ate me nt of  c ash f l ows

Liquid funds comprise cash and cash equivalents. These 

include cash in hand, cheques and immediately dispos-

able bank deposits with an original maturity of up to 

three months.

Interest payments in the financial year amounted  

to € 17,739k (previous year: € 15,932k) and interest pay-

ments received totalled € 763k (previous year: € 871k). 

Payments for income taxes amounted to € 14,239k (previ-

ous year: € 9,319k). Dividend payments received amount-

ed to € 39k in the financial year (previous year: € 19k).

N o t e s  t o  t h e
s t a t e m e n t  o f  c a s h  f l o w s

[ 28 ]    E ar ni ng s p e r  shar e

The annual general meeting of LEONI AG on 3 May 2005 

adopted the reclassification of the share capital by con-

verting 9,900,000 registered shares with a notional stake 

in the share capital of € 3.00 each into 29,700,000 regis-

tered shares with a notional stake in the share capital of 

€ 1.00 each. The corresponding change to the Articles of 

Association was entered in the commercial register of the 

District Court of Nuremberg on 13 May 2005. The earn-

ings per share reported as well as the average number 

of shares outstanding were adjusted accordingly to the 

share split for all periods presented.

Basic earnings per share are calculated as follows:

O t h e r  d i s c l o s u r e s

2005 2004

Total amount

€ ‘000

Earnings per share  

Group interests 

€

Total amount 

€ ‘000

Earnings per share  

 Group interests 

€

Numerator:

Income before taxes 

attributable to the Group 88,947 2.99 41,080 1.68

Net income 

attributable to the Group 56,261 1.89 27,530 1.12

Denominator:

Weighted average number 

of shares outstanding 29,700,000 24,502,500

The number of 29,700,000 shares outstanding corre-

sponds to the number of shares issued. As in the previous 

year, there was no dilution effect in the financial year 

under report.

[  29 ]    Auditor ’s  p r of essional  f e es

The following expenses were recognised in the financial 

year for work performed by the auditors appointed to 

audit the financial statements and consolidated financial 

statements as at 31 December 2005: € 490k for the audit, 

€ 107k for other certification and appraisal services, € 158k 

for tax consulting services and € 65k for other services. 
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[  30 ]    Pe r s onne l  e x p e ns es and e mp l oye es

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Wages and salaries 270,590 234,513

Social-security contributions, expenses for 

pensions and retirement and fringe benefits 59,816 55,122

330,406 289,635

This item includes the following retirement benefit 

expenses:

2005

€ ‘000

2004

€ ‘000

10,062 5,239

Annual average number of employees:

2005 2004 Change

Salaried staff 4,425 3,431 + 29 %

Wage earners 27,620 22,945 + 40 %

32,045 26,376 + 38 %

The Group employed 32,638 people on the balance sheet 

date (previous year: 29,957), of which 28,940 worked 

outside Germany (previous year: 26,946).

[  31 ]    Shar e - b as e d comp e ns ation

The members of the Management Board received, in ad-

dition to fixed annual compensation and a performance-

related short-term component (profit share) measured 

against net income, a share-based long-term component 

with risk character (bonus). This bonus is computed based 

on the market performance of the LEONI AG share and 

EVA (economic value added). However, the amounts paid 

out annually have upper limits. Amounts exceeding this 

limit are carried forward to the next year. Realising it de-

pends on management’s performance in the future. The 

amounts carried forward expire upon departure from the 

Management Board. Provision is made pro-rata over the 

vesting period for the amounts carried forward.

Fifty percent of the bonus must be invested in LEONI 

shares, which are blocked for at least 50 months, within 

20 days of being paid.

[  32 ]    Tr ans ac tions w ith r e late d p ar t ies

Compensation of the Management Board is summarised 

as follows: 

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Benefits due in the short term 2,730 2,121

Post-employment benefits 4,027 122

Share-based compensation 800 0

7,557 2,243

The short-term benefits include a variable component of 

€ 1,750k (previous year: € 1,201k). The post-employment 

benefits involve additions to pension provisions. Due to 

plan amendments, which according to IAS 19 must be rec-

ognised as expense immediately upon vesting, the whole 

amount of the plan amendment was to be allocated to 

the provision in the year under report. 

There is provision for the pension obligations vis-à-vis 

former members of the Management Board and their 

surviving dependants in the amount of € 3,792k. Their 

receipts amounted to € 235k in the financial year (previ-

ous year: € 234k). 

Provided that the annual shareholders’ meeting ap-

proves the dividend proposal, the total compensation in 

the year under report of the Supervisory Board will be  

€ 1,170k (previous year: € 985k), of which the variable 

share of compensation is € 680k (previous year: € 961k).
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The table below shows the total amounts from transactions 

with associates and joint ventures:

€ ‘000

Fiscal year

Income from disposals 

to related parties

Purchases from 

related parties

Amounts due from 

related parties

Amounts due to

 related parties

Joint Ventures 2005

2004

282

0

4,123

4,003

916

0

2,195

615

Associated companies 2005

2004

131

0

0

0

0

0

176

0

One close relative of a board member is managing direc-

tor of a LEONI Group subsidiary and for this receives 

compensation on standard market terms.

There were no other transactions with related parties.

[  33 ]    D e c lar ation p e r t ai ni ng to the 

G e r man Cor p or ate G ove r nance Co de p ur su -

ant to § 161 of  the G e r man Pub l ic  Comp a -

nies Ac t  (Ak t G)

In December 2005, the Management Board and the 

Supervisory Board issued the updated declaration of 

conformity pursuant to § 161 of the German Public 

Companies Act and made this available to shareholders 

on a permanent basis by publishing it on the internet 

(www.leoni.com). The declaration of conformity is also 

included in the Corporate Governance report, which is 

published in the 2005 Annual Report.

Nuremberg, 28 February 2006

LEONI AG

The Management Board

Dr Klaus Probst  Dieter Bellé Uwe H. Lamann



100 N o t e s S co p e  o f  co ns o l i d a t i o n

I. Consolidated companies

Ownership 

in %

LEONI AG, Nuremberg

1. Wire & Cable Division

Federal Republic of Germany

LEONI Kabel Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Nuremberg 1) 100

Haarländer GmbH, Roth 100

KB Kabel Beteiligungs-GmbH, Nuremberg 100

Kerpen GmbH & Co. KG, Stolberg 1) 100

Kerpen Verwaltungs-GmbH, Stolberg 100

Klink+Oechsle GmbH, Ettlingen 100

LEONI Automotive Cables GmbH i.L., Brake 100

LEONI Cable Assemblies GmbH, Roth 100

LEONI Draht GmbH, Nuremberg 100

LEONI elocab GmbH, Georgensgmuend 100

LEONI Fiber Optics GmbH, Neuhaus-Schierschnitz 100

LEONI Kabel GmbH, Nuremberg 100

LEONI Prinz Fiber Optics GmbH, Stromberg 100

LEONI protec cable systems GmbH, Schmalkalden 100

LEONI Special Cables GmbH, Friesoythe 100

LEONI Spezialkabelvertrieb Süd GmbH,  

Georgensgmuend

100

neumatic Elektronik + Kabeltechnik GmbH & Co. KG,  

Ulm 1)

100

Other European countries

Ownership 

in %

CWA Immobilien N.V., Hasselt, Belgium 100

LEONI Automotive Cable Polska sp. z o.o.,  

Kobierzyce, Poland

100

LEONI Cable Assemblies (Belgium) N.V.,  

Hasselt, Belgium

100

LEONI Cable Slovakia spol. s.r.o., Stará Turá, Slovakia 100

LEONI CIA Cable Systems S.A.S., Chartres, France 100

LEONI Felisi S.r.l., Milan, Italy 100

LEONI Ireland Ltd., Birr, Ireland 100

LEONI Kabel Polska sp. z o.o., Kobierzyce, Poland 100

LEONI Kablo ve Teknolojileri Sanayi ve Ticaret 

Limited Sirketi, Mudanya, Turkey

95

LEONI Slowakia spol. s.r.o., Nová Dubnica, Slovakia 100

LEONI Special Cable Iberica S.A., Barcelona, Spain 82

LEONI Tailor-Made Cable UK Limited,  

Chesterfield, Derbyshire, UK

80

LEONI Temco Ltd.,  

Cinderford, Gloucestershire, UK

100

LEONI UK Limited, Stansted, Essex, UK 100

LKH LEONI Kábelgyár Hungaria Kft., Hatvan, Hungary 100

neumatic cz s.r.o., Turnov, Czech Republic 90

Representaciones Europeas Manich S.L.,  

Barcelona, Spain

100

Outside Europe

LEONI (Changzhou) Wire Co. Ltd., Changzhou, China 100

LEONI Wire Inc., Chicopee, Massachusetts, USA 2) 100

LEONI Wire (Changzhou) Co. Ltd., Changzhou, China 100

LEONI Elocab Ltd., Kitchener, Ontario, Canada 100

LEONI Cable Inc., Rochester, Michigan, USA 2) 100

LEONI Cable S.A. de C.V.,  

Cuauhtémoc, Chihuahua, Mexico 2)

100

LEONI Cable (Changzhou) Co. Ltd., Changzhou, China 100

LEONI (Changzhou) Electronics Co. Ltd.,  

Changzhou, China

100

LEONI Engineering Products & Services Inc.,  

Southfield, Michigan, USA 

100

LEONI Special Cables (Changzhou) Co. Ltd.,  

Changzhou, China

100

LEONI (Xiamen) Electronics Co. Ltd., Xiamen, China 100

Kerpen (S.E.A.) Pte. Ltd., Singapore 51

Kerpen (Thailand) Company Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand 60

Kerpen (M) Sdn. Bhd., Subang Jaya, Malaysia 100

S c o p e  o f  c o n s o l i d a t i o n
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2. Wiring Systems Division

Ownership 

in %

Federal Republic of Germany

LEONI Bordnetz-Systeme GmbH & Co. KG,  

Nuremberg 1)

100

LEONI Bordnetze Holding GmbH, Nuremberg 100

Leonische Drahtwerke Bordnetze GmbH & Co. KG, 

Lilienthal 1)

100

LEONI Automotive Leads GmbH, Brake 100

Other European countries

LEONI Autokabel Polska sp. z o.o.,  

Ostrzeszów, Poland

100

LEONI Autokabel Slowakia spol. s.r.o.,  

Trencin, Slovakia

100

LEONI Hungaria Kft., Eger, Hungary 100

Leonische Portugal Lda.,  

Lugar de Sao Martinho, Guimaraes, Portugal

100

LEONI Wiring Systems Arad S.R.L., Arad, Romania 100

LEONI Wiring Systems RO S.R.L., Bistrita, Romania 100

LEONI Wiring Systems UA GmbH, Stryj, Ukraine 100

LEONI Wiring Systems UA Mukachevo GmbH, 

Mukachevo, Ukraine

100

LEONI Wiring Systems U.K. Ltd.,  

Newcastle-under-Lyme, Staffordshire, UK

100

Outside Europe

LEONI Automotive do Brasil Ltda.,  

Itú, Saõ Paulo, Brazil 3)

100

LEONI Tunisie S.A., Messadine-Sousse, Tunisia 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Egypt S.A.E.,  

Nasr City, Cairo, Egypt

100

LEONI Wiring Systems Inc., Tucson, Arizona, USA 100

LEONI Wiring Systems Mexicana S.A. de C.V., 

Hermosillo, Mexico

100

LEONI Wiring Systems (Changchun) Co. Ltd., 

Changchun, China

75

LEONI Wiring Systems (Changzhou) Co. Ltd., 

Changzhou, China

100

LEONI Wiring Systems (East London) (Pty.) Ltd.,  

East London, South Africa

100

LEONI Wiring Systems (Liuzhou) Co. Ltd.,  

Liuzhou, China

70 1)  Companies that make use of the exemption under  

 § 264b of the German Commercial Code.
2)  These companies are legally part of the Wiring Systems Division.
3)  The cable segment of this company operates as a business  

 unit of the Wire & Cable Division.

II. Associated companies

Ownership 

in %

1. Wire & Cable Division

advintec GmbH, Laatzen 50

L & S Transportation Systems GmbH, Röttenbach 70

LEONI Robokeep S.A., Les Mureaux, France 49

Netoptic GmbH, Fichtenau 30

2. Wiring Systems Division

Intedis GmbH & Co. KG, Wuerzburg 50

Intedis Verwaltungs-GmbH, Wuerzburg 50
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We have issued the following opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements and the group management report:

“We have audited the consolidated financial state-

ments prepared by LEONI AG, Nuremberg, comprising 

the income statement, the cash flow statement, the 

balance sheet, the statement of changes in equity and 

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 

together with the group management report for the 

fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2005. The 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

and the group management report in accordance with 

IFRS as adopted by the EU, and the additional require-

ments of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a 

(1) HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial 

Code] are the responsibility of the Company’s manage-

ment. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

the consolidated financial statements and the group 

management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB 

and German generally accepted standards for the audit 

of financial statements promulgated by the Institut 

der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in 

Germany] (IDW) as well as the International Standards 

on Auditing (ISA). Those standards require that we 

plan and perform the audit such that misstatements 

materially affecting the presentation of the net as-

sets, financial position and results of operations in the 

consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

the applicable financial reporting framework and in the 

group management report are detected with reasona-

ble assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and 

the economic and legal environment of the Group and 

expectations as to possible misstatements are taken 

into account in the determination of audit procedures. 

The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal 

control system and the evidence supporting the disclo-

sures in the consolidated financial statements and the 

group management report are examined primarily on a 

test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit 

includes assessing the annual financial statements of 

the entities to be included in consolidation, the deter-

mination of entities to be included in consolidation, 

the accounting and consolidation principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well 

as evaluating the overall presentation of the consoli-

dated financial statements and the group management 

report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 

basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, 

the consolidated financial statements comply with 

IFRS as adopted by the EU, the additional requirements 

of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) 

HGB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, 

financial position and results of operations of the Group 

in accordance with these requirements. The group 

management report is consistent with the consolidated 

financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable 

view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the 

opportunities and risks of future development.”

Nuremberg, February 28, 2006

Ernst & Young AG

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
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A d d i t i o n a l  i n f o r m a t i o n

LEO NI AG    Income s t ate me nt

€ ‘000   01/01 to 12/31 2005 2004

 1.  Other operating income 32,256 27,910

 2. Personnel expenditure:

  a) wages and salaries 12,181 10,169

  b) social security contributions and expenditure for retirement benefits and support payments 6,236 2,541

(18,417) (12,710)

 3.  Amortisation of intangible investment assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment (2,956) (2,636)

 4.  Other operating expenses (24,315) (22,613)

 5.  Income from investments 47,574 25,993

 6.  Income from financial loans 17,702 13,408

 7.  Other interest and similar income 7,899 6,143

 8.  Writedowns on investments (3,200) (167)

 9.  Interest and similar expenses (14,534) (14,927)

 10.  Income before taxes 42,009 20,401

 11.  Income taxes (4,312) 6

 12.  Other taxes (68) (59)

 13.  Net income 37,629 20,348

 14.  Earnings brought forward from the previous year 319 245

 15.  Transfer to other retained earnings (18,800) (7,900)

 16.  Distributable profit 19,148 12,693

€ ‘000 2005 2004

Assets Intangible assets 1,943 2,641

Property, plant and equipment 5,530 5,430

Shares in affiliated companies 133,850 133,876

Loans to affiliated companies 261,611 245,673

Investments 395,461 379,549

Fixed assets 402,934 387,620

Accounts receivable and other assets 216,133 194,452

Cash and cash equivalents 106,527 84,462

Current assets 322,660 278,914

Deferred income 365 300

Total assets 725,959 666,834

Equity and liabilities Equity 319,885 294,631

Pension plans and similar obligations 17,232 13,370

Tax provisions 2,228 0

Other provisions and accruals 14,523 11,588

Provisions and accruals 33,983 24,958

Debt 237,425 208,952

Other liabilities 134,666 138,293

Equity and liabilities 725,959 666,834

LEO NI AG    B alance she e t

H G B 

H G B 
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Distributable profit for fiscal 2005 determined

under the German Commercial Code (HGB)

amounts to  € 19,147,692.28

We propose to pay a dividend from this 

distributable profit of  € 0.57 per share,

equal to a payout of  € 16,929,000.00

and to carry the remainder of  € 2,218,692.28

forward. 

Nuremberg, February 2006 

LEONI AG

The Management Board
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as of 12/31/2005

The most impor t ant companies of  the LEONI Group

Wire & Cable

Germany:

LEONI Kabel Holding GmbH & Co. KG

LEONI Draht GmbH 

 Haarländer GmbH

LEONI Kabel GmbH 

LEONI Special Cables GmbH 

LEONI Protec Cable Systems GmbH 

LEONI elocab GmbH 

LEONI Fiber Optics GmbH

LEONI Cable Assemblies GmbH

Klink + Oechsle GmbH

Kerpen GmbH & Co. KG

neumatic Elektronik + Kabeltechnik 

 GmbH & Co. KG

advintec GmbH

L & S Transportation Systems GmbH

 

Abroad:

LEONI Temco Ltd., United Kingdom

LEONI UK Ltd., United Kingdom

LEONI Ireland Ltd., Ireland

LEONI Cable Assemblies (Belgium) N.V.,   

 Belgium 

LEONI CIA Cable Systems S.A.,   

 France

LEONI Felisi S.r.l., Italy

LEONI Special Cables Iberica S.A.,   

 Spain

Representaciones Europeas Manich S.L.,  

 Spain

LEONI Slowakia spol.s.r.o., Slovakia

LEONI Cable Slovakia s.r.o., Slovakia

neumatic cz s.r.o., Czech Republic

LEONI Kabel Polska sp.z.o.o., Poland

LEONI Automotive Cable Polska sp.z.o.o.,  

 Poland

LKH LEONI Kábelgyár Hungaria Kft.,  

 Hungary

LEONI Kablo ve Teknolojileri Sanayi  

 ve Ticaret Limited Sirteki, Turkey

LEONI Wire Inc., USA

LEONI Cable Inc., USA

LEONI Cable S.A. de C.V., Mexico

LEONI Wire (Changzhou)  

 Co. Ltd., China

LEONI (Xiamen) Electronics   

 Co. Ltd., China

LEONI Cable (Changzhou)  

 Co. Ltd., China

LEONI Special Cables (Changzhou)  

 Co. Ltd., China

LEONI Elocab Ltd., Canada

Wiring Systems

Germany:

LEONI Bordnetz-Systeme GmbH & Co. KG

LEONI Automotive Leads GmbH

Intedis GmbH & Co. KG

Abroad:

LEONI Wiring Systems U.K. Ltd., 

 United Kingdom

Leonische Portugal Lda., Portugal

LEONI Autokabel Slowakia spol.s.r.o., 

 Slovakia

LEONI Autokabel Polska sp.z.o.o., 

 Poland

LEONI Wiring Systems Arad s.r.l., 

 Rumania

LEONI Wiring Systems RO s.r.l.,   

 Rumania

LEONI Hungaria Kft., Hungary

LEONI Wiring Systems UA (GmbH),  

 Ukraine  

LEONI Tunisie S.A., Tunesia

LEONI Wiring Systems Egypt 

 S.A.E., Egypt

LEONI Wiring Systems 

 (East London) (Pty.) Ltd.,  

 South Africa

LEONI Wiring Systems Inc., USA

LEONI Wiring Systems Mexicana   

 S.A. de C.V., Mexico

LEONI Automotive do Brasil Ltda.,  

 Brazil 

LEONI Wiring Systems (Changzhou)  

 Co. Ltd., China

LEONI Wiring Systems (Changchun)  

 Co. Ltd., China

LEONI Wiring Systems (Liuzhou)   

 Co. Ltd., China



Key dates

1s t Quar ter Repor t

May 2, 2006

2 n d Quar ter Repor t

August 3, 2006

3 r d Quar ter Repor t

November 2, 2006

Prel iminar y Result s 20 06

Press release mid February 2007

Investor Relations

Cont ac t:

Susanne Kertz

Phone  +49 (0)911-2023-274  

Fax  +49 (0)911-2023-209  

E-mail invest@leoni.com

Balance Sheet Press Conference

March 22, 2006, 10:00 hours

Nuremberg Press Club

Analyst s Meeting

March 23, 2006, 11:00 hours 

Auditorium, Commerzbank AG,

Grosse Gallusstrasse 19, Frankfurt

Annual General  Meeting 20 06

May 3, 2006, 10:00 hours

CCN Congress Center, Hall “Brüssel”,

Messe Nuremberg



Marienstrasse 7 

90402 Nuremberg

Germany

Phone  +49 (0)911-2023-201 

Fax  +49 (0)911-2023-231 

E-mail info@leoni.com 

www.leoni.com

LEONI AG
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